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Introduction

No Influence Penetrates Deeper Than Foreign Influence
Vietnamese Proverb1

The origins of the Vietnam War are complex. The fact that over 
30 years of conflict by the Vietnamese against Japan, France and the 
US has been overshadowed in the minds of the current generation of
Saigon residents by the American war is unsurprising.2 Most of the lit-
erature available has tended to regard the Vietnam War as either pri-
marily a US military involvement in the affairs of a small Asian nation,
or at best as one element in the US global power game relating to the
containment of the communists. Overt US military assistance to Saigon
in 1950, in response to French requests for material assistance, has
influenced what has been written and emphasised the situation that
President Dwight Eisenhower inherited from President Harry Truman
in 1953, rather than what Truman inherited from President Franklin
Roosevelt in 1945. This emphasis deflected the difficult question as to
precisely when the conflict began yet enabled the concept of a single
war from 1946–75 to develop, but with two halves (1946–54 and
1954–75) providing continuity between the French and US periods.
The British role in the origins of the war has been obscured and con-
fused by the volume of literature now published on the bi-lateral
nature of the US-Vietnamese conflict. 

The years 1943–50 were elaborate and dynamic ones for British
diplomacy in Southeast Asia. This book builds upon previous scholar-
ship and offers a fresh Anglo-centric study of British policy in Indo-
China. It traces Britain’s concern for Indo-China through the formative
years of the Vietnam War, from Roosevelt’s conception of trusteeship
to the arrival of American assistance at the outbreak of the Korean
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War. It establishes that Britain did not unilaterally restore Indo-China
to France in 1945 and that Britain pursued active economic, human-
itarian, military and political policies towards Indo-China until 1950
when the rigours of the Cold War forced Britain to retire and accept US
leadership in the region. French Indo-China 1943–50 is an important
case study for British diplomatic history. It reflects the growth of Asian
nationalism, Britain’s decline as a great power and the ebb and flow of
Anglo-US relations. It was a period when, despite Britain’s emergence
as one of the victorious Allied nations from the Second World War,
Britain’s strategic and economic needs in the Far East required rapid
rethinking as to its role and expectations in the face of a financial
Dunkirk.3 Similarly, Britain was more perceptive to the future global
Soviet threat than were the other Western allies; it recognised through
its own experiences that only by working with emerging Asian nation-
alism and ensuring a rise in ordinary people’s standard of living could
global security be achieved.

British foreign policy towards Vietnam ultimately demonstrates the
evolution of Britain’s position within world geopolitics following
World War Two. It reflects the change of the Anglo-US relationship
from equality to dependence. It demonstrates Britain’s changing rela-
tionship, not only with its own colonies and Dominions, but also with
the other European imperial spheres within Southeast Asia. British
decolonisation and reliance on the Commonwealth maintained its
global status and to a degree independence from the US but at the cost
of being subservient to the demands of India and others. It highlights
that Britain’s relationship with France, particularly its desire to see
France restored in Europe to protect European security and stability,
enabled the French to place leverage upon Britain and an already
Francophile Foreign Office regarding Vietnam. It was a colourful period
full of devious characters and eccentric personalities. British foreign
policy certainly did not represent a unified coherent approach towards
Vietnam. Prime Minister Winston Churchill and Admiral Lord Louis
Mountbatten, SACSEA, both pursued independent policies in opposi-
tion to both the Foreign Office and the War Cabinet. Later, Special
Commissioner Lord Killearn and Commissioner-General Malcolm
MacDonald’s regional approach to Vietnamese issues was more
dynamic and interactive at times than London would have liked.
Major-General Douglas Gracey, ALF commander Saigon, has been
unfairly vilified for his actions during the Allied liberation, but the true
conspirators, through inaction, were the French whose legacy would
remain with Vietnam for generations.
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This book presents an in-depth examination of British foreign policy
towards Vietnam. Its detail reflects: the complex international situa-
tion, competing personal agendas, the lack of consistent policies
within government departments and between nations, and the relative
priority of all issues in relation to the European theatre. When woven
together with Britain’s Southeast Asian and Indo-Chinese policies an
intricate and rich tapestry results.

Introduction 3



1
Churchill and Roosevelt, 
January 1943–July 1945

The origins of Britain’s relationship with French Indo-China lay not in
London but across the Atlantic with the US President Franklin
Roosevelt. He wanted to remove Indo-China from French colonial
control and to create a post-war trusteeship that would advance Indo-
Chinese independence. Roosevelt did not intend to restore the
European balance of power at the end of the war, but to create a new
‘international order based on harmony, not on equilibrium’.1 The
Anglo-US Atlantic Charter of 1941 had been produced to calm
American fears that it ‘was underwriting British war aims’, i.e. the
return of imperialism. Article three of the charter provided indigenous
peoples with the right to determine their own future.2 Trusteeship was
Roosevelt’s method of sponsoring indigenous evolution towards inde-
pendence. However, the Atlantic Charter ‘cast the problem of post-war
security entirely in Wilsonian terms and contained no geopolitical
component at all’.3 The charter was an attack on the imperial system,
fuelled by economic motives.4 Former President Woodrow Wilson,
1912–20, had advocated values of ‘democracy, nationalism and the
American way’, these were shared by his Assistant Under-Secretary for
the Navy, Roosevelt.5

Roosevelt’s policy of trusteeship for Indo-China demonstrated US
commitment to national self-determination as stated in the Atlantic
Charter. It was ‘a test case for anti-colonialist resolve’ by an anti-
imperialist who had sardonically remarked to Churchill that ‘the British
would take land anywhere in the world even if it were only a rock or a
sand bar’.6 Trusteeship occupied a special place in Sino-US relations,
because Roosevelt envisaged China as one of the four world policemen
predestined to protect post-war peace and security.7 Britain was not in
favour of a US policy that made China a great power and, due to
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Britain’s own colonial interests, doubted the transparency of Chinese
intentions for Southeast Asia especially as a trustee.8

Roosevelt ‘was a juggler’ and ‘ambiguity was part of Roosevelt’s char-
acter’. He held Wilsonian ideals but ‘hated taking decisions’.9 Lord
Halifax, British Ambassador to the US, noted that ‘the President was
one of the people who used conversation as others of us use a first draft
on paper’.10 The Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden compared Roosevelt
to ‘a conjuror, skilfully juggling with balls of dynamite whose nature
he failed to understand’ but Eden’s ‘scepticism about the President
blinded him to Roosevelt’s devious ways of getting things done’.11

Reciprocally, Roosevelt expressed ‘confidence in Mr Churchill, but not
in the British Foreign Office’.12 The US Secretary for War, Henry
Stimson, remarked: ‘The President is the poorest administrator I have
ever worked with’ but noted also that he was ‘a tough customer’.13

An Anglo-US alliance was a crucial facet of Churchill’s wartime strat-
egy. He had worked like ‘a beaver’ and sought to be on ‘the most inti-
mate terms’ with Roosevelt who, when Churchill was in the US during
1942, visited ‘him [Churchill] in his bedroom at any hour’ and as
Churchill said was ‘the only head of state whom he, Winston, has ever
received in the nude’. However, Churchill was selective with his work
ethic; in dealing with the Lend-Lease Agreement the British Embassy in
Washington doubted that he would read the relevant telegrams let
alone ‘apply his mind to it’. Likewise on the issue of post-hostilities
planning, Churchill was ‘pretty bored with anything except the actual
war’.14 He wrote to the Cabinet and expressed caution against promises
made concerning post-war arrangements that might not be fulfilled
when the final victory materialised.15 Not an advocate of trusteeship or
a new world order, he lambasted Eden: ‘Nobody cares a damn about
the United Nations’.16

Churchill’s strong anti-trusteeship policy was shared by many in
Britain’s coalition government. The Labour Home Secretary, Herbert
Morrison, ascribed that ‘it would be like giving a child of ten a latch-
key, a bank account and a shot gun’.17 Nevertheless Churchill was
myopic and forgetful about Britain’s Indo-China policy: he refused
repeatedly to act in any direction that would result in conflict with
Roosevelt and create a crisis in the Anglo-US relationship. Initially ‘his
instinct was to see Roosevelt’s views on Indo-China as an aberration, …
[and] Churchill’s instinct was the governing factor in British policy’.18

However, worried about his place in history, he was eventually gal-
vanised into action following the 9 March 1945 Japanese coup d’état in
Indo-China. Had the Foreign Office dictated British Indo-China policy
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from the outset then probably Anglo-US diplomacy and the special
relationship would have developed along more confrontational lines.
Churchill had to tread carefully; he was the fulcrum of Anglo-US rela-
tions, pushed by US anti-imperialism and pulled by Foreign Office
support for colonial spheres of influence based upon imperial associa-
tion; he cut a lonely, isolated and out of touch figure.

Churchill was not aided in his Anglo-US alliance by his tempestuous –
and the Foreign Office’s more placid – patronage of the Free French
leader General Charles de Gaulle. At the Allied Casablanca Conference
in January 1943 Roosevelt found de Gaulle arrogant.19 De Gaulle’s
‘autocratic temperament and his constant practice of playing off
Britain against America’ did not endear him to the US or Roosevelt and
threatened Anglo-US relations ‘through the belief that de Gaulle enjoys
full British backing’ despite the actuality that he did not ‘enjoy the
unqualified support’ of the government.20 French capitulation to
Germany in Europe and Japan in Asia had not endeared France to
Roosevelt.21 Roosevelt felt that de Gaulle advocated a ‘process of
infiltration’. He used the example of French membership of the Allied
Commission for Italy to complain to Churchill that ‘his [de Gaulle’s]
presence there will, as we know from experience, cause controversy
and more trouble with the French Committee’. Reflecting on the con-
straints of his British ally and the pro-French nature of the Foreign
Office, Roosevelt sympathised with Churchill ‘I know what problems
you have with your own Foreign Office’, and lamented ‘I wish you and
I could run this Italian business. We would not need any help’.22

Roosevelt continued to remain at odds with de Gaulle. Six months
later he wrote to Churchill concerning the arrangements for the supply
of supplementary currency to France and castigated ‘it seems clear that
Prima Donnas do not change their spots’.23 Roosevelt believed that de
Gaulle represented ‘“acute and unconquerable” nationalism’ and that
France as a nation no longer had the status of a great power to shape
the world – a view shared by his Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, and
the State Department.24 US Indo-China policy served to accelerate
Roosevelt’s policy of colonial liberation and to punish the French.25

Roosevelt’s grand scheme for colonial territories was not limited to
Indo-China but also included parts of the British Empire, i.e. Hong
Kong, and other fanciful directions, i.e. the ‘idea of Australia purchas-
ing Timor from Portugal’.26 Hull would later guarantee to Britain a US
‘agreement to respect Portuguese sovereignty in all Portuguese
colonies’.27 But Roosevelt was not embarrassed by previous US guaran-
tees concerning the ‘territorial integrity of the 1939 French Empire’
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made to Vichy France and Generals Giraud and de Gaulle; or a similar
statement made after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor that guaran-
teed ‘an unqualified undertaking that they would support the return of
Indo-China to France in all circumstances’.28 These pledges had been
made on behalf of Roosevelt and he had duly informed Churchill of
this US policy.29 Eden noted the contradictions between US pledges
and Roosevelt’s trusteeship statements on Indo-China. He briefed
Churchill that Roosevelt now made ‘little of guarantees about the
integrity of the French Empire in general’ and therefore had ‘little
doubt that the French would contrive a “leak” before long’.30 Indo-
China was the political side-show to wartime Allied military policy but
Britain needed to develop a coherent policy that would protect its own
interests and navigate unforeseen dilemmas.

Trusteeship and French participation in the war in the 
Far East

On 7 January 1943, at a meeting of the US Joint Chiefs of Staff Roosevelt
expressed ‘grave doubts’ about restoring Indo-China to France, and
‘urged the British not to make further promises to restore the French
Empire’. Lord Halifax spoke with Hull who was embarrassed at the
State Department’s exclusion from some of Roosevelt’s personal
‘predilections’.31 Churchill despatched Eden to the US for three weeks
‘in order to facilitate the establishment of closer relations between the
State Department and the Foreign Office’.32 On 24 March Eden and
Halifax met with Sumner Welles, Assistant Secretary of State. Welles
elaborated that France should be separated from Indo-China due to
‘world interest in the quality and direction of their administration’ and
he hoped that Britain would be prepared to hand Hong Kong back to
China.33 Two days later Eden and Halifax met Roosevelt at the White
House. Roosevelt raised the question of trusteeship for Indo-China; 
he believed that the actual details concerning trusteeship should be
arranged in the ‘ironing out of things after the war’. Eden felt that
Roosevelt ‘was being very hard on the French’.34 No doubt Roosevelt
held that the US, as the major creditor to the European colonial
powers, would be able to dictate the form of the new world order. 

On his return to Britain, Eden reported to the War Cabinet. He stated
that discussions about France were ‘of a somewhat varied nature’ and
that Hull ‘clearly hated General de Gaulle’. The US was apparently
against the creation of a single French Civil Authority in exile to deal
with French issues and preferred to deal with each rival leader,
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Generals Giraud or de Gaulle, separately. Eden maintained during his
stay in the US that Britain supported the opposite view. Meanwhile a
meeting between Eden and the Chinese Ambassador to the US had
yielded the assurance that China possessed no territorial ambitions in
Siam, Indo-China, Burma or Malaya.35 This was a significant statement
as Britain feared Chinese encroachment in South and Southeast Asia
which contained large indigenous Chinese populations.

The Foreign Office believed that the US motivation behind trustee-
ship and the Atlantic Charter was ‘really the old Wilsonian principle of
self-determination dressed anew’.36 Likewise, the Foreign Office was
carefully studying events concerning the forthcoming presidential elec-
tion: ‘Roosevelt’s attitude is perhaps largely due to his fear that Wilkie
next year will mobilise American anti-imperialist sentiment against
him’.37 It predicted that Roosevelt would argue that ‘the Atlantic
Charter is the document governing the post-war world’, but concluded
that the ‘American conception of the world is not static, and the
President might contend that it is for him to interpret and secure the
realisation of this as and when appropriate’.38

De Gaulle established a committee to consider the Indo-Chinese
question for the allies and French participation in its liberation.39 The
French requested representation on the Allied Pacific War Council. In
response the State Department cautioned that ‘the President may poss-
ibly be averse to the idea’ and sought Britain’s perspective.40 Churchill
decided that the Foreign Office had ‘better leave this quiet for a bit. No
need to reply for some days’.41 However, Sir Alexander Cadogan,
Permanent Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office, lobbied Churchill 
for French representation at some Pacific War Council meetings.42

Churchill remained unmoved: ‘No need for action yet’.43 Cadogan per-
sisted: ‘A refusal would confirm the French in their present suspicions
that neither we nor the Americans (particularly the latter) wish to see
them resume sovereignty over Indo-China. This would add to their
sense of frustration and wounded pride’. Considering the US attitude
to the restoration of colonies to their former colonial powers Cadogan
concluded that ‘there is much to be said for the colonial powers stick-
ing together in the Far East’. The French, not content with mere repre-
sentation on the Pacific War Council, now requested permission to
send a military mission to SEAC.44 Churchill replied that ‘this can cer-
tainly wait’.45 When asked three days later if he wanted to mention the
French request to Mountbatten, Churchill noted: ‘No nothing doing
while de Gaulle is master’ and instructed Eden: ‘We should adopt a
negative and dilatory attitude’.46 The Foreign Office, Dominions Office
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and Colonial Office all believed that British policy towards French
possessions should be made in consultation with the Dominions. 
They agreed that ‘above all, we must avoid a position in which the
Dominions side with the US against us’.47

On 30 November Clement Attlee, Deputy Prime Minister, wrote to
Churchill for guidance and clarification as to the Prime Minister’s posi-
tion regarding the future of Indo-China.48 Churchill answered ‘Britain
does not pre-judge the question of status of Indo-China any more than
that of … British possessions’ and summarised his perception of
Roosevelt’s position that the ‘President at the moment contemplates
some changes in status of Indo-China but he has not yet formulated
any definite proposal’.49 Briefing the Cabinet on the outcome of the
Cairo and Tehran Conferences (November–December 1943) Eden indi-
cated that Indo-China would be ‘under some kind of international
control’. He noted with interest that the Russian Prime Minister Josef
Stalin ‘had been highly critical of the French’ at the Tehran Con-
ference, declaring that ‘the French had not really tried hard in the war
and he obviously regarded the state of France as rotten’.50 Stalin had
been particularly shrewd as it was he rather than Roosevelt who had
raised the question of Indo-China and ‘he played most effectively on
the President’s … fears of post-war French stability and resentment
against General de Gaulle’ as well as ‘Roosevelt’s Wilsonian beliefs in
national self determination’.51 Stalin asserted that he and Roosevelt
were ‘of the same mind’ that ‘France should not have all her posses-
sions restored to her’.52 

De Gaulle continued to develop an Indo-China policy and issued a
declaration affirming French sovereignty but sanctioning ‘collective
development, in the form of a “free and close association between
France and the Indo-Chinese peoples”’.53 Nevertheless, Roosevelt pro-
ceeded to concoct his own policy for Indo-China. On 16 December in
Washington at a meeting with Chinese, Turkish, Egyptian, Russian,
Persian and British diplomats he announced that:

He had been working very hard to prevent Indo-China being restored
to France who during the last hundred years had done nothing for
the Indo-Chinese people under their care. Latter were still as poor
and as uneducated as they had ever been and this state of affairs
could not be allowed to continue. He thought that Indo-Chinese
who were not yet ready for elective institutions of their own should
be placed under some United Nations trusteeship, which would take
them toward the stage when they could govern themselves.54

Churchill and Roosevelt, January 1943–July 1945 9



Churchill informed Eden that although he had often heard Roosevelt’s
opinions on Indo-China he had ‘never given any assent to them’ as
they were a matter for ‘the end of the war’. Churchill advised that the
US could not ‘take territory from France forcibly without agreement
with France after a French Government has been formed on the basis
of the will of the French people’. Again a matter for the conclusion of
the war, due to the need for the liberation of France and subsequent
elections. Churchill requested from Eden copies of the declarations
already made by Roosevelt on ‘the integrity of the French Empire’.55

Eden considered that ‘a note of caution’ should be raised in Washington.
He proposed that Halifax should consult with Hull to ascertain whe-
ther Roosevelt’s remarks represented ‘a concerted White House–State
Department policy’. Eden deemed it important for Britain to have a
‘definite policy on this matter’, especially as the French had established
a military mission in Chungking and were keen to develop one in
SEAC, both of which could result in French forces being deployed in
the Far East.56 Churchill agreed but still considered that ‘questions of
territorial transfers should be reserved till the end of the war’.57 When
Halifax spoke to Hull in Washington, Hull ‘knew no more about 
it than I did’. Halifax concluded the ‘President’s remarks did not 
represent any settled policy in which [the] State Department has
concurred’.58

The Foreign Office remained vehemently critical of Roosevelt and US
policy which it felt was driven by a combination of a delusion of power
and dollar imperialism.

President Roosevelt is suffering from the same kind of megalomania
which characterised the late President Wilson and Mr Lloyd George
(the latter to a lesser extent) at the end of the last war and proved
the former’s undoing. …

I trust that we shall not allow ourselves to quarrel with the French,
without being on very strong grounds, for the benefit of a United
States President, who in a year’s time, may be merely a historical
figure.

If Indo-China is not restored to France on the ground that ‘the
poor Indo-Chinese’ have had no education and no welfare (I have
never heard that the Indo-Chinese were anymore unhappy than the
share croppers of the Southern United States), the Dutch and our-
selves may later on be told that the oil resources of the Netherlands
East Indies and Borneo have never been properly developed, nor
the rubber resources of Malaya, that the natives are insufficiently
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educated according to Washington standards and that these territo-
ries must be placed under United Nations trusteeship (perhaps with
United States oil and rubber controllers).59

The Foreign Office was still sceptical of Chinese motives regarding
Indo-China. Likewise, it held that it was unrealistic to prevent France
from taking some part in the war in the Far East. The French had
‘officers with a knowledge’ of Indo-China, which neither Britain nor
the US possessed, and could ‘provide a substantial number of troops
from Africa’ in their own ships. In response to a French offer of assis-
tance, it would be difficult to explain to the British public a reply of:
‘“No, thank you; we prefer to have more of our own soldiers killed”’.60

The Defence Committee had decided already that it was imperative for
a French Mission to be established, as soon as possible, at SEAC to
avoid any risk of incidents developing with French troops on the Sino-
Indo-China border.61

Eden broached the subject of Indo-China again with Churchill on 
11 January 1944. Eden had received a report from the British Embassy
in Chungking that was fearful of British relations with France and
‘post-war collaboration in Western Europe’ and concerned about the
possibility of a precedent being established which could also be applied
to British colonial possessions if Roosevelt succeeded with his designs
for Indo-China. The report cautioned that the Chinese would welcome
UN trusteeship of Indo-China through which they might be able to
extend economic control.62 Churchill decided that the Foreign Office
should pursue the Indo-China issue with the State Department ‘and
leave till a later stage any direct communications between me and the
President’.63 This was not a shrewd ploy by Churchill to appeal to the
State Department. A parallel State Department policy on Indo-China 
to that of Roosevelt’s had not begun to evolve in earnest until 
spring 1944.64 Instead it was further evidence of Churchill’s desire 
to avoid the Indo-Chinese issue and thereby a crisis in the Anglo-US
relationship.

On 18 January Roosevelt met with Halifax in Washington.
Roosevelt appeared not at all embarrassed by his position on Indo-
China, jovially retorting that he hoped his ideas would be reported
back to the French. In presenting his case for trusteeship Roosevelt
confirmed, contrary to Churchill’s doubts, that Chinese intentions
were that the President Chiang Kai-Shek did not want to acquire
Indo-China and that Stalin regarded trusteeship as the best solution.
Roosevelt emphasised that he had ‘spoken about it 25 times but the
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Prime Minister has never said anything’. Did Roosevelt really under-
stand Churchill’s position? Churchill desired to maintain Britain as a
world power; the Anglo-US relationship was of importance to him,
but he showed a lack of interest in post-hostilities planning. If
Roosevelt had understood these issues then Churchill’s silence
should not have been a surprise. Roosevelt denied to Halifax that his
previous guarantees about the status and integrity of the French
Empire had any bearing on the question of Indo-Chinese trusteeship.
Halifax was annoyed with Roosevelt’s stance and hoped that he
would not hold a ‘monologue’ with Churchill. When Halifax raised
the question of a precedent being established which could be applied
to British colonies Roosevelt dismissed the idea and defended the
British colonial position, apparently ‘we and the Dutch had done a
good job but the French were hopeless’, Halifax noted. Halifax
responded with the need to rehabilitate France as a great power but
Roosevelt retorted ‘tell Winston I gained or got three votes to his one
as we stand today’ (China, Russia, and the US versus Britain). Halifax
was left with the impression that Roosevelt ‘has got this idea in his
mind a bit more than is likely to be quite wholesome’.65 The Foreign
Office continued to ‘resist strongly any proposal to consult the
Chinese but not the French’.66

Churchill remained committed to a Europe-first strategy regarding
wartime policy and activities.67 Maberly Dening, Chief Political Adviser
to SEAC, questioned the purpose of SEACs role within a solely US Far
East strategy in a note to the Foreign Office. ‘For the Southeast Asia
Command there appears to be no role at all, except to cover General
Stilwell’s supply route and to employ British forces at the maximum
disadvantage to themselves with minimum effect upon the enemy’.68

The War Cabinet Post-Hostilities Planning Sub-Committee remarked
that the actions of the Japanese in seizing Southeast Asia demonstrated
the threat to India, Australia, New Zealand and other British posses-
sions in the region of a weak Indo-China. It held that Britain would
not be able to meet this threat in the future without the assistance of
the US. Roosevelt’s position indicated that the US intended participa-
tion in the defence of Indo-China, but if the US deprived France of
Indo-China the resentment ‘would seriously endanger our post-war co-
operation’ with France and this could result in an ‘unfriendly France’
hindering British security in other regions. The Committee concluded
that US co-operation in the defence of Indo-China should be encour-
aged and that in order not to offend the French this should be
achieved by the establishment of UN bases.69
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The Foreign Office persisted in its criticism of Roosevelt’s opinions
on Indo-China: ‘this is one of the President’s most half baked and
unfortunate obita dicta’.70 Eden agreed.71 On 24 February the War
Cabinet approved a memorandum by Eden on the future of Indo-
China and French Pacific possessions; this included papers by the
Foreign Office and the Post-Hostilities Planning Committee and con-
cluded that Britain ‘should aim at continuance of French sovereignty’.
Lord Cranborne, the Dominions Secretary, was requested to consult
the Dominions in order that an ‘Imperial Policy on this matter’ could
be formulated.72 However Churchill was cautious of raising the matter
with his US ally, preferring not to discuss the Indo-China issue with
Roosevelt before the presidential election in case Roosevelt used it to
pander to the anti-imperial nature of the US press and electorate.
Churchill did not believe the matter to be urgent and considered
Roosevelt’s opinions ‘particular to himself … chance remarks … made
in conversation’. He held that ‘nothing is going to happen about this
for quite a long time’ and thus the Dominions’ Prime Ministers could
be consulted when they arrived in Britain in two months.73 Cranborne
pressed Churchill for greater immediate consultation with the
Dominions.74 Churchill agreed but only after he had first approved any
telegram to the Prime Ministers, thereby preventing an instant
approach. Oliver Stanley, Colonial Secretary, expressed his concern
about US hypocrisy over trusteeship and its economic benefits.75 Eden
would later note in September 1944 that the Dominions still had not
been consulted about Britain’s Indo-China policy, although Australia
had told Hull in February that it was in favour of a French return.76

However, when Roosevelt’s digressions concerned the future of the
British Empire Churchill offered a forthright defence: ‘my irrevocable
principle is that no Government of which I am the Head will yield one
square inch of British territory or British rights in any quarter of the
globe except for greater advantages or moral scruples’.77

Mountbatten noted how ‘determined’ the French were to regain
Indo-China. He stressed the importance of accepting a small French
mission being established at SEAC lest the French concentrate their
efforts on China Theatre headquarters at Chungking instead and thus
diminish British influence in the region.78 Churchill persisted in his
inaction, instructing the Foreign Office, ‘It will be better to delay. One
can always concede’.79 General Hastings Ismay, Chief of Staff to
Churchill in his role as the Minister of Defence, instructed the Foreign
Office ‘For the time being, therefore, there is nothing that we can do’.80

Cadogan reflected on Churchill’s intransigence, ‘I can only infer that
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the P.M., knowing as I do President Roosevelt – and Admiral Leahy’s –
sinister intentions regarding Indo-China, is careful not to do anything
that might imply our recognition of French input there’.81 Lord
Selborne, responsible for the SOE which would conduct clandestine
operations in Indo-China, pressed both Churchill and Eden on the
issue of the French mission to SEAC. He highlighted that the delay
would damage SOE operations and add to French suspicions of British
intentions in view of Roosevelt’s opinions.82 Eden supported the argu-
ment but Churchill was not going to be pushed into taking any action.
He lambasted Eden:

It is hard enough to get along in SEAC when we virtually have only
the Americans to deal with. The more the French can get their
finger into the pie, the more trouble they will make in order to
show they are not humiliated in any way by the events through
which they have passed. You will have de Gaullist intrigues there
just as you now have in Syria and the Lebanon.

Before we could bring the French officially into the Indo-China
area, we should have to settle with President Roosevelt. He has been
more outspoken to me on that subject than any other colonial
matter, and I imagine it is one of his principal war aims to liberate
Indo-China from France. Whenever he has raised it, I have repeat-
edly reminded him of his pledges about the integrity of the French
Empire and have reserved our position. Do you really want to go
and stir all this up at such a time as this?

I do not like the idea of Mountbatten’s command becoming a
kind of minor court with many powers having a delegation there.
The fact that the Dutch have a section is because we are studying
those countries which they own with a view to attack and we cer-
tainly have no plans in prospect for liberating Indo-China.

…
It is erroneous to suppose that one must always be doing some-

thing. The greatest service SOE can render us is to select with great
discrimination their areas and occasions of intervention.83

Nevertheless, on 1 June Mountbatten raised the matter again with the
COS. He held that ‘it is militarily necessary to obtain the maximum co-
operation of the French in pre-occupational work in Indo-China’.84

The COS raised the issue again with Churchill and enquired if the issue
was still to be conceded.85 Churchill wrote to Major-General Leslie
Hollis, War Cabinet Secretariat at the Ministry of Defence: ‘Is there any
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reason why we should not wait and see how we finish up with de
Gaulle’?86 The COS agreed that there was no need to press the issue
and informed Mountbatten: ‘On the instructions of the Prime Minister
a decision is to be deferred for the time being’.87

Brendon Bracken, British Minister of Information, remained
cynical about Roosevelt’s attitude and motives: ‘Now that Roosevelt
is talking to God he may be even more unreasonable. We have got to
tell the gentleman that Europe cannot be wrecked by his Dutch obsti-
nacy’.88 Reflecting on Roosevelt’s relationship with de Gaulle,
Churchill sardonically quipped: ‘I think it would be a good thing to
let the President know the kind of way de Gaulle interprets friendli-
ness. I have now had four years’ experience of him, and it is always
the same’.89 However, Bracken believed that Churchill was ‘becoming
more reasonable about the French’, although this did not spare
himself, British officials or the French from subsequent Churchillian
outbursts.90 Duff Cooper, British Ambassador to France, so ‘irritated
the Prime Minister by his extreme Francophilism … and by his admi-
ration for de Gaulle’ that Churchill mocked ‘“a cat purring at the feet
of de Gaulle”’ and added that ‘he could not recollect ever meeting a
decent Frenchman’.91 Bracken was called a ‘lackey of the Foreign
Office’ and slurred as ‘“a Foreign Office hack even more ignorant
than its normal inhabitants”’.92

On 28 July, due to the changed military situation following D-Day
and the destruction of Vichy France, the War Cabinet COS Com-
mittee reconsidered the question of a French mission being estab-
lished with SEAC.93 As the relationship between the French colonists
and Japanese in Indo-China began to deteriorate Churchill agreed to
a French military mission as well as the French Corps Leger military
unit being established at SEAC.94 The COS placed proposals before
the US COS for French participation in the war against Japan.95 The
US COS re-evaluated the issue and consequently agreed with the
French request to participate in the war against Japan, except in 
the area of political warfare which they believed should be limited 
to the SEAC area.96 However, Roosevelt ruled that ‘approval could not
be given to any of these proposals until the President had the op-
portunity to discuss them with the Prime Minister at their next
meeting’.97 The Foreign Office noted on the issue of SOE work in
Indo-China that ‘If we were a nation of angels we would still be sus-
pected by some Americans of having sinister motives for anything we
did’ and regarded the issue as a ‘molehill’ rather than the ‘mountain’
the US insisted.98
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On 14 August, without Churchill, the War Cabinet considered
further the issue of the future of Indo-China as this would be one of
the topics likely to be discussed between René Massigli, French
Ambassador, and Eden during forthcoming talks. The Cabinet affirmed
its position of 24 February – the continuance of French sovereignty –
and approved Eden’s recommendation ‘to leave the initiative to 
M. Massigli on this subject as far as possible’.99 Ten days later Eden met
Massigli at the Foreign Office. Massigli observed that the US attitude
towards Indo-China ‘had not been cleared up’ and that during de
Gaulle’s recent talks with Roosevelt the President ‘had been very
vague’. Eden indicated that in the interest of international security
Britain was prepared to ‘give facilities where others did the same’ but
would not consider any withdrawals; it was a policy of ‘what we have
we hold’. He asked Massigli that if Britain undertook a policy of con-
sultation and a joint use of bases as part of an international security
process then would France be prepared to do likewise? Massigli person-
ally believed that France would not object to such a policy on the
understanding that this did not relinquish sovereignty.100 John
Colville, Churchill’s Private Secretary, sent a message to Churchill at
the second Quebec Conference (September 1944) to remind him to
discuss the French mission to SEAC with Roosevelt.101 However, despite
Churchill’s new-found support for such a venture, he strangely ‘did
not have an opportunity of raising this matter with the President’ in
Quebec; nor did he raise the matter, following a further reminder,
during his visit to Roosevelt’s home in New York.102

At the same time, Mountbatten held that pre-occupation operations
could not begin until questions concerning Indo-China, SEAC and
China Theatre boundaries had been resolved.103 Churchill informed
Eden and Ismay that Mountbatten’s enquiry should be dealt with by
the COS who decided that this could ‘remain unsettled a little
longer’.104 Mountbatten considered that Britain was already committed
to French participation in the war in the Far East as Britain had
accepted a French battleship to be deployed against the Japanese. He
believed that if delays concerning the French mission resulted in China
Theatre control of Indo-China then this would restrict not only China
Theatre operations but also British policy in the Far East.105 Eden
observed: ‘This is all very well but PM may take same view as
President’.106 Mountbatten and Eden remained both in contact and in
agreement over the participation of the French in the war in the Far
East.107 Eden was embarrassed with Anglo-US inability to satisfy French
inquiries.108 A Foreign Office minute suggested that the continued
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delay could result in the French mission being established in the China
Theatre rather than SEAC, thus diminishing British influence. It
requested that Churchill telegram Roosevelt and urge him to make a
decision.109 Eden agreed with both the assessment and the request.110

In the meantime Britain permitted ‘a temporary personal visit’ by
French General Roger Blaizot to Mountbatten and SEAC.111

The French eagerly awaited acceptance of their participation in the
war in the Far East but the US COS continued not to respond to
British COS proposals. The situation appeared to be locked in a stale-
mate requiring resolution at a higher level. Churchill finally seemed
to want to resolve the dispute. He asked Eden ‘had we not better talk
this over in Cairo with Mountbatten’? Yet, aware of Roosevelt’s likely
reaction to the proposals, Churchill appeared reluctant to act. He
advised Eden to ‘draft a telegram to the President at your leisure’.
Churchill would have to approve any draft and did not intend to do
so in the near future. He reasoned with Eden that Roosevelt would
‘not like the French being let into Indo-China, and we had better
keep this particular item till other more urgent matters have been
settled’ especially as the situation at SEAC ‘shows no hope of advance
before the beginning of 1946’, although he lamely attested ‘I am
trying to improve this’.112 Hollis wrote to Churchill advising that the
COS recommended that Churchill ask Roosevelt to agree to the
French mission and participation in the war in the Far East.113 Eden
agreed with the COS and the next day, with pressure mounting,
Churchill made a decision. He instructed Eden to ‘proceed as the
Chiefs of Staff propose’ for the retention of the French mission to
SEAC but sought to avoid a conflict with Roosevelt by ruling: ‘There
is no need for me to telegraph to the President’.114

Meanwhile, during September, the French requested to be supplied
with an aircraft carrier which they would operate off the coast of
Indo-China.115 Churchill again appeared reluctant to make a decision
despite having already made one on the French military mission to
SEAC. Due to the ‘heavy pressure of work’ he directed, three months
later in December, that ‘it be brought up on a later occasion’ as he
had ‘not yet had time to look at it closely’.116 The US again sought to
avoid any commitment to employ French forces in the Far East. The
JSM in Washington maintained that political as well as naval consid-
erations were directing the US response. The British Admiralty
believed that it could possibly assist in the refit of French naval
vessels. The alternative was for Churchill and Roosevelt to make ‘a
clear cut decision’ but as it proved impossible to supply the French

Churchill and Roosevelt, January 1943–July 1945 17



with ships or conduct refits, a decision did not have to be made for
the time being.117 Churchill agreed with the delay and reflected ‘I do
not expect the French will like it much. If they do not agree, the
matter must be settled between the Heads of Government’.118 The
stark warning was that this would involve Roosevelt. 

In November rumours circulated in Washington that Mountbatten
would have to be recalled due to his bad relations with an unspecified
US General.119 Lt.-General Joseph Stilwell, Mountbatten’s deputy at
SEAC, the US commander of Chinese armies in Burma and Assam and
also Chief of Staff to Chiang Kai-Shek, had had a troubled relationship
with Mountbatten. ‘Vinegar Joe’ Stilwell was a zealous ‘enemy of
imperialism’, and an Anglophobe with an ‘equally stark contempt 
for China’. He had been replaced in October by US Lt.-General 
Al Wedemeyer who had previously possessed good relations with
Mountbatten as his Deputy Chief of Staff. However, Wedemeyer now
regarded his role as Chief of Staff to Chiang Kai-Shek to defend Chinese
interests even to the detriment of SEAC.120 By 13 November the Foreign
Office determined it was important to resolve the problems that contin-
ued between Britain and the US over clandestine operations in Indo-
China, French participation in the war in the Far East and the French
military mission to SEAC. Nonetheless, before the matter could be
brought before Churchill for him to contact Roosevelt it was proposed
that Halifax should broach the issue with the State Department and
‘urge them to clear it with the President’.121 Initially this idea had been
proposed by Churchill but the Foreign Office was ‘dubious … of achiev-
ing the desired result through this channel, since the decision clearly
lies with the President’.122 However, Eden now considered it important
at least to try to resolve the matter through Halifax before returning the
issue to Churchill.123 Perhaps this would circumnavigate Churchill’s
intransigence to discuss Indo-Chinese matters with Roosevelt. The
Foreign Office informed the US Ambassador in London

It would be difficult to deny French participation in the liberation of
Indo-China in light of the increasing strength of the French
Government in world affairs, and that, unless a policy to be fol-
lowed toward Indo-China is mutually agreed between our two gov-
ernments, circumstances may arise at any moment which will place
our two governments in a very awkward situation.124

At the same time Churchill remained resolute in his defence of the
British Empire but appeared to have lost touch with the trusteeship
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debate. On New Year’s Eve he wrote to Eden, ‘How does this matter
stand? There must be no question of our being hustled or seduced into
declarations affecting British sovereignty in any of the Dominions or
colonies’. Noting the irony that the US wanted to maintain control
over certain Japanese islands post-war for its own security agenda,
Churchill blessed the US proposals but maintained ‘“Hands off the
British Empire” is our maxim and it must not be weakened or smirched
to please sob-stuff merchants at home or foreigners of any hue’.125

Eden replied ‘we are anxious to persuade the Americans not to go in
for half baked international regimes’, i.e. trusteeship, ‘nor to advocate
them for others but to accept colonial responsibilities on the same
terms as ourselves’.126

Halifax ‘repeatedly urged [the] State Department to give … a reply’
to Foreign Office concerns. On 26 December the new US Secretary of
State, Edward Stettinius, informed him that ‘the question was still on
the President’s desk’.127 At the beginning of January 1945 Halifax
again broached Foreign Office concerns with Stettinius, who
informed Halifax that Roosevelt still thought that any political or
military action over Indo-China was premature and that the
President intended to raise the issue with Churchill. Halifax protested
over the implied delay, citing Mountbatten’s urgent military require-
ments, but Stettinius declined to offer further assistance.128 Two days
later Halifax met with Roosevelt and attempted to resolve the dead-
lock over SEAC and French clandestine operations in Indo-China.
Roosevelt cryptically responded that ‘if we felt it important we had
better tell Mountbatten to do it and ask no questions. He did not
want in any way to appear to be committed to anything that would
seem to prejudge [a] political decision about Indo-China [that was] in
a sense favourable to [the] restoration [of the] French status quo ante
which he did not wish to see restored’.129 Dening believed that as
everything was now in place to begin pre-occupation duties in Indo-
China it was time to revert solely to Mountbatten’s informal
Gentleman’s Agreement with Chiang Kai-Shek, and to halt further
representations to Roosevelt whose intervention could damage SEAC
operations.130 Roosevelt’s statement to Halifax placed Britain in an
opportune position. Halifax, Mountbatten, the COS and the Foreign
Office agreed that ‘we should let this particular sleeping dog lie’ and
Eden pertained that the matter was now solely an issue to be dealt
with by the Foreign Office.131 Stanley, in Washington for discussions
on dependent areas, received Roosevelt’s continued affirmation of
trusteeship for Indo-China.132
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In the meantime Eden attempted to have France accepted as an
attendee at the forthcoming Allied conference at Yalta (February
1945). Writing to Churchill, Eden reminded him that many of
France’s imperial interests complemented those of Britain. Stating ‘we
must plan for the future’ Eden pressed that it was necessary to have
French co-operation; France was a member of the European Advisory
Commission, it was due to administer one of the German occupation
zones after the war and was to have one permanent Security Council
seat at the UN.133 However, Churchill was not convinced of the need
to include France at Yalta: ‘we shall have the greatest trouble with de
Gaulle, who will be forever intriguing and playing two off against the
third’. Churchill doubted that France’s rehabilitation was complete
and declared that it could not ‘masquerade as a great power for the
purpose of the war’. Warming to his subject Churchill concluded
with a personal outburst against de Gaulle, ‘I cannot think of any-
thing more unpleasant and impossible than having this menacing
and hostile man in our midst, always trying to make himself a repu-
tation in France by claiming a position far above what France occu-
pies, and making faces at the allies who are doing the work’.134 Eden
pleaded that Churchill’s stance could turn France towards Russia for
support which would cause problems for British post-war security,
but Churchill was unmoved.135

Roosevelt, Stalin and Churchill met at the Yalta Conference to
discuss the foundations for the post-war world. Returning to the ques-
tion of trusteeship Churchill vetoed Roosevelt’s plans, but he did not
pursue the question of further French participation in the war in the
Far East as Roosevelt had no military advisers present and thus could
not be expected to make a considered decision.136 Roosevelt was less
generous to Churchill during a post-conference press briefing: ‘Stalin
liked the idea. China liked the idea. The British don’t like it. It might
bust up their empire’, he considered ‘it would only make the British
mad. Better to keep quiet just now’ as Churchill was ‘mid-Victorian on
all things like that’.137 Dening remained curious as to French motives
about the return of Indo-China, ‘do they expect us to bear their cross
for them’? From SEAC he concluded ‘I am gradually gaining the
impression that the French we have are either mal élèves or just stupid,
or trying to pull a fast one’.138

A month later Churchill returned to the question of trusteeship.
Reflecting on the scheme of voluntary trusteeship established at Yalta
for colonial territories he warned ‘I myself oppose such a departure
which might well be pressed upon nations like Britain, France,
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Holland and Belgium who have had great colonial possessions by the
United States, Russia and China who have none’.139 Churchill
appeared to have come full circle. The Foreign Office noted the con-
tinued hypocrisy with the US position on trusteeship, ‘the Americans
have not disdained the use of our territories particularly India and
Burma and the considerable resources which those territories have
made available for them’.140 It was sardonically commented that ‘The
“fundamental principle on which the very existence of the United
States rested” was … in abeyance when the US wrested what is now
Southern California, Arizona, New Mexico and Texas from the
Mexicans, and when the North forced the Confederate southern
states to stay within the Union’.141 Meanwhile the French Govern-
ment issued the Brazzaville Declaration to unite the aims of France
with the Indo-Chinese Federation as part of a new French Union. It
was intended as a progressive statement of direction. The Union
would be the basis for French post-war relationships with its Empire;
however ‘liberty’ was only permitted within the Union.142 In April
the Foreign Office replied to Dening’s misgivings about French
motives. British policy was ‘to help her [France] to recover her former
strength and influence and to cultivate the closest possible relations
with her. We regard a strong and friendly France as an essential
factor for our post-war security’.143 It was important for Britain to
defend the interests of all the colonial powers over both trusteeship
and voluntary trusteeship lest a precedent be established that would
destroy all colonial relationships. However, this represented much
more than the future of colonial territories: the stability and security
of post-war Western Europe were at stake, also economic regenera-
tion and political harmony would be needed to face the potential
threat from Russia. A common European colonial policy could bolster
Britain’s position as a great power, especially if the Empire and the
Dominions in unison alongside the other Western European colonial
nations could act as a balance of power against Russia.144 However,
the high policy debate over trusteeship and French participation in
the war in the Far East had, for the moment, been eclipsed by a
conflict between SEAC and China Theatre command over Allied oper-
ations in Indo-China.

Inter-theatre rivalry

Differences between Britain and the US over Indo-China also existed
between SEAC and the China Theatre. Officially Indo-China was in the
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China Theatre but since the creation of SEAC in 1943 Mountbatten
had maintained an operational interest in Indo-China and Siam, as it
was through these areas ‘that runs the Japanese land and air reinforce-
ment route to Burma and Malaya’.145 Originally the British COS had
intended that the boundaries of SEAC would include Indo-China, Siam
and Malaya.146 However, the first Quebec Conference (August 1943)
between Roosevelt and Churchill confirmed both Siam and Indo-China
in the China Theatre.147 

When Mountbatten arrived at SEAC he discovered that ‘Anglo-
American relations in this theatre were far and away the worst I have
ever come across’ and he found Stilwell to be ‘entirely anti-British’.148

US personnel within SEAC quipped that it stood really for ‘Save
England’s Asian Colonies’.149 Mountbatten attempted to end the
conflict of personalities both within SEAC and between it and the
China Theatre. Mountbatten met Chiang Kai-Shek in Chungking
which resulted in a Gentleman’s Agreement concerning Indo-China.
The Gentleman’s Agreement permitted Mountbatten to attack Siam
and Indo-China and if successful transfer Siam and Indo-China from
China Theatre into SEAC. In the meantime Mountbatten would be
allowed to carry out intelligence and other pre-occupational activ-
ities.150 Mountbatten wrote personally and informed Roosevelt of the
outcome of the meeting which was confirmed to Roosevelt by US 
Lt.-General Brehon Sommervell who also had been present and who
had helped to broker the agreement.151 However, Mountbatten’s per-
sonal letter to Roosevelt merely informed him of a congenial meeting
with Chiang Kai-Shek to remove distrust and barriers between the
commands but did not specifically mention the Gentleman’s
Agreement.152 Similarly, Mountbatten’s letters to both Churchill and
Sir Alan Brooke, CIGS, concerning the meeting also failed to mention
the Gentleman’s Agreement.153 Roosevelt seemed pleased with both
SEAC and Mountbatten and expressed confidence in the resolution
between the commands, a success that he personally accredited to
Mountbatten; but had he, Churchill and Brooke been misled?154 If
Mountbatten had made reference to the agreement and if Sommervell
had mentioned it to Roosevelt then could the agreement have been
clarified at this stage and the later conflict between the Britain and the
US concerning SEAC operations in Indo-China been avoided? The
essence of the Gentleman’s Agreement was confirmed in a further
verbal agreement between Mountbatten and Chiang Kai-Shek in
September 1944.155 However the questions of the theatre boundaries
and the Gentleman’s Agreement would continue to reverberate in par-
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allel with the matter of French participation in the war in the Far East
throughout 1944 culminating in the spring of 1945.156

On 29 January 1945, Wedemeyer wrote to Mountbatten detailing
his plans to co-ordinate and integrate all Anglo-French-US clandes-
tine operations in Indo-China.157 Halifax was instructed to inform
the US General of the Army, George Marshall, of Roosevelt’s cryptic
approval of Mountbatten’s clandestine operations in case Wede-
meyer continued to create problems over this matter.158 Despite the 
long-standing Gentleman’s Agreement between Mountbatten and 
Chiang Kai-Shek, the senior British liaison officer to China Theatre, 
Lt.-General Adrian Carton de Wiart, felt that ‘only a decision from
the Combined Chiefs of Staff will alter his [Wedemeyer’s] posi-
tion’.159 Despite Chinese reassurances to Britain, Chiang Kai-Shek had
imperial ambitions for Tonkin and therefore often ‘told Mountbatten
one thing and Wedemeyer the other’.160 The growing disagreement
over clandestine operations in Indo-China was complicated further
when two British aircraft were shot down by US night fighters over
Northern Indo-China having failed to give the US in Kunming ‘previ-
ous warning’ of their operation.161 Air Vice Marshal Whitworth-Jones
accepted responsibility on behalf of SEAC and recommended that the
investigation be wound down and ‘sealed lips’ kept on this
tragedy.162 Wedemeyer wrote again to Mountbatten, on 10 February,
in a friendly and gracious tone concerning the growing dispute over
clandestine operations in Indo-China, ‘You and I are 180 degrees
apart with reference to French Indo-China but that requires decisions
on a higher level than our own and I am making appropriate repre-
sentation to clarify and obtain decisions for both of us’.163 Despite
the amicable tone of the letter Wedemeyer had revealed already his
political views in Chungking – that he ‘has been quite unable to
understand why the British Commonwealth holds together, still less
why it should do in the future’.164 French General Jean Boucher de
Crevecoeur was less generous in later commenting that Wedemeyer’s
stance was due to both his German ancestry and his time spent as an
exchange student at the Berlin Military Academy.165 Carton de Wiart
reported to Churchill that ‘Wedemeyer very much resents any activ-
ity on part of SEAC in Indo-China and says they must do nothing
there without his permission’. Ominously he predicted ‘I feel if [this]
situation regards Indo-China is not cleared up very soon it will lead
to considerable trouble’.166 Meanwhile Britain ascertained that the
‘Japanese have completed preparations for the occupation’ of Indo-
China.167
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The War Cabinet COS Committee reiterated Indo-Chinese impor-
tance in post-hostilities planning to British security in Southeast Asia,
‘Indo-China is of the greatest importance since it forms the anchor of
the chain of bases designed to cover Malaya, Burma and North Borneo
and to prevent a serious threat to Australia and India developing …
The security of this alternative chain of bases requires the existence of
stable and friendly regimes in Indo-China and Siam and settled condi-
tions in Malaya’. It predicted that Indo-China would be of specific
importance if Russia established a presence in Southern China, and
that this would require full British, Commonwealth, US and French co-
operation in Indo-China’s defence.168

Eden invited the US Ambassador to China, General Patrick Hurley, to
London en route from Washington to Chungking and the COS asked
for the invitation to be extended to include Wedemeyer so that dis-
cussions could take place concerning operations in Indo-China.169

Wedemeyer declined the invitation.170 On 1 March Churchill wrote to
Eden and Ismay and asked ‘What action do we take?’ on the
Wedemeyer-Mountbatten dispute.171 Roosevelt had not yet approached
Churchill, as Stettinius had indicated in January he would, over polit-
ical and military matters concerning Indo-China but because of
Wedemeyer’s attitude, the Foreign Office conjectured, the Indo-China
question could not be deferred any longer.172 Eden replied to Churchill
three days later. Accentuating that Wedemeyer and Mountbatten spar-
ring on Indo-China would be a ‘constant source of friction between
ourselves and the United States’, Eden suggested that the only course
of action ‘likely to produce a decision’ was a direct approach from
Churchill to Roosevelt. Eden hoped that the President would confirm
‘the oral understanding between Chiang Kai-Shek and Mountbatten’
and that an exchange of ‘intentions, plans and intelligence’ could be
made between Mountbatten and Wedemeyer in all matters of mutual
concern. The Foreign Office asked the COS for its views and Churchill
agreed to ‘consider an approach to the President’ when the Foreign
Office paper and the opinions of the COS had been accumulated.173 If
Churchill had intended to use the Foreign Office-COS consultation to
delay making a decision, this was swiftly countered as both the Foreign
Office paper and the COS views had been prepared during the two days
between Churchill’s initial enquiry to both Eden and Ismay and Eden’s
reply to Churchill on 4 March.174

On 9 March the Japanese launched a coup d’état in Indo-China, over-
throwing the Vichy French regime alongside which it had co-existed.
The French previously had been directly responsible for the adminis-
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tration of Indo-China but were subject to Japanese supervision and
occupation. Most French military resistance was rapidly overcome 
but a force under General Alessandri attempted to retreat to Son La.
The Vietnamese Emperor Bao Dai and Cambodian King Norodom
Sihanouk quickly proclaimed independence within Japanese ‘Greater
East Asia’.175 Two days later Eden again wrote to Churchill concerning
the Mountbatten-Wedemeyer dispute and this time presented him
with the Foreign Office and COS papers. Mountbatten’s activities in
Indo-China were restricted, as proposals put by the British COS to the
US COS concerning greater ‘French participation in the Far Eastern
War, still remained unanswered’ due to the ‘inaction of President
Roosevelt’. Eden doubted if Britain would ‘ever get an answer’ al-
though ambiguity existed because of Roosevelt’s ‘“off the record”’ com-
ments to Halifax concerning his intention ‘to turn a blind eye to such
activities as Admiral Mountbatten may consider necessary’. However,
Wedemeyer insisted that he could not ‘agree to activities in Indo-
China by Admiral Mountbatten without his prior consent in the
absence of instructions from his own higher authorities’ because ‘Indo-
China is in the United States strategic sphere’. Eden acknowledged
that, although Wedemeyer’s stance was ‘technically correct’, Wedemeyer
‘entirely disregards the oral understanding, of which you [Churchill]
are well aware, between Mountbatten and Chiang Kai-Shek’. The COS
supported Eden and the Foreign Office desire that ‘joint confirmation’
by Britain and the US was needed of the Gentleman’s Agreement and
the appropriate liaison arrangements agreed between Wedemeyer and
Mountbatten concerning Indo-China. Similarly the COS agreed that
Britain was ‘not likely to obtain a satisfactory solution except through
your [Churchill’s] personal intervention with the President’.176

The next day, amidst the growing crisis both in Indo-China and
between Mountbatten and Wedemeyer, Churchill decided to act,
although not decisively. He requested a brief from Ismay as to the
course of events within Indo-China since the start of the war.
Churchill appeared unaware as to whether Indo-China was still a
Vichy province, or part of de Gaulle’s France, or if there were French
troops located there. Confusion certainly existed as Indo-China was
the only French area not to rally to support de Gaulle following the
Allied liberation of France, but considering it was co-habitant with
the Japanese this was unsurprising. Churchill concluded: ‘I have not
followed the affairs in the country for some time’.177 At the same
time Massigli approached Eden concerning the crisis and the possibil-
ity of transporting the 600 men of the Corps Leger to the Far East to
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assist in French resistance against the Japanese. Eden reported the
request to Churchill.178

Churchill eventually wrote to Roosevelt five days later and requested
that as Wedemeyer was currently in Washington it would seem appro-
priate to resolve the Mountbatten-Wedemeyer dispute,

as you [Roosevelt] know he [Mountbatten] has an oral understand-
ing with Chiang Kai-Shek that both he and the Generalissimo shall
be free to attack Siam and Indo-China and that the boundaries 
of the two theatres shall be decided when the time comes in 
accordance with the progress made by their respective forces. The
Generalissimo agreed after Sextant [the Cairo Conference] that this
understanding extended to pre-occupational activities.

…
This is a situation from which much harmful friction may spring.

Could not you and I clear it up by jointly endorsing the oral under-
standing which seems a sensible and workable agreement?

Churchill suggested that a mechanism ‘for full and frank exchange 
of intentions, plans and intelligence’ be established between
Wedemeyer and Mountbatten.179 Meanwhile limited French resis-
tance to the Japanese inside Indo-China continued and the War
Cabinet JIC Sub-Committee suggested that SEAC increase supplies 
for French forces fighting in Indo-China.180 In the US, Marshall
requested that British Field Marshal Henry Wilson, Head of the JSM
in Washington, confer with him over the Mountbatten-Wedemeyer
dispute. Wilson held that the CCS never had agreed at the Cairo
Conference which theatre Indo-China was to be placed in.181 He
failed to appreciate that despite this disagreement in reality a deci-
sion had already been made three months before Cairo at the first
Quebec Conference.182 Nevertheless both the COS and Churchill con-
curred with the line that Wilson now proposed to take.183 Ten days
after the Japanese overthrow of the French in Indo-China, Churchill
appeared to want to take decisive action to assist French forces in
Indo-China but instead of raising the matter with Roosevelt he
instructed Wilson to convey to the US COS through Marshall that:
‘The Prime Minister feels that it would look very bad in history if we
were to let the French force in Indo-China be cut to pieces by the
Japanese through shortage of ammunition, if there is anything we
can to do save them. He hopes therefore that we shall be agreed in
not standing on punctilio in this emergency’.184 Eden agreed.185 A
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day later Churchill acted, he instructed Ismay that Mountbatten
should take ‘emergency action’ to assist the French.186 By coincidence
Marshall informed Wilson that US General Claire Chennault had
been ordered to fly ammunition to the French forces.187 Ironically
whilst the policy debate raged between London and Washington, US
Major-General Robert McClure in the absence of Wedemeyer, and
SOE Force 136 had already separately aided the French in Indo-China
before Churchill and Marshall’s intervention, although by 16 March
the US Army Air Force had resumed normal bombing missions 
and would not supply French forces without permission from
Washington.188

On 22 March the limited French resistance in Indo-China requested
further equipment and the resumption of intervention by the US Air
Force. General Alessandri expected that his position at Son La would
fall within two days.189 Five days later, having successfully reinforced
and held Son La with additional French units fleeing the Japanese, the
French requested finances and medical supplies for the besieged
forces.190 The JSM held that ‘it was embarrassing and unfortunate that
the Combined Chiefs of Staff should continue to give the French no
encouragement’.191 Britain arranged to send the money and medical
supplies requested by the French forces in Indo-China.192 Chennault
protested to Marshall about the lack of co-ordination for operations
within Indo-China.193 Marshall informed Wilson ‘“Whatever the differ-
ences which remained unsettled regarding priority rights in Indo-
China operations, it seems to me that Mountbatten’s Headquarters
should at least notify Chungking of what they are doing or we are
riding for a fall out there”’.194

Roosevelt, whilst agreeing to full and frank discussions between
Wedemeyer and Mountbatten, sought in a telegram Churchill’s
approval that ‘all Anglo-American-Chinese military operations in 
Indo-China, regardless of their nature be co-ordinated by General
Wedemeyer’.195 Marshall was in agreement with Roosevelt on this but
continued to hold that Wedemeyer could not actually control such
operations.196 In Washington Hurley regarded US policy on Indo-
China as ‘still nebulous’ and informed Wilson that Britain could expect
more trouble from the ‘President and State Department over Hong
Kong’ and also ‘lend lease equipment being used for recovery of colo-
nial territories’.197 Hurley had been invited to visit London on his
return to China.198 The Foreign Office prepared a brief for the intended
visit. The personal analysis of Hurley considered that his ‘bark is prob-
ably worse than his bite’ but identified that he possessed ‘crude ideas
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about our “imperialism”’. Hurley had already informed the Dutch
Ambassador in Chungking that the US was ‘not going to clear up the
mess for the imperialism of Britain and Holland in the Far East’ and
was suspicious of Anglo-Dutch-French ‘collaboration … to promote
their imperial interests’ whilst ‘keeping the Americans in the dark’.199

However, the brief assumed that because Hurley had been reported as
‘not happy about President Roosevelt’s attitude on Indo-China’ he
would be ‘receptive’ to the British position.200 The eventual meeting
between Hurley and Churchill proved to be an anti-climax. Churchill
noted ‘Hurley seemed to wish to keep the conversation to civil banali-
ties’ and in his meeting with the COS Hurley limited his discussions to
background conditions in Indo-China and would not be drawn on its
‘political outlook’.201

By 31 March Churchill had still not yet replied to Roosevelt’s
telegram concerning the Wedemeyer-Mountbatten dispute. Churchill
admitted to being ‘a little shy of overburdening the President’. He fan-
tasised that the President’s telegram ‘was obviously not his own’ and
regarded that the Mountbatten-Wedemeyer dispute should be settled
at COS level as he considered Roosevelt to be ‘very hard pressed, and 
I like to keep him as much as possible for the biggest things’.202 Three
days later Churchill appeared to relent. He notified Hollis that he was
‘quite prepared to bring this before the President in a day or two’.203

This was an open statement with no indication that he intended to
carry it out. Mountbatten met with Wedemeyer for full and frank dis-
cussions and reminded him that both the US COS and Roosevelt had
previously approved of the Gentleman’s Agreement. Mountbatten
showed Wedemeyer two documents which demonstrated this and it
was agreed that Wedemeyer could veto only operations that clashed
with China Theatre operations.204 Wedemeyer’s subsequent report to
Washington also stated that British operations could not be executed
until approved by Chiang Kai-Shek.205

Churchill at last wrote to Roosevelt on 11 April but by now the
dispute appeared to have been resolved. Churchill notified Roosevelt
that both Mountbatten and Wedemeyer had reached an understanding
concerning SEAC and China Theatre disputes over Indo-China. He pro-
posed that Mountbatten should keep Wedemeyer ‘continually
informed of all … operations since forces of China Command will also
be operating in the same theatre’. Further disputes would be referred to
the CCS. However, Churchill would not subject Mountbatten’s opera-
tions in Indo-China to Wedemeyer’s approval and bluntly warned
Roosevelt that ‘it would look very bad in history if we failed to support
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isolated French forces … or if we excluded the French from participa-
tion in our councils as regards Indo-China’.206 Churchill had boldly
aligned British military and political policy over Indo-China with his
post-Yalta policy of defending the colonial possessions of European
nations. Unfortunately Roosevelt did not have an opportunity to reply
as he died the next day.

Roosevelt’s death and the ascension of Vice-President Harry Truman
to the presidency marked a watershed in US policy and Indo-China in
particular. Truman replied to Churchill that Wedemeyer had reported
that Mountbatten had agreed to notify Wedemeyer of operations. But
Wedemeyer had introduced a new element to the debate that opera-
tions could not be actioned until approved by Chiang Kai-Shek, and if
SEAC operations could not be integrated with China Theatre plans
then Mountbatten would have to withdraw the proposals. Truman
approved Wedemeyer’s report of the resolution as a ‘satisfactory
method of solving the problem’. In case of further problems he agreed
with Churchill that future disputes should be reported through the
respective COS to the CCS and that Wedemeyer had been ‘instructed
to give the French resistance groups such assistance as is practicable
without prejudice to his present or future operations’.207 Churchill
directed Ismay for ‘Action this day’.208 Four days later Ismay informed
Churchill that the COS agreed to trial the resolution detailed in
Truman’s telegram.209 A day later Churchill replied to Truman that he
agreed to trial the proposed resolution.210 Meanwhile, reflecting a per-
ceived change of political attitudes in the US, Churchill believed that
French and Dutch participation in the war against Japan should be dis-
cussed by Eden in Washington.211 Ten days later the COS told
Mountbatten that the CCS had agreed that the Corps Leger would be
sent to Ceylon as soon as possible.212

However, the conflict between Mountbatten and Wedemeyer con-
tinued. This concerned Mountbatten flying sorties to aid French resis-
tance groups in Indo-China.213 Wilson learnt that, in the course of an
examination of theatre boundaries, the US COS appeared unlikely to
object to Indo-China being included as part of an enlarged SEAC.
Despite previous political disputes over Indo-China, Marshall did not
know the current direction of White House thinking on this issue.214

Mountbatten believed that Wedemeyer had ‘introduced new factors
and interpretations’ into the Gentleman’s Agreement with Chiang
Kai-Shek. Wedemeyer held Indo-China ‘of vital importance to the
China Theatre’ and believed that as Commander-in-Chief to Chiang
Kai-Shek he could not agree to the terms of the Gentleman’s
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Agreement as stated by Mountbatten, especially as the Generalissimo
‘desired prior arrangement’ of operations as Supreme Allied Com-
mander China Theatre. Wedemeyer attacked Mountbatten’s interpre-
tation of the agreement as not being ‘in consonance with standard
military practice’.215 Mountbatten replied to Wedemeyer that the
dispute needed to be dealt with ‘officially’.216 Wilson confirmed to
both the COS and Mountbatten that Wedemeyer could only veto
conflicting operations.217 Marshall cautioned Wilson that Hurley was
sending strongly worded anti-British reports to Washington from
Chungking, as was Wedemeyer.218 Marshall remarked to Wilson
‘there must be an extraordinary importance to the clandestine opera-
tions being carried out … to justify the possible creation not only of
ill will but of a feeling that there is a lack of good faith’. Because of
previous correspondence between Churchill and Truman as well as
Marshall and Wilson on this dispute, Marshall did not hold that any-
thing further would be gained if the dispute was brought before the
CCS.219 Wilson was surprised with the idea that there was nothing to
be gained and concluded that ‘there is more in it than meets the
eye’.220 The COS wearily informed Wilson that ‘if Wedemeyer acted
in the spirit of his directive and if good liaison is established in
Chungking, the difficulties would cease’ and asked for Marshall to
‘advise’ Wedemeyer of this.221

Meanwhile in India, Britain arranged for the French to use facilities
to train French colonial administrators and, in China, the OSS (fore-
runner of the CIA) organised equipment and training for the Vietminh
in return for intelligence reports and the rescue of downed US pilots.222

The CIGS, Brooke, raised the question of the transfer of Indo-China
from China Theatre to SEAC with the COS; they agreed that the SEAC
boundaries should be enlarged to include Indo-China.223 Wedemeyer
naturally was opposed to the transfer but the issue was now before the
Potsdam Conference (July 1945) and Indo-China was secondary to the
Pacific Theatre.224 In the European victors’ arena the ambiguities and
distrust appeared to have been mostly forgotten. Truman flattered
Mountbatten that both he and the US COS were ‘grateful … for the
impartial way’ that Mountbatten had managed SEAC and added that
‘we in America regard you in exactly the same light as Eisenhower is
regarded by the British; that is, we really do appreciate your integrity,
and the admirable way which you have run your command’.225 In a
compromise gesture to Chiang Kai-Shek, Truman and the new British
Labour Prime Minister, Clement Attlee, divided Indo-China between
SEAC and China Theatres at the 16th parallel.226
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Resolution

The immediate resolution of Britain’s conflict with the US over the
question of Indo-China lay not within the diplomacy of the Foreign
Office or the political acumen of Churchill but in a transformation in
the nature of Franco-US relations and the opportunity afforded by 
a change in President. Although Roosevelt’s anti-French and anti-
imperial opinions were partially shared by many of his advisers (Hull,
Hurley, Stilwell, Wedemeyer, Admiral Leahy Chief of Staff to the
President and Chairman of the JCS, and General Donovan Head of 
the OSS) the positions taken were not appreciated by large elements 
of the State Department or the armed forces. In February 1943 Roosevelt
received a thesis from the State Department Sub-Committee on
Security Problems that argued for a strong France as an element in US
security policy against a future Soviet threat.227 Initially Roosevelt had
managed to keep the State Department isolated from the Indo-China
debate. However, from 1944 onwards, the State Department ques-
tioned China’s commitment to the Atlantic Charter and as the impor-
tance of China in Roosevelt’s foreign policy declined so too was his
Indo-China policy undermined.228

The White House and the State Department each developed differ-
ent approaches towards Southeast Asia and as a result Roosevelt was
more restricted in his policy ramblings.229 The second Quebec
Conference moved the focus of US policy towards a Pacific island-
hopping strategy and away from SEAC and China Theatre.230 In
October Roosevelt granted diplomatic recognition to the Provisional
French Government. This blunted Roosevelt’s policy.231 France was
reconstituted as a European power and the State Department was able
to restrict Roosevelt further.232 On 1 November the State Department
lobbied Roosevelt to seek further clarification of the Indo-China
policy. Roosevelt decreed that no help was to be given to France over
the Indo-China issue.233 Meanwhile Hull retired and was replaced as
Secretary of State by Stettinius; the European Office of the State
Department appeared to be in the ascendancy.234 In January 1945 the
Secretaries for State, War and Navy met with Presidential Adviser
Harry Hopkins to discuss Roosevelt’s Indo-China policy and the
damage to Franco-US relations.235 Hopkins suggested that there
needed to be a revision not just of US Indo-China policy but also of
the entire US approach towards France. As part of this new approach
Hopkins visited Paris and later in the spring a return visit was made
by Georges Bidault, the French Foreign Minister, to Washington



where he was received by Vice-President Harry Truman. Franco-US
relations appeared to be thawing.236

The Japanese coup of 9 March in Indo-China clarified the Indo-
Chinese issue further. As long as the French had collaborated with
the Japanese, Roosevelt could indulge in anti-colonialism towards
Indo-China.237 Now, symbolically, Indo-China had lost its association
with Vichy France and had become an occupied territory in
Southeast Asia with the French seeking to liberate an occupied people
in the same vein as the British in Burma, Singapore, Malaya and
Hong Kong, and the Dutch in the Netherlands East Indies. De Gaulle
did not miss the opportunity to attack the US attitude towards France
by claiming in true Machiavellian spirit that an anti-French policy
would push France towards Russia.238 The US State, War and Navy
Committee again sought clarification as to US Indo-China policy.239

The State Department wanted a consistent policy towards South-
east Asia but US policy remained locked in dual camps; although
Roosevelt did concede the concept of a conditional French trustee-
ship for Indo-China.240 British Admiral-of-the-Fleet James Sommer-
ville informed Mountbatten that talks with Admiral Ernest King,
Commander-in-Chief of the US Navy, had revealed that the US COS
was not in favour of Roosevelt’s policy of keeping the French out of
Indo-China.241 The Secretary of War, Stimson, challenged Roosevelt’s
control of the trusteeship debate and an OSS report analysing US
policy warned against trusteeship ‘which may provoke unrest and
result in colonial disintegration and may at the same time alienate us
from the European states whose help we need to balance Soviet
power’.242

Roosevelt’s untimely death eased the internal US debate between the
State Department and the White House. The US Army representative
on the State, War and Navy Committee held that a lack of US policy
on Indo-China was a ‘serious embarrassment to the military’ and that
Roosevelt’s interdiction of their debate must be reviewed.243 The San
Francisco Conference (April–June 1945) provided the opportunity for
the external resolution of the Indo-Chinese dispute. Bidault angrily
announced to Stettinius that France did not intend to place Indo-
China under any form of trusteeship, but Stettinius’s amnesia allowed
him to reassure Bidault that ‘the record is entirely innocent of any
official statement of this government questioning, even by implica-
tion, French sovereignty over Indo-China’.244 France’s rehabilitation
appeared to be complete. Stettinius announced that the fifth perma-
nent seat on the UN Security Council had been accorded to France:
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‘The United States welcomes this important step in the return of
France to her rightful place in world affairs’.245 Eden found that the
new President possessed an ‘air of quiet confidence in himself’. Truman
informed Eden ‘“I am here to make decisions, and whether they prove
right or wrong I am going to take them”’.246 John Hickerson, sub Head
European Office of the State Department, revealed to the British dele-
gation that the option of voluntary trusteeship (category C) introduced
at the Yalta Conference had been ‘partly phrased by the State Depart-
ment in order to permit a climb down from the position that President
Roosevelt had taken in conversation as regards Indo-China’. It was
made ‘clear that the State Department felt that President Roosevelt had
gone too far, and that category C was a useful face saver’.247 The US
now required friendship with Britain and France against Russia, in the
new post-war world order.248

A lost opportunity

Historical debate traditionally has focused analysis upon whether or
not the concept of trusteeship died with Roosevelt. Tonnesson has
identified that two distinct schools of thought have emerged. Firstly
the ‘school of lost opportunity’ because trusteeship was neither a
serious factual policy nor continued after Roosevelt’s death. Secondly
the ‘school of continuation’ which argued that as Truman endorsed
the French return it marked a continuation of Roosevelt’s own revi-
sionism towards the subject.249 Interwoven into this has been the idea
that military necessity and British imperial intransigence destroyed a
unique opportunity although it can be argued also that Roosevelt’s ill-
defined policy delayed a French return thereby creating a lost imperial
opportunity.250

Roosevelt’s concept of trusteeship came in two parts. One, an ideo-
logical desire to see independence granted to the colonial peoples,
born from the US anti-imperial subconscious. This continued through-
out the period 1943–50 and physically manifested itself in the US
policy debate towards Indo-China, Indonesia and the Philippines. Two,
a practical policy of trusteeship that was in constant revision as
Roosevelt engaged in the day to day ebb and flow of power brokering
between the Allied powers on both wartime and post-hostility plan-
ning. Roosevelt was politically at his most dangerous when the practi-
cal and the ideological came together. By maintaining these two
streams and not committing himself to a more factual policy Roosevelt
created a situation where, after his death, Truman struggled to produce
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clear directives resulting in some sections of US agencies (China
Theatre and the OSS) continued application of Roosevelt’s anti-French
policy, ‘FDR’s foreign policy had been so personal to himself that it
was doubtful whether Truman or anyone he asked really appreciated
what its “general line” had been’.251 Likewise it is possible that trustee-
ship symbolically aided the Allied cause; internally in the US, trustee-
ship could be used to prove that the US was not fighting a colonial war
on behalf of Britain and France; externally, trusteeship could produce
the hope of freedom from Japanese imperialism and its hollow promise
of Asian nationalism. Certainly this argument was not lost on the
Vietminh leader Ho Chi Minh.

It was because of Roosevelt’s astute political prowess and ability that
trusteeship remained in constant revision and unintegrated into any
formal policy. Roosevelt was well aware of wartime constraints and
complexities both of a physical and a political nature not only within
his own administration but also amongst his allies, most notably the
British.252 Roosevelt’s frequent outbursts on the subject to the US Joint
COS were not just an attack on the British and the French but also an
attempt to win the military and political debates about US mandate
territories and the future of the Japanese Islands. Fortunately, Roosevelt
had the foresight to see that the US would end the war as the only
major creditor nation and therefore the major world power. It would
be ‘an American peace, that belonged to him to dictate its organisa-
tion’.253 Thus he could afford to wait and discuss post-war planning,
reconstruction and politics, only involving trusteeship when it was
really necessary: this partly explains some of his silence and inactivity.
The only eventuality that he had not considered was his death.

However, Britain reacted badly to the trusteeship debate. Roosevelt’s
fluid revisionism, lack of integration and imprecise policy caused par-
ticular discomfort at the Foreign Office: ‘The Americans do not wish us
to recover our previous position in Asia, confuse this wish in their
minds with the principle of self-determination (alias “freedom”) and so
see in every move to recover lost property a similar desire to enslave
native peoples’.254 The Foreign Office was openly sympathetic to the
Free French cause and feared that the French were blatantly being left
out of policy and the decision-making process by the US. The French
were convinced of US plots and obstruction against them in many
areas during the Second World War. Britain rightly suspected that
trusteeship for French Indo-China would be only a first step and that
Roosevelt would use this precedent to dictate trusteeship to other colo-
nial areas including Hong Kong. Roosevelt had to be careful not to
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draw the other colonial powers into an alliance with Britain over
trusteeship and in Britain Churchill was worried that Indo-China and
Foreign Office concern for the French would get in the way of his
special relationship with Roosevelt. The silence on this issue by both
leaders at various stages of the war helped to cool the pressure on a
sensitive area where each others’ personal feelings would have created
further diplomatic problems and anxiety. Similarly the voluntary
trusteeship arrangement agreed at the Yalta Conference was not a
victory for the colonial powers in an attempt to derail trusteeship.
Roosevelt would have no doubt seen the agreement as merely stalling
the inevitable. He could afford to be both pragmatic and magnani-
mous. The US would finish the war as the major Allied creditor, its
power in European reconstruction and the implementation of the UN
would leave plenty of room for manoeuvre.255 Indeed, in what are
often quoted as Roosevelt’s final words on trusteeship before his death
to Charles Taussig, US Adviser on Caribbean Affairs, the President
could afford to be verbally generous to the French but he did not
abandon his ideology or commitment to colonial peoples: ‘indepen-
dence was the ultimate goal’.256 Likewise, Churchill was aware of the
changes that would have to be made to the geopolitical map after the
war. Britain expected and even desired the US to be an active world
power, not wanting the US to return to its position of interwar isola-
tion. An active Anglo-US foreign policy could strengthen Britain
domestically, economically, within the Empire and mitigate against
the fate of rapidly becoming a diminished world power. Foreign Office
intransigence lay also in the belief that planning for a post-war world
was needed and the logic of European history dictated that a strong
France was vital to British security against a threat from Russia or
Germany.257 In addition it was part of a grooming ritual that proved to
itself that Britain was still a world power. US naivety failed to recognise
that European global economic networks would need to be considered
as part of any future debate.258 The Foreign Office was defending impe-
rial interests against dollar imperialism by supporting the French
against the US over Indo-China.

Although by the Potsdam Conference the trusteeship debate for
Indo-China was over, Roosevelt left the legacy of independence for
colonial peoples permanently enshrined as Article 73 of the UN
Charter and on 4 July 1946 the US granted political independence to
the Philippines.259 Trusteeship had never anticipated the growth of
Asian nationalism but the war had invigorated it, thereby creating
problems for returning colonial powers.260 Ironically, had Roosevelt
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lived it has been argued that he would have committed Chinese or US
troops to Indo-China, in fact he had requested that an invasion plan
be developed.261 However, he did not live and Britain had realised its
goals in the trusteeship debate over Indo-China. The Potsdam
Conference was about to throw Britain into greater involvement in the
Indo-China issue with the potential boundary change from China
Theatre to SEAC and the possibility of Allied liberation duties.
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2
Liberation, July 1945–March 1946

The Potsdam Conference charged Britain with ALF duties in Southern
French Indo-China. It would be a mistake to blame the British ALF
Commander, Major-General Gracey, for the complex nature of the
events that unfolded during these duties in Saigon. Britain did not uni-
laterally restore the French in Indo-China. The ALF inherited not just
the anarchic birth pangs of Vietnamese nationalism in Saigon, but also
the responsibility in Indo-China south of the 16th parallel for the
release of Allied prisoners of war, the surrender and evacuation of
Japanese forces, the security of French nationals, law and order, a
Cambodian-Siamese border dispute, and a potential famine. The US
was also responsible along with Britain for the transportation and
equipping of French forces for their return to Indo-China.

Similarly, Britain was limited by the colonial attitude of its French
ally. During the Second World War the British Colonial Office debated
and investigated policies that after the war would lead to the constitu-
tional reform of British colonies in Southeast Asia. Britain had recog-
nised the need for colonial development and chose to base its policies
on collaboration with emergent Asian nationalism, and wanted the
other colonial powers in Southeast Asia to follow a similar course. For
the French and the Dutch the restoration of their respective empires
was more associated with their own national rebirth, and their newly
resurrected political systems made the development of a compromise
difficult to achieve.1 French political difficulties included: the instability
of frequent changes of governments; the rise of the French Communist
Party; the inability of the political left to marry the desire for power
with their political convictions; the retirement of President de Gaulle;
and a conservative High Commissioner, Admiral Thierry D’Argenlieu, in
French Indo-China conducting his own policy removed from the
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French political debate. These factors placed pressures on the French
Assembly and resulted in a failure to agree on a post-war policy for the
French colonies. Britain could not press too hard as the rehabilitation of
France was important for the security and stability of Europe.

British policy towards Indo-China also has to be gauged against the
domestic situation in Britain. Once Germany had been defeated pres-
sure was exerted on the British Government to rebuild, encourage
exports and raise the standard of living. However, Britain had a
number of competing priorities; it was committed under Operation
Python to the demobilisation of British troops, it had assumed large
post-hostility disarmament and peace keeping duties in Europe and
Asia which included the distribution of food. In addition Britain was
bankrupt, the sudden termination of the Lend-Lease Agreement and its
replacement by a post-war reconstruction loan with interest payments
of two percent placed additional burdens on a fragile economy and the
new Labour Government. It was a period when despite Britain’s emer-
gence from the Second World War as one of the victorious Allied
nations, its strategic and economic needs in the Far East required a
rapid re-assessment of its role and expectations in the face of a
financial Dunkirk.2 Britain’s reconstruction crisis and solvency would
lead to a dependency on the US and, with other Western economies, a
state of permanent submission.3 Although colonial development could
have arguably allowed Britain some leverage, vis-à-vis the US, had
greater effort been put into it.

Vietnam

The dropping of the atomic bombs upon Japan cut short the Asian
war for the British and US military planners. The expectation had
been that the war would continue into 1946 as the Allied forces
pushed towards Japan. They were not prepared at the Potsdam
Conference to begin the task of administering a Japanese surrender
and Asian reconstruction. They lacked accurate knowledge of the on-
the-ground situation in many of the areas that they were to liberate.
In such circumstances it is surprising that Mountbatten returned to
Britain for a holiday in the crucial days between the Japanese surren-
der and the implementation of peacekeeping duties in his now
enlarged SEAC.4

The Far East Section of the Foreign Office welcomed the change in
priorities from Europe to Japan, China and Southeast Asia. The prevail-
ing attitude was that ‘Mr Eden, during his regime, neglected the Far

38 Britain and the Origins of the Vietnam War



East for Europe and America’, although Dening noted in Eden’s
defence that ‘he probably had no choice’.5 However, the Foreign Office
was soon to discover that Eden’s replacement as Foreign Secretary,
Ernest Bevin, presented them with new problems as he ‘read with no
great facility and wrote even less’.6 The Foreign Office was adjusting to
Britain’s role as the weakest of the great powers and to an emerging
new role as the leader of the secondary powers, championing liberal-
ism against totalitarianism in the Far East.7

At Potsdam the British COS had hoped that the US COS would
agree to the transfer of all of Indo-China to SEAC.8 However, the
SEAC boundaries were expanded to include only areas of French
Indo-China south of the 16th parallel. This theatre boundary had
been proposed by the US at Potsdam and had been agreed as a com-
promise solution, between Washington and London, to the problem
that had existed throughout the war of whether SEAC or China
Theatre had operational responsibility over Indo-China.9 The French
had offered two divisions for operations in the war against Japan and
the CCS had agreed that the best place to employ these troops would
be in Indo-China. General Marshall asked Mountbatten to accept
these two divisions as part of SEAC. Mountbatten welcomed the offer
and added opportunely that ‘The obvious place to employ them
would be in French Indo-China where he would be relieved of the
necessity of dealing with a problem which could be satisfactorily
only handled by Frenchmen’.10 The Potsdam Conference was symbol-
ically significant for Indo-China. The division proposed by the US
not only divided Indo-China but also Vietnam which was experienc-
ing an indigenous revolution. In Vietnam Britain would be respons-
ible for Southern Annam and Cochinchina. With clear US and British
military support for a French return to Indo-China, the key to the
return would be how well the French resolved this situation and con-
ducted negotiations with the Chinese Nationalist ALF who were
administering the Japanese disarmament and peacekeeping duties in
the north.11

US General Douglas MacArthur, Supreme Allied Commander
Southwest Pacific, held back Mountbatten from landing his ALF
forces until he had formally accepted the Japanese military surrender.
This was in case Allied troops faced a Japanese backlash when they
landed to liberate territories and disarm a proud, and in many cases
undefeated military force.12 The French were eager for the return of
Indo-China, and Massigli, the French Ambassador in London, met
with Mountbatten to push for a return.13 However, Mountbatten was
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to display a cautiousness – especially regarding local nationalists –
that would contribute towards the delay of Allied forces.14 The Chief
of Staff to Force 136 had already warned the War Office in the case of
Malaya that ‘experience has shown, particularly in Greece, that resis-
tance movements must be given clear instructions what to do when
their country is liberated. If they receive no such instructions they
will inevitably cause trouble, and may attempt to seize power in the
principal towns’.15

In the meantime the Vietminh began to assume control inside
Vietnam. A puppet Vietnamese government had been in control under
the guidance of the Japanese since the March coup d’état. With a power
vacuum developing the Vietminh sought to manipulate the situation
and through revolution create an independent Vietnam. A US OSS
team had been working with the Vietminh inside Vietnam since 
16 July to gather intelligence against the Japanese. Reports from the
OSS team stated that the Vietminh was not a communist organ-
isation.16 This was true in part: the Vietminh was not communist 
but rather a broad coalition of Vietnamese nationalist parties of whom
the Indo-Chinese Communist Party was a significant member. On 
6 August the Vietminh declared their intention to disarm the Japanese
before the arrival of the allies and receive the allies as the authority in
control of the country.17 The Second National Congress of the Indo-
Chinese Communist Party met on 13 August and a state of gen-
eral insurrection was proclaimed by the Central Committee of the
Vietminh to seize power in Hanoi.18 Events unfolded rapidly in the
north. A rally was held on 17 August in Hanoi and on 18 August 
the Vietminh seized the weapons of the Garde Indochinoise. The Viet-
minh leader Ho Chi Minh, who was also the leader of the Indo-
Chinese Communist Party, arrived the following day and took control
of Hanoi.19 The Vietminh spread out from Hanoi and seized further
parts of Tonkin, and Emperor Bao Dai abdicated the throne.20

The French attempted to begin reoccupation duties and air-dropped
Commissioners Pierre Messmer and Jean Cédile into Tonkin and
Cochinchina. Both were captured by the Vietminh. The US transported
a further OSS team into Hanoi where they were enthusiastically 
welcomed by Indo-Chinese Communist Party member, Commander of
the Vietnamese Liberation Army and Interior Minister Vo Nguyen Giap
as a US Mission. Several US Officers met with Ho and due to their own
anti-imperial political leanings gave the impression of US support for
the Vietminh regime.21 In an attempt to avoid further embarrassment
the Head of the OSS mission Major Archimedes Patti was ordered 
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not to become associated with either side. Jean Sainteny, French
Commissioner to Tonkin and Northern Annam, described Patti as ‘a
rabid anti-colonialist’.22

Events came to a head, on 2 September, when the Vietminh
declared independence and proclaimed the DRVN. By coincidence on
the same day the allies received the formal Japanese surrender and
rioting broke out against French nationals in Vietnam.23 The rioting
continued for two days with Japanese forces doing nothing to
prevent the situation. This led to claims that the Japanese had aided
the Vietminh. Up to three thousand Japanese soldiers deserted within
three months of the surrender. Most joined non-Vietminh nationalist
groups, although about five hundred joined the Vietminh.24 Major-
General Gracey had to remind the Japanese of Truman’s ‘Order
Number One’ to maintain law and order until ALF forces arrived. On
6 September the first British troops arrived in Saigon. Four days later,
in London, Bevin wrote on Dening’s cable concerning Gracey’s entry
into Saigon: ‘I regard this as an important one to watch’.25 The power
vacuum was caused by three factors: the delay in the Allied occupa-
tion; the lack of Japanese determination to maintain control; and the
inability of local institutions (the mandarins) to control political
affairs. The power vacuum allowed Ho to declare independence and
form a government with himself as President and Prime Minister in
the region north of the 16th parallel. It demonstrated how he could
become the leader of a national resistance struggle against both
Japanese and French colonialism. This legitimised the Vietminh
struggle in the eyes of the local population, although it would be a
mistake to attribute the rise of nationalism solely to a power
vacuum.26

Meanwhile, de Gaulle was in Washington for talks with Truman. De
Gaulle assured the US President that steps would be taken towards the
early independence of French Indo-China.27 This appeared to reflect
the more liberal stance that the Provisional French Government had
taken since their declaration on Indo-China in March 1945. The State
Department ‘fully approve[d] of the continuance of French sover-
eignty’.28 The Government of India’s External Affairs Department con-
tacted the Secretary of State for India in London to solicit clarity
regarding Britain’s policy for Indo-China. He was asked if it was ‘His
Majesty’s Government policy to facilitate [the] re-establishment of
French influence in French Indo-China’.29 The Secretary of State
replied that this was correct.30 Mountbatten contacted D’Argenlieu and
enthusiastically welcomed French forces south of the 16th parallel that
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had been placed in SEAC. He promised ‘to do my best as an Allied
Commander to look after French interests’.31

British peacekeeping operations had solely military boundaries and
objectives. Dening warned that Britain would have to be careful in
Indo-China lest it be accused of political involvement by the Far East
or US.32 South of the 16th parallel, unlike the north of the country, a
patchwork of different Vietnamese nationalist groups had a tentative
hold on power in Saigon.33 None had the resources or skill to unite the
different factions in the city, let alone in Cochinchina. The Vietminh
south of the 16th parallel had tenuous operational ability and lacked
reliable communication with Hanoi, whereas the Cao Dai and Hoa Hao
sects possessed large support and quantities of firearms.34 British peace-
keepers, under Gracey, conducted their duties in a power vacuum until
the French military could return. Cochinchina had previously pos-
sessed special status in the French Empire, closer to that of the metro-
pole. Saigon, with its large French population, represented a difficult
powder keg of ambition in September 1945 with Vietnamese national-
ism, communism and opportunism competing with a French colonial
desire to reassert power. Gracey’s military rule prevented the break-
down of law and order, and the anarchy which would have resulted
had the colonialists and Vietnamese been left alone. In the north the
situation was more clear-cut with Ho’s ascendancy in Hanoi and the
proclamation of independence.

Following the British arrival in Saigon an uneasy peace initially
ensued but after 11 days the Vietminh called a general strike and
British and French troops were forced to occupy key buildings. Dening
foresaw that there would be local opposition to the return of the
French, and demonstrations broke out against British troops on 
19 September.35 Gracey warned the Vietminh of his intention to issue a
proclamation to restore law and order. Two days later the proclamation
was issued. This banned public demonstrations and meetings, allowed
only British and Allied troops to carry arms, instated newspaper cen-
sorship and a curfew. British forces operated the public utilities and the
Saigon population was fed with help from the Allied forces. A further
two days later, French forces began a counter revolution and occupied
significant administration buildings in Saigon.36 Gracey’s actions were
welcomed by General Philippe Leclerc, the French Commander-in-
Chief, who informed the French Minister for War ‘that General Gracey
had in my opinion taken the best possible measures in the circum-
stances because if he had shown any weakness the situation might
have become critical. As yet no clashes have occurred’.37 In Gracey’s
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opinion ‘no effective civil government exists’ and Vietminh claims to
the contrary in the circumstances were ‘childish’; i.e. ‘no legal process
exist[ed]’.38 Mountbatten urgently cabled Gracey that the proclamation
was contrary to the orders issued to him; it made him therefore now
responsible for all of Indo-China south of the 16th parallel. However,
Mountbatten supported Gracey’s proclamation as he was ‘the man on
the spot’.39 At a meeting with Mountbatten, General William Slim,
Commander-in-Chief ALF SEAC and the French Governor-General des-
ignate Jean Cédile, Gracey acknowledged that he was restricted to
using British troops within the Saigon vicinity but that this did not
absolve him from the law and order responsibilities, maintained by
Japanese forces acting in accordance with his orders, in the rest of
Southern Indo-China. Mountbatten replied that as a result of actions
in Greece the British Government did not want British casualties in
operations which were not a British responsibility, nor did it want to
intervene in the politics of another country; the responsibility was
France’s ‘who must do it with their own troops’.40

From Hanoi, Ho telegrammed to the Foreign Ministers Conference in
London to inform them of the establishment of the DRVN and
appealed for aid to alleviate the famine conditions in the north.41

Ho then met with US Brigadier-General Gallagher in Hanoi, the OSS 
team appeared to remain on good relations with the Vietminh. On 
24 September Ho issued his second appeal to Truman.42 This was prob-
ably the only appeal to reach the White House, as it had been inserted
as a paragraph in an OSS report.43 Gallagher met with Ho for a second
time five days later and the conversation focused on Allied government
policy toward the DRVN. Gallagher tried to allay Ho’s fear that
Vietnam was merely a ‘conquered territory’ despite knowing that the
US had agreed to a return of French sovereignty.44 As the French con-
tinued their coup in the south the DRVN Foreign Minister cabled
Attlee to protest against the British role in the coup.45

The British were worried about the explosive situation in Saigon.
John Lawson, Secretary of State for War, met with Mountbatten, Slim
and Gracey to discuss the situation. It was agreed that Gracey’s forces
would maintain law and order until the French could take over. ‘Mr
Lawson said it was fundamental of [sic] His Majesty’s Government
not to interfere in the internal affairs of non-British territories and he
appreciated that the instructions issued from London made this
extremely difficult in French Indo-China; a single slip might well
have grave repercussions’. Mountbatten told Lawson that he had
received a telegram from Tom Driberg, a Labour MP on a tour of
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Southeast Asia, offering his services to the Vietminh southern gov-
ernment to aid reconciliation. Lawson decided that the offer should
be welcomed but that no authority should be given to Driberg.46

Driberg’s offer was not well received within SEAC where it was feared
that such an advance could be used for propaganda and aggravate an
already delicate political situation.47 It was felt that in his capacity as
an MP such action would be viewed with suspicion by the French.48

Fortunately time was against Driberg. The offer only reached
Mountbatten and Lawson on the day that Driberg had to return to
Britain. However, Mountbatten had other ideas about the usefulness
of Driberg and began a personal correspondence with him.
Mountbatten wrote to Driberg following the meeting with Lawson
and flattered him that although the offer to aid reconciliation had
come too late he had persuaded Lawson to approve of it being
accepted. He went on to praise the reasonableness of the Vietminh in
agreeing to a cease-fire on 1 October and renewing this on the 
3 October. In contrast he wrote ‘If only the French will be reasonable
and come forward with an imaginative offer, the war in Indo-China
can be over. If it is continued through French intransigence, I hope it
will be made abundantly clear that it is nothing to do with Southeast
Asia [Command]’. Finally, Mountbatten added that if he had been
given a ‘free hand’ in Indo-China and the Netherlands East Indies 
as he was in Burma, then they both would have been solved. He
lamented that it was difficult to leave the political control to other
nations when the British were militarily in charge of the situation.49

Later in their correspondence Mountbatten would use his relation-
ship with Driberg for political purposes. He urged Driberg to raise
questions in the House of Commons concerning issues that
Mountbatten regarded as unproductive – the size, cost and empire-
building at the SACSEA Headquarters in Singapore.50

The emphasis to alleviate the situation was now upon Britain and
the US to transport French forces rapidly to Indo-China. The JPS in
London continued to support the British troop build-up. It insisted
that this was to be concentrated in Saigon and that Gracey should
leave the rest of the country to the French and only assist where neces-
sary.51 SEAC began talks with the Vietminh.52 H.N. Brain, Foreign
Office Representative, reiterated to the Vietminh that Britain’s position
was one of neutrality and that it was not the government’s intention
to use British forces for political purposes. He stated that ‘the United
Nations have decided that it will not recognise a change of sovereignty
of any territory which has taken place by force during the war’. Brain
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coaxed that the UN was committed to the development of self-
government for colonial peoples.53 A cease-fire was agreed in Saigon on
2 October. To boost troop numbers Mountbatten used Japanese prison-
ers of war to keep order.54 He lobbied London and reminded the
government of the impossible situation in Southern Vietnam.55 He
requested additional shipping and troops including the French Ninth
Colonial Division.56 Attlee asked Major-General Hollis for a report on
the situation in Indo-China. Hollis reported that on arrival ‘Gracey
found that the situation was not beyond control but that the Annam
Government contributed a direct threat to law and order’.57 Attlee
decided to bring the Indo-Chinese situation and Hollis’s report to the
Defence Committee for discussion on 5 October.58 In the meantime,
Attlee asked Hollis for further clarification regarding the movement of
the French Ninth Colonial Division and what could be done regarding
radio broadcasts from Hanoi. Hollis replied that, according to the COS,
to accelerate the French division would either mean that Britain had to
accept a delay of three months in the return of the 12,000 Indian
troops due to leave the Mediterranean in October, or a similar delay 
of the drafts of 6000 British troops from Britain to India. In addi-
tion, there would be a delay of about a month for any shipping sent 
to Saigon to return to India and continue Operation Python demobil-
isation duties. Regarding Hanoi radio, Wedemeyer took action on
Mountbatten’s request to prevent unhelpful broadcasts from Hanoi.59 

In Whitehall, the Defence Committee debated the need to accelerate
movements of French troops to Indo-China due to the imposition that
this would place upon Operation Python and other shipping require-
ments. The CIGS, Brooke, in response to a question by Attlee, thought
that it was too early to foretell the direction of events in Indo-China:
‘He recommended that the situation was not at present sufficiently
serious to pay the expense involved in speeding up the arrival of the
extra French division by one month only’. However Oliver Harvey,
Assistant Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office, said that the Foreign
Office was anxious to speed up the arrival of the French division and
return law and order to the French but that France had not raised the
prospect of acceleration. The Prime Minister sided with Brooke. Attlee
concluded that the situation did not warrant a change to the schedule
of French troop movements to Indo-China, therefore condemning
Gracey to a further period of uncertainty regarding the role of the
ALF.60 The JPS felt that Britain would legally remain responsible for law
and order but that British commitments should be limited to a mini-
mum and thereafter handed over to the French. The Foreign Office
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held that if Mountbatten announced that Britain had only military
objectives in Indo-China then this might encourage revolutionary
activities. The JPS agreed. The Foreign Office suggested that an announce-
ment should be made along the lines that Mountbatten would not tol-
erate activities that threatened the implementation of tasks or security.
Again the JPS concurred.61 The COS supported the Foreign Office rec-
ommendation, anxious to avoid negative French reaction to events due
to the need for their support in wider security issues.62 Bevin believed
that Mountbatten’s statement was important in defining Britain’s 
role in Indo-China, but that it was difficult to defend the differ-
ences between the British role in the Dutch East Indies and French
Indo-China.63

Whilst the British Government deliberated the delicate situation in
which it found itself, the Vietminh made it clear in a broadcast where
it believed the current uncertainty in the south stemmed from.

The British delegation is entirely responsible for the bloodshed in
Vietnam which heralds a third world war. The cowardly French
Imperialists could not start trouble within Vietnam without the
support of the British delegation.

…
We officially bring to the notice of the world the bloodshed

which is about to occur in our land. A deadly war is about to begin
on our land and it will only be due to the British delegation which
has oppressed us, favoured the French traitors and thought only of
her interests in the Far East.64

The British Civil Affairs Agreement with France was signed in London
on 9 October. This gave France administration of Indo-China below
the 16th parallel.65 John Sterndale Bennett, Head of the Far Eastern
Department at the Foreign Office, questioned SEAC ability to deal with
the political and economic problems throughout Southeast Asia.66

Mountbatten took personal charge of the situation in Indo-China and
met with Gracey and Leclerc at Rangoon to formulate a policy for the
difficult circumstances on the ground.67 A day later the Vietminh broke
its cease-fire agreement. The British were caught again between the
aspirations of the French and the Vietminh. Slim questioned the direc-
tives from the JPS to Gracey as being unworkable and the situation was
poised to deteriorate even further.68 Mountbatten passed to the British
Government Vietminh demands for the immediate restoration of the
Vietminh authority in Saigon, the rearming of the Annamites and the
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disarming of the French. Mountbatten urged Gracey to avoid claims of
the numbers of Annamese killed or ‘giving the world the impression
that we are threatening to use all weapons of war at our disposal. …
That is one way to lose the sympathy of public opinion in Europe and
America’. Likewise, Mountbatten reminded Gracey that he was not
allowed to authorise any handouts or interviews to the press.69

Mountbatten and Slim urged the Cabinet to accelerate the arrival of
the French Ninth Colonial Division.70 A further report from the
Vietminh in Saigon to Britain stated that ‘France by her selfish policy
has lost her rights in French Indo-China and in [the] Pacific generally.
[The] Vietminh has proved the right and ability of [the] people of
Indo-China to rule themselves’.71 Truman complicated the political
climate by claims in his Navy Day Address that all people prepared 
for self-government should be permitted to choose their own form of
government.72

On 24 October Bevin responded to a question in the House of
Commons with a statement on the situation in Indo-China. This was 
a mixture of ‘half truths and untruths: it was a louche statement of
lies’.73 Bevin’s statement was a bland synopsis of events since August.
The Foreign Secretary’s oratory side-stepped the gravity of the situation
in the south and it reiterated Attlee’s desire not to become ‘involved in
the administration or the political affairs of non-British territories’. He
concealed the political situation from the House by claiming that the
‘liberal attitude’ of the French Government was ‘reflected in the very
conciliatory manner in which the local French representatives have
dealt with the Annamite leaders’. Bevin discharged the Government’s
responsibility by concluding that ‘every effort is being made to expe-
dite the movement of French troops to Saigon’.74 Bevin’s performance
was symbolic of the Labour Government’s policy towards Indo-China,
it was a minor concern in an era when Britain was still unsure where
its economic and political post-war role lay.

Only when Gracey’s responsibilities are viewed in the light of the
complex situation in Indo-China and the restraints imposed upon him
by a difficult international situation, faced with limited British
resources, can it be understood how misrepresented his actions have
been. Gracey has been vehemently attacked and blamed for the
Vietnamese loss of life.75 Yet the wider dimensions of the burden
facing Gracey in September and October 1945 and the unworkable
nature of the directives that Gracey received from the JPS in London
conspired against him.76 The nature of the JPS directives was un-
surprising considering Bevin’s parliamentary performance and the
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government’s disorientation as to relevant post-war strategy and 
priorities. Attlee already had confused SEAC by denying a statement 
by Lawson that British troops were being used to support French
interests.77 Gracey worked within British military rules, the Hague con-
vention and international law.78 He was praised by Leclerc for his
actions but this did not mean that Gracey approved of the French coup
or their methods. Promises made to Gracey by the French to use a
minimum of force during the coup had proved false.79 Gracey was
deeply troubled by the morality of French operations. In a letter to
Slim, Gracey described Leclerc’s operations against the Vietminh as
being pursued ‘with much unnecessary brutality’. He noted that: ‘The
French troops are leaving a pretty good trail of destruction behind
them, which will result in such resentment that it will become progres-
sively more difficult for them to implement their new policy, and, I am
convinced, will result in guerrilla warfare, increased sabotage and arson
as soon as we leave the country’. Gracey was troubled by the attitude
of the French, the resentment that they were building, and the future
of the political process towards self-government. The Japanese troops
were also troubled by the actions of the French and requested that all
orders to their forces be given by British rather than French officers as
they found it ‘increasingly difficult to carry out the orders resulting
from their [French] schemeless plans’. Gracey agreed with the Japanese
assessment, writing that: ‘The last is, alas, so true about the implemen-
tation of their plans’.80 However, Mountbatten was willing to play a
double game with the French. He was eager to assure D’Argenlieu that
SEAC forces were honoured to serve in close co-operation with the
French but pressed Gracey that any unsavoury jobs of military neces-
sity should be left to the French.81

In October the US withdrew participation in SEAC and terminated
the OSS mission to Hanoi, although four additional US missions
remained in Hanoi.82 The US was wary of imperial entanglement and
was also readjusting its priorities in a post-war world. Fifty thousand
US troops were sent to China to oversee peace-keeping duties between
the communists and the nationalists in the Chinese Civil War.83 Ho
appealed to Stalin, Attlee, Truman and de Gaulle, warning of French
attacks against DRVN.84 By November Ho, aware of the changing US
priorities and of Western suspicion of communism, dissolved the Indo-
Chinese Communist Party, which went underground.85 The Vietminh
could now be seen as a broad non-communist nationalist coalition
fighting for independence. This provoked the question that was later to
haunt both US and British policy makers as to whether the Vietminh
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were nationalist, Titoist or Stalinist. Ho still continued to lobby the US
for diplomatic recognition.86 In December the US withdrew all of its
personnel from the DRVN.87 US disassociation was interpreted as
covert support for colonialism.88

Meanwhile the British in Saigon learnt that a Russian mission of
seven members was expected to arrive in Hanoi.89 Colonel Walker-
Chapman, on a trip to Indo-China, visited Hanoi in December where
he found the Vietminh to be communist and Ho a ‘friend’ and ‘disci-
ple’ of Lenin. Walker-Chapman held two interviews with Ho in which
Ho stated that as a last resort the Vietminh could retire to guerrilla
warfare against the French. Walker-Chapman compared the zeal dis-
played by Ho’s youth movement to that of the Hitler Youth. Whilst
Walker-Chapman was in Hanoi a signal was received at the British
Mission to arrest Indian Nationalists based in Hanoi. The Chinese
loaned the British one platoon of military police and on 23 December
General Chatterjee, Premier of the Indian National Movement of
Liberation, and seven officers were arrested.90

As British operations began to be reduced and replaced by the
French, Mountbatten was pleased to be informed by Gracey that
British officers were no longer commanding Japanese forces. Lord
Halifax reported from Washington that US public opinion had been
incensed at the use of Japanese troops by SEAC and Mountbatten
feared a Western public opinion backlash and political repercussions.91

Asian public opinion was already strained. In Ceylon and India there
was strong support for Pan-Asian nationalism. The Secretary of State
for the Colonies advised the Governor of Ceylon to issue a statement
in support of the evolution of self-government but told him that
Mountbatten ‘had to use force to meet violence by the extremists’.92

Nevertheless, the State Council in Ceylon unanimously passed a
motion in support of the struggle of the peoples of Indonesia and
Indo-China.93

Mountbatten informed Gracey that he would tell the CIGS, Brooke,
how skilfully and tactfully Gracey had handled the situation in Indo-
China.94 Mountbatten received the formal surrender and disarmament
of Japanese forces in Indo-China and was given a gift of a Samurai
sword. He sent the Samurai sword as a present to Attlee on behalf of
SEAC and used the opportunity to protest to the Prime Minister
regarding the problems that SEAC had experienced in Indo-China.
Mountbatten cryptically wrote that the problems were ‘not made any
easier by the extraordinary attitude of some of the leading Allied per-
sonalities’.95 Attlee replied thanking Mountbatten for the gift on
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behalf of the forces in SEAC but sagely did not mention anything
regarding Mountbatten’s accusatory outburst.96 By contrast Mount-
batten in his continued correspondence with Driberg boasted ‘I am
rather proud of French Indo-China since I think I have succeeded in
carrying out the British commitment with more success than any of
the prophets forecast’.97

On Christmas Day Britain began to withdraw its forces from Indo-
China, and on New Year’s Day 1946 Mountbatten and D’Argenlieu
issued a joint declaration of French responsibility for law and order
south of the 16th parallel.98 The French, grateful at SEAC’s success in
Southern Indo-China, expressed the desire to award military decora-
tions to the British forces. Brain’s replacement as British Consul-
General in Saigon, E.W. Meiklereid, warned that the political
implication of the awards would be that Britain was receiving them for
putting the French back into Indo-China.99 At SEAC headquarters
Gibson wrote to Mountbatten’s secretary that ‘Suspicion of our
hypocrisy and possible dishonesty in this matter would be intensified
by the acceptance of purely military decorations on the accomplish-
ment of what has been stated to be purely pacific tasks here’.100

Jawaharlal Nehru in an address to the Indian Congress compared
British action in Indo-China to Nazi intervention in Spain.101 The
Governor-General in New Delhi contacted the Secretary of State for
India and expressed that whilst from a military point of view he did
not object to the awards, from a political point of view he considered
the decorations an embarrassment especially as the Indian National
Assembly had just passed a motion protesting at the continued
employment of Indian troops in Indo-China. He advised that not to
accept the awards could be construed as a snub by the French and
therefore felt that awards should be restricted to acts of bravery and
presented after the end of March when most of the British forces
would have been withdrawn for over two months.102 The British
Government, eager to avoid political embarrassment over the issue,
replied that ‘the King’s Regulations do not permit our forces to accept
decorations for actions taken after the official date of the armistice’.
Mountbatten reluctantly informed D’Argenlieu.103

In the meantime a row had erupted between Mountbatten and
Dening. Mountbatten reported this to Whitehall. When Dening saw
the telegram Mountbatten had sent he was so incensed that he wrote
directly to Bevin to complain about Mountbatten’s ‘mixture of fiction
and malice’. He protested that Mountbatten had ineptly orchestrated
political policy within SEAC. In the Netherlands East Indies, Dening
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asserted that Mountbatten’s ‘open advocacy of the Indonesian cause’
and ‘his harmful utterances against the Dutch’ were responsible for the
complicated situation in which SEAC found itself – SEAC liberation
forces were caught up in violence between the returning Dutch
colonial regime and the aspirations of the Indonesian nationalists that
had used the sudden power vacuum at the end of World War Two to
proclaim independence. Although Dening acknowledged to Bevin that
he could not now remain as Mountbatten’s Political Adviser, the Dutch
Lt.-Governor-General, Dr Van Mook, had asked that he stay until the
British Ambassador arrived and therefore not leave Dutch SEAC issues
in the hands of Mountbatten. Comparing the roles of Foreign Office
staff and the military personnel at SEAC Dening informed Bevin ‘I am
not, however, satisfied to leave my staff at the tender mercies of the
Supreme Allied Commander and his headquarters which has now
attained a standard of inefficiency which makes it a by-word’. On Indo-
China, Dening said that Mountbatten had ‘consistently ignored’ Brain,
his Foreign Office Representative, for the last 18 months. Dening com-
mented that his experience in the last two and a half years had led him
to conclude that Mountbatten was only impressed by superior rank.
Dening pushed for an early decision on the appointment of a special
commissioner whose rank would be above that of an ambassador so
that Foreign Office policy would not be hindered. Finally, Dening
stated that Mountbatten had never taken him on any journey outside
SEAC where political questions had been involved, except for the Cairo
Conference which he attended at the request of the British Repre-
sentative in the China Theatre, General Carton de Wiart. Dening com-
plained that he was even unable to brief Mountbatten prior to such
meetings as he often did not learn of the circumstances until after the
event.104 Bevin, aware that the political situation would be resolved 
by the forthcoming appointment of a special commissioner, side-
stepped the conflict and asked Dening to settle his differences with
Mountbatten amicably.105

Ho did not give up in the face of an imminent French return to the
south. China was still responsible for ALF duties in the north and the
Chinese were content to work alongside the Vietminh. The DRVN pro-
vided China with a political counterbalance to the French in a com-
plex triangular relationship in which China never recognised the
DRVN.106 On 6 January 1946 the DRVN held elections in the north for
a national assembly, to add democratic legitimacy to its cause.107

Meiklereid observed that the election was ‘purely a political move 
principally for external consumption’, probably to impress the US, and
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that it was backed by the Chinese.108 Chinese encroachment into
Southeast Asia had been a fear of the Foreign Office despite Chiang
Kai-Shek’s pledge in August 1945 that China had no territorial designs
on Indo-China.109 China might have had no territorial ambitions but it
could still possibly regard Indo-China and Southeast Asia as an area of
political intrigue and influence. Again Ho cabled the US for support
and recognition.110 Meanwhile, the size of the expected Russian
mission to Hanoi doubled. Britain learnt that fourteen rooms in the
Metropole Hotel plus a large villa had been now allocated for their 
purposes.111 However, the British ALF handed over the guarding of 
the Japanese to the French, and Gracey departed Indo-China on 
28 January.112 Remaining British ALF tasks were performed by a British
Interservice Mission, and on 5 February Leclerc declared at a press con-
ference that Cochinchina and Southern Vietnam had been completely
pacified.113

The US had not completely abandoned Ho and sent a special fact-
finding mission to see him in Hanoi between 14–24 February, but US
priorities continued to change.114 Policy makers were coming to 
terms with a possible Soviet threat. George Kennan telegrammed to
Washington from Moscow a dispatch on US policy towards Russian
nationalism since World War Two. Kennan asserted that there was no
permanent resolution possible with Russia and that this therefore left
no choice for the US but to build up British and US forces.115 The Greek
civil war that began in May vindicated this choice and as a conse-
quence the US and the British supported the monarchists against the
communists. The US and Russia also clashed over the presence of
Russian troops in Iran.116 Churchill highlighted the growing world
divisions with his prophetic iron curtain speech delivered at Fulton in
Missouri.117

Although Ho had succeeded in directing nationalist aspirations in
Hanoi and maintained the government of the DRVN, his position was
still not yet secure. There were various factions in Vietnamese national-
ism and Ho did not have all of the popular support of all of them.
When it was reported that Ho was in negotiation with the French,
demonstrations took place in Hanoi against Ho’s leadership.118 As the
demonstrations continued it emerged that opposition to Ho in the
north was principally by the Vietnam Quoc Dan Dong nationalist
party; one demonstration even called for the return of the ex-Emperor
Bao Dai as President.119

In the meantime a Sino-Indo-Chinese Relations Agreement was
signed between France and China. In the agreement the Chinese
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Nationalist Government agreed to hand back Northern Vietnam to the
French in exchange for the termination of French extra-territorial priv-
ileges in China.120 Similarly, French Indo-China was removed from
SEAC. Ho concluded initial negotiations with the French, and the 
Ho-Sainteny Agreement was signed between the French and the Viet-
namese, although D’Argenlieu announced that this did not apply to
Cochinchina as this was a separate state.121 In the agreement France
recognised the Vietnamese republic as a free state with its own govern-
ment, parliament, army and finances but as part of the Indo-Chinese
Federation within the French Union. The Union of Tonkin, Annam
and Cochinchina would be discussed at a later date. The Vietnamese
would receive the French army peacefully. Foreign relations and future
status would be discussed at a future conference.122 In Laos French
Forces reoccupied the capital Vientiane and defeated the Lao Issara
nationalists. On 16 March a large French naval and military force
arrived in Hanoi.123 Indo-China was no longer in SEAC and therefore
the operation was entirely French. Mountbatten and SEAC were not
involved and they were only given the relevant information by the
French in late February.124 Ho, desperate to preserve Vietnamese
nationalism and the DRVN, sought diplomatic recognition from
Britain.125 Whilst the British Government considered its response the
Northern Indo-Chinese press accused France of bad faith and reported
that Ho’s political position was under pressure from extremists.126

Britain resisted the pressure and declined to accord recognition due to
the ongoing nature of Franco-Vietnamese negotiations.127 The French
were duly informed of the Vietnamese request and the British
response.128 Meanwhile the US opened a consulate in Saigon and
sought to improve relations with French Indo-China.129 The US Consul
Charles Reed acknowledged ‘the general unpopularity of Americans in
French Indo-China who are blamed for being responsible for the situa-
tion in North[ern] French Indo-China by insisting [at the Potsdam
Conference] in making the Chinese responsible for the disposal of the
Japanese in that area’.130

Cambodia

In direct contrast to the violent situation that had developed in the
British ALF administered areas of Southern Annam and Cochinchina,
the British ALF in Cambodia were easily able to assimilate power from
the Japanese and remove the Cambodian Nationalist Prime Minister
Son Ngoc Thanh. As had happened in the rest of French Indo-China the
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Japanese had overthrown the French in the coup of 9 March 1945. On
13 March, in response to the Japanese, the Cambodian King Norodom
Sihanouk declared Cambodian independence, co-operation with the
Japanese and annulment of all Franco-Cambodian agreements. The
independence proclaimed by Sihanouk was in reality relative and
largely symbolic. The Japanese remained in control of Cambodia replac-
ing the French as the colonial power. However, under the guidance of
the Japanese, Cambodian nationalism had the opportunity to evolve.131

In May, Thanh, former adviser to the Cambodia nationalist newspaper
Nagara vatta, was brought back from exile in Japan and made Foreign
Minister.132 Thanh, not content with the direction of Sihanouk’s regime
or of Sihanouk’s preparations to resist the return of the French and safe-
guard Cambodia’s independence, became Prime Minister after the failed
anti-royalist coup of 9–10 August.133

Thanh’s leadership was dynamic but short-lived. Its failure had little
to do with the arrival of the British in Phnom Penh but more with
Thanh’s inability to carry the support of the Cambodian elite, even
members of his own cabinet, for his policies. Thanh sought to main-
tain Cambodian independence and prevent the return of the French.
Therefore, on 2 September, in an attempt to gain Vietnamese support,
he recognised the government of the DRVN and permitted it to estab-
lish a mission in Phnom Penh.134 Thanh’s government contacted the
DRVN several times in September 1945 and accepted proposals for talks
to co-ordinate resistance to the French. A Cambodian delegate was dis-
patched for the talks but negotiations stalled at the Cambodian pre-
condition for the return of the historically lost Travinh and Soc Trang
provinces.135 Thanh’s association with Asian nationalism was not
limited to the Japanese or the DRVN; he also sent emissaries to seek
Chinese and Siamese aid.136 Thanh tried to reinforce his own position
and legitimacy by organising a nationalist demonstration of 30,000 in
support of his policies in Phnom Penh. A referendum was held in
which there were ‘allegedly 541,470 votes in favour of independence’
and only ‘two’ against.137 Desperate to preserve independence Thanh
organised his own armed militia, the Green Shirts, to fight the French.
Demonstrating where real authority lay, though, the Japanese selected
Thioum Muong to lead the militia.138 The militia was created on 
31 July whilst Thanh was still Foreign Minister and by September num-
bered 800 troops armed and in uniform, paid for by exploiting
Cambodia’s forests.139

Meanwhile, with the dangerous situation and limited British resources
in Saigon, Gracey cabled Mountbatten on 25 September that ‘Cambodia
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has no strong militant anti-French element at the moment and appears
passive’.140 With the continuing problems in Vietnam in mind, three
days later Gracey again raised the issue of Cambodia at a meeting with
Mountbatten. Gracey, worried that British intervention in Cambodia
would have similar consequences as in Vietnam, suggested that the
best way to handle the situation in Cambodia was to ‘condone the past
actions of the P.M. [Thanh] and to enlist his support; in fact to treat
him in the same manner that we had dealt with Aung San in Burma’ –
to work with the nationalist movement. Mountbatten agreed with this
political solution. It was decided that Cédile would settle the situation
in Phnom Penh with Thanh and that French troops would take over
from the Japanese, thereby sparing Gracey’s limited resources from
involvement in Cambodia.141 However, the plan was not put into
action. At a meeting later on the same day with Lawson, Mountbatten
was told that the British Government did not want ‘to interfere in 
the internal affairs of non-British territories’. Lawson empathised ‘that
the instructions issued from London made this extremely difficult in
French Indo-China’.142 The French were now responsible for Thanh.
British forces would have to go to Phnom Penh solely to perform
Japanese surrender duties whilst maintaining a difficult position of
neutrality neither to endorse Thanh nor to turn him over to the
French. However, it transpired that it would be the Cambodian elite
and members of Thanh’s own cabinet that would decide his immediate
fate.

Thanh, in seeking to ally himself and Cambodian independence
with the DRVN in order to prevent the return of the French, had
unwittingly alienated himself from the rest of the Cambodian popu-
lation. The Vietnamese like the Siamese to the west had been
Cambodia’s traditional enemy. Cambodia had long feared colonisation
by one or other of its more powerful Southeast Asian neighbours and
at various stages in its history had been subject to programmes of
Siamese and Vietnamese incursion. By associating Cambodian nation-
alism with the DRVN Thanh had ignored the basic logic of Cambodian
history; the fear of Vietnam seeking to influence a weak Cambodia
could not be ignored by the Cambodian elite. Thanh’s overtures to the
DRVN caused dissent in his own cabinet with the Defence Minister
Khim Tit, Minister for National Education Nhek Tioulong and Minister
for the Interior Sum Hieng unprepared to support him. Additional
reasons for this discord were: notably, a fear in elite circles at the
growing power of Thanh; the traditionally conservative nature of
Cambodian society and support for the monarch; fear of republican
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ideas disseminating from the Vietnamese; that the French would be
best placed to recover the provinces in the west lost to Siam in the war
of 1941; that Cambodia suffered from a lack of technically educated
and professional nationals; and that the withdrawal of the French
would leave a dearth of talent.143 Likewise, Thanh’s leadership and
nationalism did not have the same religious appeal to unify the masses
as did Sihanouk’s divine monarchical status.

Therefore, Khim Tit flew to Saigon for discussions with the British
and the French concerning Cambodia, and to request the return of the
French.144 On 9 October British Headquarters staff of the ALF Phnom
Penh, under the command of Lt.-Colonel E.D. Murray, arrived in the
city and assumed command of all Allied forces in Cambodia; senior
Japanese officers were flown to Saigon under arrest.145 Murray’s orders
were: to maintain law and order in Phnom Penh; to safeguard Allied
nationals; to ensure the stability of the Cambodian government; to
disarm the Annamite police in Phnom Penh; and to prevent Annamite
arms from being smuggled into Phnom Penh. Murray’s forces consisted
of one platoon of the first Battalion Gurkha Rifles, two companies of
light French Commandos, released Allied prisoners of war, the Japan-
ese 55th Division, Japanese Air Force and police stationed in Cambodia
as well as the Cambodian police.146 The two French companies under
Lt.-Colonel Houard had followed Murray to Phnom Penh to arrest
Thanh but strangely failed to do so.147

The French failure to arrest Thanh complicated Murray’s position,
yet Murray worked alongside Thanh and his government until General
Leclerc flew to Phnom Penh to arrest Thanh himself. On 10 October
Murray called upon Khim Tit, who had returned to Phnom Penh and
brokered arrangements for the ALF.148 Two days in conference at ALF
Headquarters Khim Tit and Lt.-Colonel Houard arranged for the
Annamite element in the railway workers to be removed.149 An hour
later, Murray visited Thanh to discuss the disarmament of the
Annamite police.150 Thanh confirmed to Murray that all the Annamites
were disarmed and explained that the aim of all Cambodia was to
achieve self-government.151 The following day Thanh attended ALF
Headquarters in Phnom Penh for a conference with Murray and his
staff. Thanh asked Murray to define a clause in his orders to ‘ensure the
stability of the Cambodian Government’. Murray cryptically replied
that he (Murray) had no civilian authority, ‘it meant ensuring that the
lawful Govt [sic] of Cambodia was not interfered with, by subversive
influences or force’. No one asked for a definition of ‘lawful’, but
Murray’s tone in the rest of the conference implied civilian govern-
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ment rested with Thanh and his ministers. Thanh assured the British
of the full co-operation of the Cambodian Government and made
arrangements for Murray to visit Sihanouk on the 18th, following a
four-day pilgrimage by the king. Later that evening Khim Tit dined
with Murray and strengthened his position; events of the following
day were to sharply contrast with the mutual co-operation of the pre-
vious few days. Firstly, by order of Khim Tit, Japanese guards were
placed on the railways and in the railway workshops to prevent
Annamite workers stealing tools or committing sabotage. Secondly,
Murray flew to Saigon for urgent talks with Gracey concerning
Cambodia and the arrest of Thanh.152 

The British had been forced to work with Thanh due to the incompe-
tence of the French in failing to arrest him. The French were keen to
remove Thanh and the British Government eager to leave such domes-
tic considerations to the French; this compromised the British position
in Phnom Penh. If Murray successfully worked with Thanh it would
strengthen Thanh’s position and naturally upset the French, who
regarded him as a Japanese collaborator rather than a Cambodian
nationalist. Yet Thanh’s co-operation with the DRVN and lack of
support from senior ministers in his cabinet could prove problematic.
Murray could ill afford to let the situation deteriorate into unrest
similar to that which the British were trying to cope with in Saigon. In
such circumstances, the Annamite population in Phnom Penh could
prove to be a haven not just for Cambodian nationalism but also as a
base for Annamite reprisals against the British for actions in Southern
Vietnam. Both Murray and Gracey needed to clarify the situation. It
was Murray’s opinion that Thanh should be arrested as soon as poss-
ible to avoid a descent into chaos.153 The next day Leclerc flew to
Phnom Penh and Thanh was invited to the British Headquarters,
handed over to Leclerc and escorted to Saigon.154 The Cambodian
police and the surété were placed under Murray’s control, anti-French
agents were arrested in Phnom Penh and a new government was
formed under the new Prime Minister Prince Monireth.155 Three
Cambodian chiefs and two officers of the Green Shirts were arrested
later that evening.156

The situation in Phnom Penh was still not stable. The backlash to
Thanh’s arrest began on 16 October. Railway workers went on strike
and the Japanese were forced to operate the trains to keep them
running. Thanh’s Green Shirts were still armed and in Phnom Penh,
but the timely return of Sihanouk from his pilgrimage was greeted by
large crowds and this stalled any action. Mountbatten later claimed it
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imperative in preserving Sihanouk’s neutrality that Thanh was arrested
whilst the king was absent from Phnom Penh.157 The next day the
Green Shirts were disarmed by the Japanese. The British held a confer-
ence with the Cambodian police and the national guard chiefs; a
further ten Annamite agents were arrested. On 18 October Murray met
with Sihanouk and this with the intervention of Khim Tit in the
railway workers strike ended the opposition to the arrest of Thanh. By
22 October French troops were carrying out exercises in Cambodia,
and a day later Cambodian French status was officially restored by
Sihanouk.158 The remnant of Thanh’s nationalist supporters and allies
fled to Siam and Cochinchina, some to continue the struggle as the
Free Cambodia Party, others to join the Indochinese Communist Party,
the Vietminh and the Khmer Issarak.159

With the security situation in Phnom Penh satisfactorily resolved,
Murray was promoted to Brigadier and began to organise food convoys
between Phnom Penh and Saigon in order to relieve the food crisis
caused by the Vietminh blockade of Saigon.160 Reconnaissance to other
parts of Cambodia found the ‘country quiet and the inhabitants
friendly to the French’.161 There were further incidents with Annam-
ites, who were driven out of Hatien on the Vietnamese-Cambodian
border by Lt.-Colonel Wenham with the aid of 300 Japanese on 
20 November, but security in Cambodia had improved to the extent
that, on 25 November, Murray began the formal surrender proceedings
of General Sakumay and the Japanese 55th Division Headquarters in
Phnom Penh.162 By 19 December a British unit to investigate Japanese
war criminals had arrived in Phnom Penh and 8372 Japanese had been
disarmed and evacuated.163

The Cambodian-Siamese border dispute

SEAC’s involvement in Cambodian issues was not limited to the
problem of Thanh or the administration of the Japanese surrender. SEAC
also had to contend with the problem of the Siamese-Cambodian border
dispute. In 1940, following the defeat of the French in Europe, Siam had
raised the issue of the return to Siam of Cambodia’s western provinces,
Battambang, Siem Reap and Stung Treng which had been lost by Siam
centuries before. In January 1941 Siamese troops invaded Cambodia and
defeated the French. The French counter-attacked against the Siamese
navy, destroying over half of it without loss. The Japanese intervened to
stop the fighting and imposed a settlement, whereby the French were
forced to cede the Cambodian territories to Siam.164 Cambodian and
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French national pride had been damaged over the border dispute and 
in 1945 both nations wanted to avenge this defeat, retrieve the lost
provinces and secure the return of a sacred religious icon, the Emerald
Buddha, which had been taken by the Siamese.165 De Gaulle denounced
any arbitration on the matter, declared that Cambodia remained part of
French Indo-China and that France ‘considers herself to be at war with
Siam’. The British War Office feared that whilst Southeast Asia was under
SEAC France would try to occupy the lost provinces in Cambodia 
before the conclusion of any political settlement. It gravely noted that: 
‘The view of the United States Government is that the future of
Cambodia should be decided by a plebiscite or by world organisation
machinery. … His Majesty’s Government supports France. Thus there
will be a head on collision with the United States Government if SEAC
supports by force the re-entry of French colonial administrators into this
province’.166

In reality, Truman and his administration were struggling to 
come to terms with the complexities of building a lasting world peace.
The negotiations with the Russians, the Allied occupation of Japan, 
the disarmament of Japanese forces and European reconstruction all 
meant that former President Roosevelt’s ideals of trusteeship and self-
determination for colonial people had been quietly dropped from the 
US policy debate some months previously. Bidault visited the French
Embassy in Washington and indicated to Sir John Balfour, British
Minister in Washington, that ‘he was satisfied with the American atti-
tude toward the question’. Balfour made his own enquiries on the matter
to the State Department: ‘The State Department replied that, as is well
known, they do not recognise any territorial changes which have been
made under duress during the war. They have mentioned to the French
Embassy however that there might be a case for re-examining Indo-
China Siam pre-war boundary in this area’.167 The Foreign Office sensed
that the French had a real opportunity to improve relations in Southeast
Asia, if they could seize the initiative and offer some kind of gesture 
to the Siamese. It was noted that the French were generally perceived
badly, and ‘once the Japanese have left Siam, will soon be undisputedly
the best-hated foreign nation’. It was suggested, by A.C.S. Adams, that 
the US would be able to profit from the goodwill established during 
de Gaulle’s recent visit to the US to propose that the French should
submit the frontier question to arbitration at an early date.168 However,
caution was advised. The Foreign Office preferred to leave the arbitration
to the US to follow up. It maintained that now was not the time to
extract an undertaking from the French on the issue.169
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Dening was asked to inform Siam that Britain did not recognise
changes of territory obtained under the duress of war and that Siam
and France would have to settle this issue separately.170 Similarly,
Mountbatten was instructed to assume that all French Indo-Chinese
territory in Siam would only revert to Cambodia after a political settle-
ment had been reached between Siam and France. If the French
attempted to take the territory by force of arms, Mountbatten was to
refer to London for instructions and not to assume that he would have
to intervene and establish an Allied military government in the area.171

Planning staff at SEAC Headquarters had already prepared a plan to
‘institute martial law in Siam and French Indo-China with or without
reference to the Siamese or French authorities’.172

On 26 September Dening met with the French negotiator Pierre
Clarac and Siam’s Prince Viwat in an attempt to resolve the dispute.
Dening predicted that the issue would pose some difficulty as the
Siamese were unprepared to negotiate, believing that they had the
support of the US on this matter.173 But the US did not advocate 
the Siamese claims and the State Department encouraged the British-
led negotiations to seek an early re-examination of the Indo-China
Siamese border.174 Britain was eager for the dispute to be resolved as
Siam had been identified as a possible key area of post-war strategic co-
operation for the defence of Malaya, Burma, India, Indo-China and the
security of the Indian Ocean and Southwest Pacific areas.175

D’Argenlieu wanted the two provinces returned as soon as possible
to Cambodia and sent French observers to Battambang without British
or Siamese approval. Mountbatten, eager to avoid a diplomatic inci-
dent, told D’Argenlieu to attach his observers to Lt.-General Geoffrey
Evans’s staff located there as part of SEAC’s ALF Siamese obligations.
Mountbatten also turned down a request from D’Argenlieu to transfer
Battambang from Evans’s to Gracey’s command, therefore, symbol-
ically avoiding uniting the lost provinces with Cambodia and edging
them out from Siamese control.176 The French issued instructions to
their observers in Battambang along broad but controversial lines:

a – Keep the spirit of France present in the province despite any
active propaganda by Siamese officials.
b – Show that France does not renounce its claim to Battambang
province but on the contrary to emphasise the rightful claims of
Cambodia.
c – Keep the High Commissioner accurately informed of the politi-
cal developments and of Siamese intrigues in the province.
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d – Maintain contact with the representatives of the Allied forces in
Siam whose authority extends to Battambang province and adopt
an attitude in keeping with your role of recognised observers who
may require the assistance of the British authorities.177

Evans discussed with Gracey and the British Consul-General in
Bangkok, Hugh Bird, the directives given to the French observers and
recommended that clauses ‘a’ and ‘b’ be removed from the directive as
these might have given the observers too wide a scope of activities and
could lead to further serious incidents. Evans could not spare troops
from the Seventh Division for operations in the disputed territories
after 10 January 1946, leaving behind only two officers as the Allied
representatives in Battambang. He cabled to Major-General Harold
Pyman, Chief of the General Staff ALF SEAC, asking him to confirm
that

a – You do not require me to station any troops that area as consider
we might become involved unnecessarily [sic].
b – We reserve right to withdraw French observers if they exceed
their directif [sic].
c – Commandant Cretin [a French army officer acting as an
observer] to be withdrawn from duty disputed area as he is already
unpopular and will not improve relations [sic].178

The French agreed to limit the activities of their observers and to the
removal of Cretin. However, the French insisted that they could not
withdraw all their personnel by 23 December, as had been requested,
and informed the British that ALF Siam had already agreed that two
French observers should remain in Battambang to prevent a Siamese
moral victory.179 Sensing that the French were pushing their bound-
aries over the issue of observers Gracey cabled Evans for his views.
Gracey had been informed that the French would press for six
observers to work in the disputed territories including one at Evans’s
headquarters.180 Evans replied with a stark warning ‘unless SACSEA per-
mission already obtained grateful if you prevent this as serious risk of
Siamese detaining aircraft and bodies’.181

On 11 December, the First Secretary of the French Embassy in
London visited the Foreign Office to discuss the dispute. The Foreign
Office agreed to try to move the negotiations along, and for the French
to exchange diplomatic letters with Siam.182 Dening was instructed to
reiterate to the Siamese Government that Britain did not recognise the
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territory seizures of 1941. The US was in agreement with the British
stance.183 Meanwhile, to avoid further incidents or complications,
Mountbatten was warned of the dangers of the French being allowed
to make radio broadcasts in Siamese to Siam and ordered to prevent
such broadcasts.184 Mountbatten was unable to prevent the broadcasts
from Saigon, but texts of the broadcasts were shown to the British. The
local Foreign Office and Far Eastern Publicity Representatives felt 
the propaganda to be useful and advised non-intervention unless 
the broadcasts were embarrassing to Mountbatten because this would
insinuate a lack of British influence.185 The COS was content with
Mountbatten’s broadcasting arrangements, ‘provided that the French
accept guidance as you suggest’.186 This proved to be a grave error of
judgement. The British Political Adviser and Far Eastern Publicity
Representatives in Bangkok reported that the Siamese press were react-
ing in a hostile manner to the French broadcasts. SEAC tried to per-
suade the French of the need to abandon the broadcasts. Clarac in a
compromise move agreed that no further reference would be made 
in broadcasts to the disputed territories until negotiations had been
completed.187

However, the Siamese appeared unmotivated to settle the dispute
quickly. A report by the British JIC concluded that the French regarded
Siamese inactivity as provocative.188 Yet at times both sides could be
intractable. It took Dening and Meiklereid two weeks working behind
the scenes to persuade D’Argenlieu to agree to send an emissary to
meet the Siamese in Singapore to discuss the dispute, although ‘six
weeks have elapsed and the Siamese have given no outward sign what-
soever that they intend to do anything about it’. Dening warned that if
Siamese intransigence continued then this might push D’Argenlieu
into more drastic measures. He concluded: ‘I am afraid that I can think
of nothing I could say or do to improve the position’.189 Clarac now
feared that D’Argenlieu wanted to pursue a more aggressive radio
broadcast policy with the ultimate goal of seizing the disputed territo-
ries with troops. He asked if the British Government could bring
further pressure to bear upon Siam to begin the talks in Singapore with
the French.190

The Foreign Office sent a telegram to Bangkok on 9 March 1946 that
the British Government demanded a stable and peaceful Southeast Asia
and urged Siam to open negotiations with the French at once. It reiter-
ated its previous statements by declaring that the British Government
did not recognise the 1941 frontier and that Siam must therefore
restore the pre-war status quo.191 Siam’s response was that it wished to
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negotiate with the French and resume normal diplomatic relations in
return for French rectification of the border.192 Meiklereid held further
discussions with Clarac who promised to interpret Paris instructions
liberally in order to meet the Siamese request.193 Later Clarac
confirmed that France was prepared to undertake frontier adjust-
ments.194 However, D’Argenlieu was less convinced about Clarac’s
liberal brief and telegraphed Paris for further clarification, thereby
delaying a French response.195 Meiklereid warned that the situation
remained complicated as France was technically still at war with
Siam.196

Geoffrey Thompson, British Minister in Bangkok, met with the
Siamese Foreign Minister to discuss the Siamese intransigence.
Thompson feared that the dispute could escalate. He had obtained evi-
dence that certain Siamese elements were supplying arms to factions in
Laos and that the increased French impatience with the Siamese could
affect Siam’s entry into the UN, with France as a permanent Security
Council member vetoing Siam’s application. Thompson urged the
Foreign Minister to transfer the disputed territories: ‘I said that if the
Siamese would courageously grasp this nettle I thought it very likely
that the French would be disposed to negotiate agreeable frontier
rectifications’. However, the Siamese Foreign Minister wanted to
change the existing arrangements and send a delegation to Saigon and
not Singapore. He requested that the British Government assist in bro-
kering a resolution to the dispute.197 With British activities in SEAC
reducing in French Indo-China, the Foreign Office agreed with Siam
and recommended switching the Franco-Siamese meeting to Saigon in
an attempt to extricate itself from the prolonged dispute. London
stressed that it would like to see the border question settled as soon as
possible, and normal relations resumed between French Indo-China
and Siam, but Britain could not become involved in a dispute which
was now solely French and Siamese.198

Rice and relief

As in the rest of Southeast Asia the British ALF in Indo-China was
charged with maintaining law and order; part of this inevitably
involved dealing with the problem of supplying food and emergency
supplies to the civilian population. In Indo-China famine had already
broken out in the north during the last months of the Japanese occu-
pation. Problems at the end of the war included civil unrest, Japanese
stockpiling of resources, the lack of an administrative structure, a
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dearth of shipping and locomotives, and a breakdown in the rail and
irrigation systems. These problems were caused by natural erosion and
drought, Allied wartime bombing and indigenous attacks. It created a
volatile situation where continued unrest and the lack of a bureaucratic
structure could result in the famine spreading to the rest of Indo-
China. Famine politically united the masses in a common cause.
Traditionally the Mekong and Red River deltas of French Indo-China
were vast rice growing areas. Rice was exported to other parts of the
French Empire as well as the metropole, Hong Kong, India and
Singapore. Therefore problems with rice production in Indo-China had
grave consequences for other British-administered areas that, like
French Indo-China, experienced food shortages at the end of the war.
This was part of a global food shortage, especially of rice.

On 28 August 1945 the rice situation was further complicated when
Chiang Kai-Shek, who was facing his own transport difficulties and
aware of the problems in the north of Vietnam, requested the purchase
of 5000 tons from Mountbatten in Saigon in order to feed troops
involved in maintaining the Japanese surrender.199 Mountbatten
replied that he was unable to supply the rice required as he was not in
control of the commodity. He arranged for the matter to be taken up
with the UN International Food Control.200 Britain had no realistic
method of assessing the size of the rice situation prior to Gracey’s
troops arriving in French Indo-China in September. Nevertheless, to
prevent rice inflation and the activities of the black market, the
Cabinet proposed to co-ordinate rice prices from London in the three
main producing areas in Southeast Asia – Siam, Indo-China and
Burma.201 The Ministry of Production consulted with the War Office
and the Board of Trade to try to establish a minimum relief programme
to French Indo-China.202 A programme was established in September to
prevent disease and unrest but France was encouraged to use procure-
ment to prevent reliance upon Britain’s limited resources.203 Mistakes
were made in the assessment of Indo-China’s requirements. For
example it was reported ‘that there are in French Indo-China consider-
able quantities of rice and rubber available for export’, but Britain was
prepared to offer and orchestrate what relief it could.204 Meanwhile,
the French procured from the US 15,000 tons of relief supplies of flour,
condensed milk, iron and steel, paper, cement and chemicals. These
were loaded onto two ships in San Francisco. One vessel was supposed
to go to Southern Indo-China and the other to the north, but due to
complications in the French relationships with the Chinese liberating
authorities both vessels were sent to the south.205 The French assured
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Britain that a further five ships had been earmarked in the US for
service to Indo-China and that 60,000 tons of supplies would be
shipped from the US to French Indo-China by the end of the year.206

Administrative responsibility of the British forces for food supplies
and relief eased when on 9 October the British and French
Governments agreed that administration and judicial issues in Indo-
China should now be passed back to the French.207 Although British
officials were aware of the continued food shortages, British attempts
to alleviate the situation became increasingly ineffective and observa-
tional with the French restored to administrative control. Meanwhile
the interallied Combined Food Board allocated the export of 66,936
tons of rice from French Indo-China for the immediate relief of the
Dutch in Netherlands East Indies. The War Office, keen to extricate
itself from a difficult political situation, held that Britain could not
establish a rice unit in French Indo-China and that the Dutch
Government should deal direct with France in this matter.
Mountbatten telegrammed Saigon that the ‘political situation may
make export of rice by French authorities difficult’.208 The British did
attempt to fly food into Northern Indo-China to relieve Tourane using
six Japanese aircraft; but unfortunately the Chinese impounded the
aeroplanes.209

When the French resumed administrative control they were keen to
restore their prestige as an independent great power able to maintain its
own affairs. However, the need for relief both in SEAC and French Indo-
China continued to escalate. On 25 October Meiklereid reported that in
Northern French Indo-China under Chinese control food and medicine
levels for Europeans were adequate but that prices were rapidly increas-
ing. The Vietnamese in DRVN administered areas were not so fortunate.
There was disquiet because of the imposition of a poll tax despite the
continued famine. Food levels in the north were reaching critical levels
due to further floods. The French authorities in Saigon, needing coal for
the power station, loaded 2000 tons of rice onto a ship in Saigon to
exchange for coal when it reached Haiphong.210 Gracey sent Major
Hambrey Tracey to be the British Military Liaison Representative in
Hanoi with the task of supervising the distribution of the rice from the
south and the loading of the coal.211

Administration of relief in Southern Vietnam was also hampered by
continued civil unrest. In order to resist the return of the French the
Annamese had organised a food blockade around Saigon and Cholon.
This political action did not aid British relief activities in the area.
However, with the security situation in Phnom Penh satisfactorily
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resolved, Brigadier Murray organised a food convoy between Saigon,
Cholon and Phnom Penh in order to relieve the food crisis there.
Cambodia was now identified as an essential source for supplying fresh
food to Saigon and Cholon to break the Annamese food blockade in
Cochinchina.212

In November a British Cabinet sub-committee on the Far East
received a note regarding French Indo-China. It stated that the UNRRA
Chungking had on 28 September contacted the UNRRA Washington
and reported the dire conditions in Northern Indo-China. The note
concluded that ‘This zone falls outside Southeast Asia Command and is
not, therefore, a matter for British action. The Committee may,
however, like to bear these conditions in mind when considering the
relief requirements of French Indo-China’.213

British officials in Saigon issued a report in December to the Foreign
Office on the rice situation in Indo-China. If half the Japanese rice
proved inedible then the shortfall would be in the region of 35,000
tons. The report highlighted that due to the current security problems
farmers had been unable to bring rice to market since June and that
even if it were possible to harvest the new crop, security and transport
issues could prevent it from reaching the market. The French Economic
Counsellor in Indo-China had reserved 200,000 tons of the new crop
to address the famine conditions in the north, as a priority. The French
production problems would affect not just French Indo-China but all
of Southeast Asia and other areas. Only 61,000 tons of rice had been
exported from French Indo-China up to the end of August 1945, com-
pared with 500,000 tons in 1944 and 922,000 tons in 1943.214 Despite
D’Argenlieu’s insistence that it was not possible to find any rice for
export Mountbatten pressured him to find some.215 To aid the French
it was decided to carry out a photographic aerial survey of rice crops to
estimate the probable harvest yield in 1946.216 Conditions in the north
continued to deteriorate. In a visit by Colonel Walker-Chapman to
Hanoi he observed that the Annamites were reluctant to sell food to
the French and that the black market was increasing. With coal pro-
duction at 100 tons per day, and the availability of Japanese prisoners
of war as labour, the Chinese believed that it was possible to export
coal from Hongay to Southern French Indo-China in return for rice.217

However, due to a shortage of shipping this proved unrealistic.
By January 1946 the food situation in Cochinchina appeared to have

stabilised and market prices decreased.218 At a staff meeting with
Gracey in Saigon an enquiry was made concerning the prospect of
exporting rice from French Indo-China. Meiklereid answered that due
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to transport problems, the needs of the north and a reduction in the
size of the crops, there would be no exportable rice. He advised that
further food needed in SEAC must be acquired from within the rest of
SEAC and that an application to the UNRRA had been made.219

Meanwhile the British learnt that under pressure from his advisers
D’Argenlieu had appealed through Paris to the UNRRA for assistance in
the shipping and loading facilities for rice and medical equipment at
Tonkin. Dening observed that the French were suspicious of the
UNRRA due to the implied presence of US economic observers but ‘felt
constrained to formulate [an] appeal to safeguard themselves against
world criticism when famine conditions [in] Tongking [sic] became
known’.220 The UNRRA visited Saigon to discuss displaced persons and
the economic situation in French Indo-China. Meiklereid reiterated the
difficulties the French faced over the rice situation to the Foreign Office
and further warned ‘Unless very drastic and immediate measures are
taken, the death-roll in the Tonkin from famine is likely to be mea-
sured in millions rather than in thousands’.221

In the north, although the Chinese ALF was supposed to remain
neutral to the political situation, they chose to work alongside the
DRVN administrators rather than the French mission.222 Meiklereid
warned the Foreign Office that the Chinese were not taking any action
regarding law and order and recommended the intervention of the
great powers to prevent ‘disorder, anarchy, ruin and famine’. Other-
wise the results he again predicted would be that ‘the Annamites will
die by the hundreds and thousands and due to unrepaired dykes floods
will bring devastation’. Meiklereid concluded that with the Japanese
disarmed the Chinese were no longer useful and that the French were
capable of relieving French Indo-China.223 SEAC had requested 164,000
tons of wheat supplies for Southeast Asia for the first six months of
1946 but the allocation proposed at the Washington meeting was only
127,000 tons.224 With the British role in French Indo-China coming to
a conclusion Mountbatten proposed to leave British interests in the
hands of a Foreign Office political adviser and the Consul-General in
Saigon, along with a British Interservice Mission (comprising of two
battalions plus administration troops). They would, in between other
duties, inform Mountbatten of French plans to rehabilitate the rice
industry and export rice.225 This token gesture by Mountbatten
revealed the extent of his effectiveness concerning the famine condi-
tions in French Indo-China. Mountbatten had previously had little
influence over D’Argenlieu concerning rice distribution and now had
none. The serious rice shortage in the north persisted, there remained a
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lack of shipping and the French maintained no confidence in the
Chinese being able to distribute shipped rice. The 1945–46 harvest
forecast for Southeast Asia was poor due to ‘undersowing by farmers for
lack of inducement in price and consumer goods’.226 A further half-
hearted proposal was put forward by SEAC. In order to address the coal
shortage in SEAC Britain could lend a ship to aid in the transportation
of rice from Southern French Indo-China to the north in exchange for
coal.227 Mountbatten’s delusion was confirmed when he sent a
telegram to the COS at the end of his responsibility for French Indo-
China in which he reported that the British position in French Indo-
China had never been better and that there was the possibility of
‘cashing in on the goodwill of both the authorities and civil popula-
tion’ for British trade whilst there was also ‘an excellent opportunity
for consolidating British prestige’. He predicted that the only area of
conflict was the continued freeze of French Indo-Chinese funds, partic-
ularly by India, and optimistically predicted that by June there would
be the possibility of both rice and coal being available for export.228

Mountbatten’s telegram was acknowledged by both the COS and the
Foreign Office but neither further pursued Mountbatten’s suggested
benefits for Britain.229

Despite the situation in French Indo-China being both grave and
outside their control the British Government optimistically predicted
that for the rice calendar year 1946 the surplus of exportable rice from
French Indo-China would be 100,000 metric tons.230 In February the
Minister of Food revised his previous predictions by adding stringent
parameters. Based on the ‘latest information’ on the ‘disturbed state of
the country’ he noted that even if it were possible to harvest, collect
and transport rice in Indo-China ‘it would be unsafe to rely on the
export of more than 100,000 tons from French Indo-China in 1946’.231

Two days later in a move to co-ordinate the problems of rice supply in
Southeast Asia as a region the Cabinet agreed that a special commis-
sioner ‘should be instructed to initiate and supervise a vigorous cam-
paign for increasing the supply of rice from Southeast Asia’. Bevin was
invited to make the appropriate arrangements and the appointment of
Lord Killearn as Special Commission Southeast Asia was announced to
the House of Commons on 21 February.232

Military aid

SEAC was able only to place a dangerously small amount of resources
and troop numbers into its ALF duties for French Indo-China. Britain’s
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limited resources were highlighted by the need to use Japanese prison-
ers of war to assist in carrying out liberation duties.233 Limited shipping
resources meant that the supply of British and French troops to French
Indo-China was competing with transport required for Operation
Python to demobilise British and colonial troops.234 The French Navy
was able to use its ship in the region, the Richelieu, to transport troops,
although its capacity was limited.235 Mountbatten, anxious to avoid
involving British troops in further clashes in Southern Vietnam,
requested additional shipping and troops including the French Ninth
Colonial Division.236 The Ninth Colonial Division was ‘organised on
American war establishment and war equipment tables’ and was there-
fore ‘fully armed, clothed and equipped in accordance with the stan-
dard establishment of a United States Army Infantry Division’.237 It
would be impossible to maintain such a force with US material unless
the US withdrew its ruling that no American equipment was to be
issued to French forces in SEAC.238 Mountbatten hoped that Leclerc
would be able to take over in Indo-China on 2 October 1945, when the
French would have 2425 troops in Southern Vietnam or at the latest by
20 October when a further 2150 had been scheduled to arrive.239

Mountbatten had planned to use a SEAC brigade in Indo-China to
relieve the Australian ALF in Borneo by 31 October.240 The British
Government was also aware of the bad publicity that the use of Indian
troops in French Indo-China could have with Indian public opinion.241

It was important for the government to withdraw Indian troops as
soon as possible to avoid Indian nationalist claims of Britain using
Indian troops to suppress Asian nationalism on behalf of a white
French colony.242 The British Commander-in-Chief in India believed
that he could not even agree to the movement or staging of French
troops through India en route to Indo-China.243 Britain therefore sought
to alleviate the situation by discussing the shipping of troops to Indo-
China with the US.244

Bevin was desperate that any available US warships be used to speed
up troop deployments to the Dutch East Indies and French Indo-
China.245 Fearing further British involvement in Indo-China Slim
reported that no French forces of any real value were yet available.
British forces were maintaining essential services and preventing the
massacre of French civilians but he warned that if there was a full scale
uprising then the British forces would be unable to cope. He stated that
the situation was very dangerous, that the British were very unpopular
with the Vietnamese and therefore needed to leave as soon as possible.246

Eight ships were provided by the US to transport the 7700 troops
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planned to leave France for Indo-China in October and an additional
14,000 from Marseilles on 23 October.247

Nevertheless, by November Mountbatten was again pressing the War
Office for the French to relieve him of the burden of Indo-China
‘owing to the very delicate situation in Netherlands East Indies and the
big calls it is likely to make on my resources, more than ever necessary
to shift the burden of French Indo-China onto French shoulders with
all possible speed’.248 With increased French troop numbers, Leclerc
asked Britain to supply one squadron of RAF Spitfires to be flown by
French pilots. Leclerc felt that his operations were disadvantaged by
not being able to use British air support for French troops and by not
having suitable French aircraft available. Mountbatten accepted
Leclerc’s request and advised the COS that one squadron of Spitfire
Mark IV’s and spares could be turned over to the French with the
financial aspect of the arrangement left to the British and French
Governments to settle.249

The French had frequently asked the British and the US for transport
for troop movements and equipment for their forces. The US were well
aware of French requests to the British and requests from SEAC to
London, as much of the correspondence was copied to the JSM in
Washington; thus implicating a legitimate British expectation of US
involvement pertaining to French requests. Similarly, the British were
aware of US sensitivities concerning the use of their equipment under
SEAC control. The First Sea Lord, in reply to a French request to supply
landing craft to their forces in French Indo-China, had responded that
as most of the stock attached to SEAC was of US lend-lease origin the
British navy would be only able to supply two craft. If the French got
the approval of the US to use American craft then he would be able to
supply more.250 The US was willing to supply equipment to the French
in Indo-China especially if the French were prepared to purchase such
equipment. In December 1945, 279 vehicles purchased by the French
from the US were in Calcutta awaiting shipment for Saigon.251

The British were wary of merely handing over lend-lease material to
the French without US approval, and in order to avoid any political
problems, stated that in the first instance ‘British substitutes should be
used where possible’.252 Yet Britain could not avoid the lend-lease issue.
In trying to supply equipment for the French Third Colonial Division
the War Office had intended that no lend-lease material was to be
used.253 Only 900 vehicles of British origin were available to transfer
from the 20th Indian Division but a further 1300 vehicles were avail-
able to transfer which were of US lend-lease origin.254 Major F.H.
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Weaver, dealing with the problem, cabled Mountbatten and requested
that ‘you obtain permission of the Americans’ for the lend-lease equip-
ment transfer.255 Weaver then cabled the US to seek agreement for the
transfer of the lend-lease vehicles, the quantity of which had now
reduced to approximately 800.256 Britain also provided training teams
for the French for the equipment supplied. However, these proved to
be under-used by the French who had a tendency to ‘rush equipment
up country before it has been put in working order’.257

SEAC was prepared to continue to assist in the maintenance of
French forces ‘until such time as the French no longer require[d] such
assistance’. But after 15 February 1946 all such supplies would have to
be paid for.258 It was agreed, in talks with French representatives in
London, that Britain would maintain French forces in Indo-China
until 31 March 1946. Thereafter Britain would provide for the pro-
vision of 3,300,000 pacific rations but beyond that provision SEAC
would have no responsibility for French forces.259 However, French
forces in Indo-China, although accepting responsibility for guarding
the remaining Japanese prisoners of war, would not accept any
financial obligations until the situation had been clarified by Paris.260

In the meantime, the question of the Indian response to the situa-
tion in French Indo-China was again brought to the fore. It was
difficult to move French or Dutch supplies from Europe to French
Indo-China or the Netherlands East Indies without using bunkering
and watering facilities in India. The British could not use Ceylon for
fear of a port strike and labour unrest. Singapore was too far for many
vessels and possessed only limited stocks due to SEAC duties. The
Commander of the Indian Expeditionary Force had already agreed to
accept two or three French vessels a month but labour strikes were
threatened. The Viceroy of India, Field Marshal Archibald Wavell,
therefore agreed to accept ships flying British or US flags carrying
French forces provided that no more than two or three harboured
together at any one time for a maximum of two or three days. No
French troops would be allowed to land and their presence was to be
concealed. No provisions were made available. The operation was to be
top secret because if the details were leaked out labour strikes would
preclude any further ships using Indian harbours.261

In January 1946 the US became keen to disassociate itself from the
formulation of military policy in the Netherlands East Indies and
French Indo-China but remained interested in Siam.262 Despite the US
disassociation it insisted that Southern Indo-China was to remain
within SEAC until all the Japanese prisoners of war in all of SEAC were
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evacuated. In recognition of the changing circumstances in French
Indo-China, the US was prepared for such tasks to be delegated to the
French.263 Brooke believed that as the US did not want to hand
command over from SEAC in Indo-China ‘the Americans wished to
have it both ways’ and he recommended that Mountbatten relinquish
command for Indo-China as soon as possible ‘lest any further occur-
rences started there’.264 The COS was unable to agree with the US pro-
posal to keep French Indo-China within SEAC and offered the
compromise that Mountbatten would keep the responsibility for the
Japanese through Leclerc.265 Brooke was eager for the question of
responsibility for French Indo-China to be settled rapidly by the JSM as
French operations were starting in Southern Vietnam (which led to
French troops landing in the north) that could have grave implications
for Mountbatten and SEAC should they still be responsible for
Southern Indo-China.266 The US agreed to the British compromise solu-
tion and both Britain and the US were able to disassociate themselves
from French military actions in Indo-China.267

The co-ordination of British policy

Potsdam in 1945 split Vietnam as Geneva later would in 1954. Both
conferences prevented Vietnamese Nationalism from uniting the
country. On the ground Britain had to avoid an anarchic power
vacuum but in terms of high policy Britain and the US never 
questioned French sovereignty or the legitimacy of the nationalist
movements. The British role in Indo-China, although limited, was
larger than the spotlight upon Saigon has suggested. It evolved from
ALF duties in Cambodia and Southern Vietnam to incorporate the
Cambodian-Siamese border dispute, humanitarian relief and rehabilita-
tion, and jointly with the US of transporting and rearming the French
military. Thus the British did not unilaterally restore the French in
Indo-China.

Similarly, Britain was coming to terms with a new dependency upon
the US. Had Britain’s comprehension of its economic and political role
in the world been different, Attlee would still have been limited by
economic circumstances. However, his personal commitment to the
Python program or ignorance of Asian nationalism could have been
different. The post-hostilities watershed was not without its failings of
judgement or missed opportunities. Pre-war colonialism could not
return. The Labour Government certainly compounded SEAC’s prob-
lems in Indo-China with unworkable directives, restrictive policy and a
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commitment to the restoration of France in Europe. There were always
going to be higher government priorities in the immediate post-war
period, but a transparent Indo-China policy would have had to emerge
from a Foreign Office whose wartime support for the restoration of
France continued into the post-war period. 

By the spring of 1946 the Labour Government had deduced that not
only were British policies toward Indo-China and the Dutch East Indies
erratic and ill-managed by SEAC, but that British economic stability
and colonial policies required delicate co-ordination. Britain needed to
develop policies on the Cambodian-Siamese dispute, humanitarian
relief and rehabilitation, reconciliation with the aspirations of Asian
nationalism, the furtive spectres of the Chinese nationalists and com-
munists and latent communist influence within the indigenous
Southeast Asian populations. Therefore the Labour Government sought
to co-ordinate British policy with the appointment of Lord Killearn as
the Special Commissioner Southeast Asia.
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3
Lord Killearn, March 1946–May 1948

In the spring of 1946 Britain made a co-ordinated effort to manage its
policy towards Indo-China. British interests in Indo-China were sum-
marised in a Cabinet paper on the Far East as ‘strategic’, ‘political’ and
‘economic’. Strategically, Indo-China was regarded as an important
base that controlled the South China Sea and the approaches to
Singapore. Politically, the conflict between the French and the
Vietnamese could have ‘disturbing reactions in British territories’; sim-
ilarly, ‘whatever government is finally established in Indo-China would
inherit causes of friction with China and Siam in which we might
become involved’. Economically, the ‘French intention of an “open
door” policy in Indo-China might offer new openings to British trade’.
However, in conclusion the paper cautioned that although France
would regain Indo-China ‘her position is likely to be precarious unless
she can win over the leading Annamites to acceptance of her political
and economic advance’.1

The appointment of Killearn as Special Commissioner for Southeast
Asia acted as the focal point for the alignment of British concerns for
Indo-China alongside regional responsibilities. The main area of this
debate was the export of Indo-Chinese rice in a continued effort to
alleviate regional famine conditions. However, the growth of the inter-
national spectre of communism would entangle this process. Britain
believed in raising living standards in ‘poorer countries’, but the move
from political dialogue to guerrilla warfare in Indo-China threatened
this policy.2 Similarly, the military conflict in Indo-China threatened
the availability of exportable rice, bringing an economic and human-
itarian crisis to the British colonies of Hong Kong, Malaya, and
Singapore. Britain was directly concerned with the stability of the
region – the decolonisation of Burma and India meant that Britain had
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to reconcile itself with the aspirations of Asian nationalism. The
Cambodian-Siamese border dispute remained unresolved, and the large
indigenous Chinese communities in Southeast Asia continued to be an
area of tension that escalated with the growing likelihood of commu-
nist success in the Chinese Civil War. Bevin was not indulging in
flattery when he described Killearn’s appointment as ‘the biggest job of
your life my dear boy’.3

Vietnam

Following the March 1946 Ho-Sainteny Agreement, negotiations 
continued between the French and the Vietminh. The Foreign Office
remained optimistic that the settlement was reasonable and that a
‘progressive and liberal policy is successfully being pursued’.4 The
French approached Britain and ‘in view of the pending negotiations
with Viet Nam’ asked the Foreign Office to disclose the diplomatic
apparatus used by India in ‘relations with foreign powers’.5

D’Argenlieu, however, regarded the agreement ‘as the equivalent of
Munich’.6 Unfortunately, he ‘didn’t understand the nature of the
problem in Tonkin’ and ‘refused to visit Hanoi’. As the negotiations
progressed D’Argenlieu met Ho for the first time on a battleship in
Along Bay.7 The situation appeared delicately balanced, Meiklereid
informally visited Ho who expressed concern that the French desired
to encourage separatism in Cochinchina.8 Reed cautioned the US
Secretary of State, James Byrnes, with the hope that neither side
would do anything to jeopardise the negotiations.9 In a note to the
French Ambassador in Washington, Byrnes officially approved of the
reversion of Indo-China to the French, although he ‘ignored the fact
that the French had already signed an agreement recognising Viet
Nam as a free state’.10

The timid optimism of March was replaced by anxiety in April. The
Dalat Conference was fraught with disagreement between the French
and Vietminh over the unity of Vietnam and the future of
Cochinchina.11 Leclerc gloomily concluded that ‘France is no longer in
a position to control by arms an entity of 24 million people, amongst
whom xenophobia and perhaps even nationalism have taken root’.12

Undeterred by the impasse with the Vietminh, D’Argenlieu pressed
ahead with his policy of separation for Cochinchina and created an
autonomous republic with its own provisional government.13 Between
6 July–10 September the Fontainbleau Conference attempted to revive
the negotiations between France and DRVN, but again no agreement
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was reached on substantive issues. Whilst Fontainbleau was taking
place D’Argenlieu continued to develop an Indo-Chinese solution
independent of, and in opposition to, the Vietminh. A second Dalat
Conference was held between Annam, Cambodia, Laos, France, and
the Montagnard hill tribes but not the Vietminh.14

The British feared the bi-polar direction that negotiations appeared
to have taken and Killearn advocated ‘close contact and liaison with
French Indo-China’.15 Lt.-Commander Simpson-Jones, British Naval
Intelligence in Hanoi, regularly met with Ho three times a week for
about an hour and a half to gather information on the developing situ-
ation.16 The French needed a reliable moderate Annamese with whom
to negotiate and who would also present exemplary credentials as a
nationalist to the masses. Meiklereid indicated that the ‘general feeling’
was that the new Cochinchina government had been established by
the French ‘purely as a “puppet” government’.17 Simpson-Jones warned
about the consequences of eliminating Ho.18

The DRVN continued to advocate a placatory policy towards the
situation in the north and Vietminh troops in Hanoi were disarmed
to prevent any trouble between the French and Vietminh troops.19

Killearn noted the food situation in Indo-China at his monthly
liaison conference as ‘encouraging’ and British Rear-Admiral Archer
visited Saigon between 10–15 August for a ‘flying the flag’ morale
visit.20 Nevertheless, France pressed on with an uncoordinated policy.
On 27 August France signed a Modus Vivendi with Laos making it a
unified state within the French Union. A similar agreement was
signed with Ho on 14 September. Mr Narn, a secretary to Ho, visited
Britain and left the Foreign Office with the impression that ‘so long
as he [Ho] is in charge he will exercise moderating influence’.21

Meiklereid added that the Modus Vivendi seemed to have strength-
ened Ho’s position ‘and there appears little danger of him being
ousted by extremists’.22

In Paris, Ho sought to alleviate the deadlock by appealing direct to
the US. He contacted the US Embassy and requested American inter-
vention in the dispute. The following day at the embassy Ho asked
for US ‘enterprise’ and ‘capital’ in return for a lease on the strategic
naval base at Cam Ranh Bay.23 Ho’s advances went unheeded. US
policy had continued to evolve in response to its role as a global
power and as a counterbalance to Russia. Ho and the Vietminh were
now regarded with suspicion because of their communist back-
ground. Under-Secretary of State Dean Acheson contacted Saigon in
October and complained of the communist style in the design of the
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DRVN flag.24 Paradoxically the French remained suspicious of the US
whose approach to world affairs was regarded as ‘too “light-
hearted”’.25 Nevertheless, the US Moffat mission to Indo-China in
December was warned by Acheson of Ho’s status as an international
agent of communism.26 Before visiting Southeast Asia Abbot Low
Moffat, Head of the State Department Southeast Asia Division, visited
his opposite Richard Allen in the Foreign Office in London for Anglo-
US talks on Indo-China. Moffat feared that D’Argenlieu and Clarac
were too ‘reactionary and imperialistic’ and that they would ‘drive’
the Indo-Chinese towards communism. Allen asked Meiklereid for
his assessment on and the accuracy of the US views.27 Meiklereid
replied that Moffat’s analysis was ‘unduly pessimistic’.28 In Hanoi
Moffat met with Ho and representatives of the DRVN. He urged for a
peaceful settlement and affirmed US support for the Ho-Sainteny
Agreement and the Franco-Vietnamese Modus Vivendi. Moffat’s
report, however, concluded that US interests rested with French dom-
inance of Indo-China.29 He then went on to Singapore anxious to
enlist Killearn’s support for his own ‘proposal of joint Anglo-
American good offices with the French in F.I.C. [French Indo-China]’.
Killearn remained non-committal but Moffat, who Killearn noted was
under the influence of alcohol, vehemently complained ‘that the
normal attitude of the Foreign Office, and particularly of Dening and
Allen, was inclined to be over cautious and lacking in appreciation of
the issues at stake and imagination generally’.30

In contrast to the French and the US, the British were more open to
Ho. Britain viewed Ho as a moderating influence within the DRVN,
and although the Foreign Office was wary of his communist back-
ground, he was regarded as the more acceptable face of the Vietminh.
Britain reasoned that nationalism was ultimately stronger than com-
munism. From 1–6 October Meiklereid visited Hanoi and spent a
couple of days with the less moderate Defence Minister Giap. Giap 
was exercised with the French ill faith over Cochinchina.31 Soviet inter-
est in Indo-China had strengthened with the arrival of a Russian
mission in Saigon to repatriate 320 Russians who had been serving 
in the French Foreign Legion.32 In November Meiklereid dined with
D’Argenlieu in Phnom Penh. D’Argenlieu raised the spectre of commu-
nist influence in Southeast Asia and ‘its effect on the French relations
with the Viet Nam Government’. By doing so D’Argenlieu had labelled
Ho a communist. Meiklereid still regarded Ho as a moderate, keeping
the extremists in the DRVN in check; he predicted that should Ho be
‘ousted the possibility of any form of lasting agreement will become
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increasingly precarious’.33 However, Meiklereid thought that a French
agreement with DRVN was now impossible.34 As tension on the ground
mounted, the Chinese Embassy in London proposed Anglo-Chinese
negotiations to avoid a conflict.35 The Foreign Office discussed the
question with the US Embassy but concluded that no ‘useful purpose
would be served by intervening’. Allen noted ‘as the Chinese must be
aware, the French are notoriously sensitive to intervention from
outside in their affairs, and such intervention is liable to produce prej-
udicial and unsatisfactory results’.36 Nevertheless a week later, after 
the Vietminh uprising in the north, the Chinese again broached 
the prospect of Anglo-Chinese representations to stop the conflict. The
view from the Foreign Office was that it was ‘not … wise to intervene
at the moment’.37 A similar approach to the State Department a week
later was also rejected.38

Meiklereid failed to observe that the Vietminh had not been idle
while negotiations with the French remained unresolved. By December
the Vietminh had consolidated their position in the north by eliminat-
ing, both politically and militarily, the two other nationalist parties,
the Vietnam Quoc Dan Dong and the Dong Minh Hoi.39 On 
19 December the DRVN proclaimed general uprisings in Northern
Vietnam. These uprisings proved to be a debacle and the Vietminh
were forced to retreat from Hanoi and other towns in Tonkin. The
strategy for 1945–46 had been to use security and militia units for the
seizure of Hanoi and other main towns and to achieve administrative
control of the provinces. This strategy had failed because there were
inadequate military forces to counter French actions. This led to a
greater willingness to adopt the ‘Maoist’ strategy of using guerrilla
forces to control the countryside first and then move into the towns.
The French were in the military ascendancy. Would this be the oppor-
tunity to pressure Ho into a settlement? It seemed not. French strategy
had changed. They had now identified a possible indigenous political
alternative to Ho, ‘the reinstallation of the Emperor Bao Dai’.40

The US offered to assist the French over the crisis. Acheson proposed
that France raise the conflict in the UN, with the US assisting France to
adjudicate issues.41 John Carter Vincent, Director of the Office of Far
Eastern Affairs for the State Department, sent a memorandum to
Acheson stating that France lacked the strength to recapture Indo-
China. The government in Paris was weak and divided; it lacked 
public support. Vincent believed that the guerrilla war could go on
indefinitely, and US uneasiness about the communist nature of the
Vietminh persisted.42 France rejected the US offer.43 The US Division of
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Southeast Asian Affairs felt that the ‘US was being put in an increas-
ingly difficult position by the French’. On 7 January 1947 Moffat, in
Bangkok, reported to Washington that he regarded that the Soviets
were not yet directly active in Southeast Asia. In revision of his
December report he predicted, due to French actions, that the only
solution in Vietnam was independence.44 He concluded that the only
alternative was ‘a gigantic armed colonial camp’.45

Britain was preoccupied with the establishment of machinery for
Burmese independence.46 Dening, promoted to Assistant Under-
Secretary of State at the Foreign Office, expressed his ‘uneasiness’ about
the consequences of the Indo-China crisis on Burma. He warned of

repercussions in India and Burma … and awkward questions in
Parliament and we shall be torn between the obvious need to main-
tain close friendship with France in Europe and the equal necessity
in our weak economic and military position in S.E. Asia, to avoid
taking sides in a racial conflict against the nationalist movements of
that area.

In the meantime there is nothing we can do.47

Allen went to Indo-China on a six day mission to discuss the situation in
the north with D’Argenlieu. The High Commissioner appeared to revoke
the legitimacy of the Ho-Sainteny Agreement: he admitted that ‘the
French had only signed the March 1946 Agreement with Viet Nam
under pressure from the Chinese’.48 It transpired that the French author-
ities would ‘resume negotiations as soon as the current military phase is
over but not (repeat not) with Ho Chi Minh’.49 D’Argenlieu attempted to
isolate the DRVN and asked all foreign consuls to cease contact with the
Vietminh.50 Although Britain agreed to D’Argenlieu’s request, communi-
cation was kept open with the DRVN as the British Consul in Hanoi,
Arthur Trevor-Wilson, continued to meet with the Vietminh along with
the Red Cross to negotiate for the release of hostages.51 Bevin informed
Attlee ‘the outcome of the Indo-China situation is difficult to foresee but
we are unlikely to be able to influence it’.52

The US Ambassador in London was asked for the British assessment
of the situation.53 The new Secretary of State, General Marshall, agreed
with Britain’s position. In a statement to the US Embassy in Paris,
Marshall accepted French sovereignty in Indo-China but was critical of
the French colonial outlook. He expressed concern at the communist
nature of the DRVN but concluded ‘frankly we have no solution of
[the] problem to suggest’.54 However US global policy had entered a
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new phase. On 5 March Acheson noted it would be important to study
regions of the world where technical and military assistance might be
required.55 Seven days later the President announced the ‘Truman
Doctrine’. This was ‘the political embodiment of containment’, ‘to
support free peoples who are resisting attempted subjugation by armed
forces or outside pressures’.56 Military and economic assistance was
offered to Greece and Turkey, although in order to placate Congress
Acheson explained to the Foreign Relations Committee that this did
not set a precedent for intervention elsewhere and that all future
requests would be assessed individually.57

The Foreign Office remained worried about the situation in Indo-
China. It was concerned that France was losing control and saw no
prospect for a settlement.58 From Singapore Killearn cautioned

it is not always easy to say where nationalism ends and communism
begins, and if we are trying to back the one and not the other, we
may sometimes find that we are backing a horse from the wrong
stable. The fact is that these are restless days, and whatever labels
one attaches to the various movements, they all spring much from
the same soil and much the same seeds.59

The removal of D’Argenlieu prompted Foreign Office speculation that
the appointment of a new High Commissioner might lead to a resump-
tion in negotiations with Ho.60 Trevor-Wilson suggested that by the
autumn of 1946 Ho had remained in Paris too long, thereby allowing
Giap and the extremists to plot a more radical course of action.61 The
French arrest of Ho’s representative in Paris and his extradition to
Indo-China to face trial hardly indicated a lowering of tensions for a
resumption of Franco-DRVN negotiations.62

In May, ironically, Paul Coste Floret, French Minister for War, stated
that ‘there is no military problem anymore in Indo-China … the success
of French arms is complete’.63 Both the Laotian and Cambodian consti-
tutions were promulgated. D’Argenlieu had been replaced as High
Commissioner by Emile Bollaert but Reed noted that Bollaert had no
confidence in Ho or DRVN negotiations and that it was impossible to
identify anyone else to negotiate with.64 In Hanoi Trevor-Wilson contin-
ued to meet with the DRVN Foreign Minister to discuss humanitarian
issues.65 The State Department issued guidance to US diplomats: 

Key [to] our position is our awareness that in respect [of] develop-
ments affecting [the] position [of] Western democratic powers in
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Southern Asia, we [are] essentially in [the] same boat as [the] French,
[and] also as [the] British and Dutch. We cannot conceive setbacks
to [the] long-range French interests [of] France which would not
also be setbacks [of] our own.66

Indo-China was being measured in terms of US-French relations and
Washington’s desire for France to be restored as an important link in
European security.67

During the second half of 1947 US concern about the international
threat of communism began to escalate. Russia had become increas-
ingly isolated and the big three co-operation of the Second World War
had broken down.68 This was to develop into the 1950s under the
crude assertion that the US was protecting the free world against a con-
spiracy from Moscow and later Peking. In July US Lt.-General
Chamberlain published a paper ‘Positive US Action Required to Restore
“Normal” Conditions in Southeast Asia’.69 The State Department began
to consider the scenario of a Vietminh controlled government for
Vietnam and asked its Consuls in Saigon and Hanoi to consider its
implications.70 Guillaton, the French Indo-China Economic Adviser,
arrived in Singapore for talks with Killearn and relayed the deteriora-
tion of the past couple of months. Unfortunately Guillaton saw no
hope of the situation changing. He believed that ‘D’Argenlieu had
been mistakenly hard’ and that ‘some sort of arrangement must sooner
or later be made with the inhabitants’.71 Killearn cautioned the Foreign
Office that the Vietminh were communist-inspired nationalists and
that in October 1946 Colonel Dubrovin had led a mission from Russia
to Indo-China.72

Sensing the change in the international political climate, Ho again
held an olive branch aloft. The DRVN Cabinet reshuffle that he enacted
appeared to eliminate some of the more extreme members and posi-
tioned himself ‘midway between the Mao of the Long March and
Gandhi at the spinning wheel’.73 Analysis at the Foreign Office was
divided, ‘It has always been a moot point how far Ho Chi Minh himself
is actually working to the Kremlin line’.74 The State Department was
equally confused. The US Embassy in London approached the Foreign
Office for their interpretation of ‘Ho Chi Minh and communism in
French Indo-China’.75 The Foreign Office Minister Hector McNeil met
with Kennan of the State Department. The US was ‘embarrassed by the
failure of the French … to come to an understanding with the nationalist
movements in … Indo-China’. If the Bao Dai solution was a success and
Indo-China was ‘threatened by a communist China’ the crisis could be
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taken to the UN where Kennan stated ‘Indo-China could count upon full
American support’. However, the US was suspicious of French motives
for advocating support for Bao Dai. ‘The Americans wanted to be quite
sure that the French really meant to play the same game, and not if Bao
Dai was successful, to attempt to restore complete colonial French rule
through Bao Dai. The Americans could support Indo-China but they
could not support French colonialism’. McNeil was left with the impres-
sion that the ‘Americans expect the United Kingdom to take the lead in
this region’.76 The French Representative on the UN Security Council was
instructed to veto the Council’s intervention in Indonesia, for fear of a
precedent being established that could in the future challenge their
authority in Indo-China.77

In contrast to Stalin’s policy of 1945–47 that concentrated on the
West, Soviet attention began to focus on the nationalist struggles of
indigenous colonial people. E.M. Zhukov wrote in Pravda that ‘only
Leninism offers a solution of the national colonial problem’.78 In
September the political confrontation increased when in a speech to
launch the Communist Information Bureau Andrei Zhdanov
expounded the two camp thesis. This assumed a new post-war align-
ment of political forces into the ‘imperialist anti-democratic camp’
and the ‘anti-imperialist democratic camp’. Vietnam was associated
with the second camp led by Russia which advocated the need for a
continuing world revolution.79 The US Army Staff Plans and
Operations Division paper ‘Current Situation in Indo-China’ pre-
dicted that a communist victory in China would strengthen the
Vietminh and bring them under the influence of a communist
China.80 Ironically, in the same month the DRVN began to purchase
arms from the Chinese communists.81

By the close of 1947 France appeared to have established a two tier
Indo-Chinese policy. Both Cambodia and Laos had evolved constitu-
tionally within the French Union and had held national assembly elec-
tions, but Vietnam remained an anathema to the French.82 The First
Along Bay Agreement between France and Bao Dai was an attempt to
allow Tonkin and Annam independence within the Union under the
same terms as Cambodia and Laos. Cochinchina continued to main-
tain a separate status.83 In Bao Dai the possibility of an indigenous
nationalist alternative to Ho had whetted the French appetite. On the
international stage the Zhukov thesis was published in Russia which
applied the two camp thesis to Asia. State Department and Foreign
Office policy papers appeared united in suggesting that the DRVN
would be a communist state.84 The Foreign Office advised the British
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delegation to the UN that if the crisis in Vietnam was brought before
the Security Council ‘we should claim that the Franco-Vietnam
impasse is a domestic matter under Article 2(7) of the Charter’. 
The Foreign Office expected ‘the French to use their veto to good
purpose’.85 However, contrary to expectation, India failed to raise the
Vietnam crisis in the UN. India had anticipated France using its veto
but doubted whether the DRVN exercised de facto authority in Indo-
China. India was also preoccupied with the UN consideration of the
India-Pakistan dispute over Kashmir.86

In January 1948 Bevin cautioned the Cabinet that the Soviets aimed
‘to turn Asiatic peoples against the Western democracies and to pose as
the champion of oppressed colonial peoples’.87 The DRVN began to
establish guerrilla bases in the Chinese border areas and later in areas not
reoccupied by the French. On the international stage the World
Federation of Democratic Youth Conference in Calcutta discussed con-
certed communist plans for Asia. In Europe a pro-Soviet government
took over in Czechoslovakia. Against the rising international tension Ho
demonstrated a deft understanding of realpolitik with a show of openness
and goodwill by inviting US observers to his camp; the US considered
sending a Chinese agent.88 British activity appeared to be limited to
observation and a ‘flying the flag’ gesture of support for the French. The
British Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific fleet visited Saigon in his
flagship accompanied by three destroyers and one sloop.89

Meanwhile Bao Dai appeared to undermine the faith that the French
had placed in him as an amiable alternative to Ho. Bollaert attempted
to conclude an agreement with Bao Dai who suddenly embarked for a
tour of Europe. Philippe Baudet, Chief of the Asia-Oceania Section of
the French Foreign Ministry visited London and complained to Dening
that ‘Bao Dai is a poor tool for the French to use; unfortunately, he
[Baudet] said, they have no other’.90 Perhaps Bao Dai sensed that he was
negotiating from a position of strength or of a fear not to be seen as a
puppet and an object of popular scorn. The European tour appeared to
represent an opportunity to wring further concessions from the French
that would strengthen his nationalist credentials. In London he chal-
lenged the separation of Cochinchina from Annam and Tonkin with 
a declaration for the ‘unity and independence of the Viet-Nam coun-
tries, within the French “community”’. He called for the new state of
Vietnam to be accorded a constitution similar in status to that of a
British Dominion.91 Applying further pressure to the French he admit-
ted ‘that at present he has no real locus standi and does not represent
officially anyone but himself’.92 Bao Dai seemed to be advocating the
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need for a constituent assembly to legitimise his position. The French,
however, ‘appear[ed] to be in no hurry’ to resolve the issue.93

Killearn visited Saigon where he was briefed by the new Consul-
General Frank Gibbs as to the ‘extraordinary situation [of siege] which
prevails’ every night with ‘opposition’ mortar and rifle fire which
Killearn noted sardonically as being ‘all extremely jolly’. In conversa-
tion with Bollaert, Killearn discovered that the High Commissioner did
not think highly of Bao Dai but that ‘there was no one else to back’. 
In conclusion ‘Bollaert made no bones about it that the situation 
with which the French are faced is excessively difficult, and he added
wryly that it was made none the easier by the repeated intervention 
of politicians from Paris’.94 Killearn cautioned Bevin that the French
inclination was ‘to lump together under the term “communists” all
those – whether communists, nationalists, or merely bad hats – who
actively oppose colonial rule’. He judged 

that if you suppress a nationalist severely enough you will find him
tending towards communism because it is the communists who
have consistently supported nationalist movements in dependent
territories. And it is also true that once a nationalist movement is
outlawed or driven underground it is usually the communists who
gain control owing to their great experience and efficiency in clan-
destine organisations.95

In March the international tension continued to escalate. The Brussels
Treaty was signed advocating European co-operation in the face of 
the feared Soviet threat. Burma, having achieved independence from
Britain in January, experienced communist uprisings. The US Congress
approved $4 billion funds for Marshall Aid. Butterworth, at the State
Department, invited H.A. Graves of the British Embassy in Washington
to discuss the Foreign Office assessment of the Indo-China situation.96

R.C. Mackworth Young advised: ‘If Ho Chi Minh gains the upper hand
it will be a great triumph for communism throughout S.E. Asia. I there-
fore suggest it would be best to paint the picture as black as possible
to the Americans’.97 Meanwhile the Vietminh regained the territory
that they had lost to the French in the autumn of 1947.98 Chinese
Communist Party Radio North Shensi hailed the heroic fighting of the
Vietminh and implied their support.99 From Singapore, P.S. Scrivener
observed the futility of the situation and ‘the persistence … of 
the French in cracking their heads against a sort of military brick
wall’.100
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The Cambodian-Siamese border dispute

Any optimism in managing to untangle Britain from the Cambodian-
Siamese border dispute soon proved to be unfounded. The Siamese
political situation remained delicate. One government had just fallen
and the endurance of its successor could be undermined by any loss of
prestige in negotiations with Indo-China. The export of Siamese rice
was important to the stability of the region. Political instability could
threaten such exports and affect the famine conditions in British terri-
tories and the region.101

On 1 May, Killearn had separate talks with the new Siamese Prime
Minister and Foreign Minister during a trip to Bangkok to discuss the
disputed provinces. The Prime Minister, Dr Pridi Banomyong, was frus-
trated that the delegates he had sent to Saigon had returned without
making an agreement with the French. In a moment of historical revi-
sionism, he expressed his grievance that the French had forgotten the
complacency of the Vichy regime that had allowed Siam to be ‘over-
run’ by the Japanese. Pridi pressed Killearn that the Siamese were being
most amicable in the negotiations. He went on to suggest three solu-
tions to the current impasse: referral to the UN, a plebiscite, or Siamese
purchase of the provinces. Not surprisingly, these suggestions had
already been rejected by Paris. However, the Siamese were eager for
some kind of solution that would preserve Siamese prestige and avoid
any implication of submitting to France. Killearn empathised with
Pridi and reiterated the British Government’s preference for a return to
the pre-war frontier: ‘It was pretty clear to me that what the little man
was fishing for was that we should come in as honest broker and think
out a formula acceptable to both sides’.102 The situation remained
unresolved.

Border incidents between Cambodia and Siam continued to plague
the political situation. Pridi protested to the British Minister in
Bangkok that on the 24 and 26 May large numbers of French troops
had crossed the Mekong and engaged Siamese forces.103 French Captain
Leschuiton arrived in Singapore from Saigon and along with two other
officials called on Killearn. They used the meeting to emphasise
France’s legitimate stance regarding the dispute. Killearn professed
ignorance of the situation, as he was still awaiting the report, but
believed Siam to be passing the matter to the UN. The French delega-
tion reiterated that the incidents were of ‘a small police matter’ and
that the Siamese had little real control in the disputed areas. The tone
of the encounter troubled Killearn and he noted in his diary with
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suspicion: ‘there was nothing really novel in all of this but I thought it
as well to record it as one never knows what one may be quoted as
having said’.104 The Siamese Government instructed its representative
in Washington to report the encroachments to the Secretary General of
the UN, along with an earlier report of French bombardment.105

Meanwhile, the French Ambassador in London, Massigli, protested to
the British Government that France had used ‘exemplary patience’
towards Siam. He requested that both the British and US governments
make representations in Bangkok about the dispute.106 However, the
British Government considered that the French attacks had damaged
the credibility of France’s cause, but reflected that faults existed on
both sides. To prevent escalation, British and US observers were sent to
the French side of the border to monitor the situation. US and British
ministers in Bangkok urged Siam to cede the disputed provinces.107

Britain cautioned Siam that France was now likely to block its applica-
tion to join the UN.108

On 9 August, the State Department informed the British Embassy in
Washington that the US had reached an understanding with the
French concerning the disputed provinces and would now try to secure
a settlement with the Siamese. The US even professed a willingness to
be accepted as interim administrator of the provinces in order to
achieve an acceptable solution to the dispute. Washington urged the
Siamese to accept the US-brokered French proposals that: damage pay-
ments from Siam to France would be arbitrated by the International
Court; the US would be accepted as an interim administrator with
Cambodian, Laotian, French and Siamese local help; that, if Siam
agreed to the first two proposals, then France would end the state of
war and not block Siamese entry into the UN; finally, Siam would
withdraw its complaint over the dispute to the Security Council.109

On 12 August, the French representatives to the regional liaison
meeting at Singapore, Clarac, Guillaton and Gaudin, dined with
Killearn and Meiklereid. Clarac, eager to give the French version of
events, raised the question of the Siamese dispute. He believed that
there was some prospect of the issue being settled in bi-lateral discus-
sions at the UN.110 Three days later Clarac called upon Killearn and
expressed his concern at the US pre-occupation with Siam, nationalism
in China and Southeast Asia. Killearn deduced that Clarac feared US
interest would not leave France ‘a free hand in French Indo-China’.
Clarac revised his opinion from their previous meeting and now felt
that the Siamese dispute had been neglected by Paris and that the
dispute would be better resolved ‘off stage’, away from the UN. Killearn
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agreed with Clarac’s sentiments and shared the Siamese request for a
way out of the dispute which would not damage their prestige. He
emphasised to Clarac the grave implications of the dispute regionally
and that it could prejudice the export of rice from Siam. Clarac con-
curred and noted that the disputed territories were ‘the richest [rice]
provinces of French Indo-China’.111

Confidential discussions began in Washington on 27 August
between France and Siam. The French were only prepared to negotiate
minor border changes, but the Siamese delegation wanted greater terri-
torial concessions. The French delegation suspended the negotiations
in order to consult with Paris.112 In the meantime, on 9–10 August, 500
Cambodian and Vietnamese rebels, allegedly accompanied by small
numbers of Siamese, attacked Siem Reap and took up positions in
Angkor Wat, a twelfth century temple and the symbol of Cambodian
statehood and society. French paratroopers were deployed and a fierce
battle ensued.113 Following the incident the French Government with-
drew from negotiations and ‘asked the US Government to regard their
good offices as suspended’.114 British intelligence in Bangkok reported
that the French were prepared to resort to force to retrieve the
provinces.115 D’Argenlieu requested that all observers in the disputed
provinces be withdrawn to Bangkok.116

As the situation deteriorated, Thompson warned the Foreign Office
that the French appeared willing to play the British and the US against
each other because of their misplaced idea of Anglo-US rivalry in Siam.
He suggested that French co-operation with Britain could be more
advantageous to the French, as military action might prove to be
unproductive in Washington. Thompson urged the Foreign Office to
ask the Consul-General in Saigon to speak to Clarac in an effort to
relieve the situation.117 Meiklereid met with Clarac on 2 September and
emphasised that there was no Anglo-US rivalry over Siam. He relieved
the tension in London stating that ‘there are no indications here that
France are still contemplating having recourse to arms over the
dispute’.118 In October, the Cabinet considered a report from Siam.
Although the report indicated that the general information from Siam
was good, as the dispute now rested with the UN, it warned that ‘in
some quarters’ there was unease that the French could attack during
the forthcoming dry season. The report concluded that, given the poor
state of the Siamese forces, it was feared that the French would use the
opportunity to gain additional territory.119 Reluctant to become
involved, the government continued to view the dispute from a dis-
tance with unease.
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In November, negotiations began again in an attempt to resolve the
dispute. The French, in an effort to relieve the tension, requested that
British observers remained on the disputed border even after the
remainder of ALF troops had been withdrawn from Siam.120 The British
COS had no objection to the proposal, but the Foreign Office reflected
that, if time permitted, observers should be withdrawn and only used
to monitor the situation if an actual transfer of territory took place.121

SEAC decided to withdraw the British observers as their safety could
not be guaranteed, and their withdrawal would not have any negative
military implications. SEAC advised that any proposed return for a ter-
ritorial transfer would have to be decided upon at a later date.122 The
COS agreed with SEAC and informed the Foreign Office.123 It was
arranged that British staff in the disputed provinces would be with-
drawn from Battambang on 18 November. However, although the
British observers were removed, British plans were superseded by the
completion of successful negotiations between Siam and Indo-China.
On 17 November, a Franco-Siamese treaty was signed regarding the
return of the disputed provinces and the French requested interna-
tional observers to monitor the territory transfer. The US agreed to
send some officers as observers and planned to have them arrive in
Battambang on 24 November.124 Mountbatten was ordered to send
British officers urgently as observers despite no escort guard being
available. British officers were dispatched, and monitored the transfer
of the provinces.125

Rice, relief and regionalism

During 1946–48 Britain was moving towards the decolonisation of
India and Burma; any unrest in Indo-China could have repercussions
for this policy. The Government of India regarded Southeast Asia as an
area that could purchase Indian manufactured goods, also as a supplier
of raw materials (iron ore, coal and rubber) and rice to feed the
growing Indian population.126 In particular, Killearn and the British
Viceroy in India, Field Marshal Viscount Wavell, were concerned at the
lack of rice exports from Indo-China. Similarly, control of the supply of
rice was used as a strategy by the Vietminh to bring pressure upon the
French and other colonial nations to resolve the ‘nationalist’ struggle
in Indo-China. Killearn was worried not just by the regional economic
effects of the conflict in Indo-China but also by the growth of US pur-
chasing power and economic imperialism within traditional European
colonial spheres. The US would later press for Indo-Chinese and other
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Southeast Asian raw materials to be used in the reconstruction of
Japan.127 This was something that would upset traditional economic
relationships, as the European nations required the raw materials to
finance their own post-war reconstruction; they also needed to market
their manufactured goods in Southeast Asia. In addition Killearn was
concerned with the regional growth of nationalism and communism,
although it was British Government policy to leave the responsibility
for local disputes to the individual European nations concerned.128

British co-ordination of colonial policy and defence rested with the
Governor-General Malcolm MacDonald. Finally, Killearn warned the
Foreign Office of the potential danger that faced Southeast Asia from
its large indigenous Chinese population who formed the only real
middle and mercantile class in a number of the colonies, and had tight
kinship ties, community and identity.129 This group could become
politically aware, restless and disruptive either with its own nationalist
ambitions or, as the communist victory in China became more 
likely, part of Chinese communist state-sponsored indigenous world
revolution.

The food situation in Southeast Asia remained perilous throughout
1946. Killearn in Singapore assumed SEAC’s responsibility for the 
distribution and shipment of rice, food production and procurement,
allocation and distribution of coal, currency and financial matters,
imports and exports.130 Although Killearn had no actual authority over
non-British territories his role involved regional liaison and consulta-
tion about regional problems.131 At the March Food Conference in
Singapore the food shortages were regarded with the ‘gravest anxiety’;
the gravity of the world-wide deficit was estimated at 3 million tons for
1946.132 In London at a Cabinet World Food Supply Meeting Lord
Nathan, the Under-Secretary of State for the War Office, predicted that
no exportable rice surplus would be available from Indo-China for
1946 thereby increasing food supply problems. He hoped that it would
be possible for experts to visit Indo-China and encourage similar steps
to those taken by Burma and Siam to improve food production.133 All
the British territories in Southeast Asia remained short of food supplies;
it was calculated that Burma, Hong Kong, Malaya, and North Borneo
required a minimum of 156,000 tons of rice and wheat, but only
136,000 tons could be allocated.134 No exports from Indo-China
appeared forthcoming and the French were asking for the loan of ten
tugs and 50 three-ton lorries in order to facilitate any possibility of
their allocated export of 100,000 tons of rice to other areas.135 A British
expert was employed by the French Government to survey the rice
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milling situation in Indo-China, and Britain was already exporting
spare parts and machinery to restore this production capacity.136

The March Food Conference considered sending consumer goods to
Indo-China to encourage old rice stocks to be put on the market for
export but Lt.-Colonel Kirkwood, SACSEA Interservice Mission
Representative to French Indo-China, did not consider this a relevant
strategy.137 He believed that the political difficulties of the French were
not appreciated by the conference.138 The unrest meant that it was not
possible for the French to survey conditions in the interior, and there-
fore no accurate statistics could be produced.139 Kirkwood stressed that
the famine situation in Northern Indo-China continued, with April
and May predicted as the danger months. Rice could not be exported
from the south to the north until June, but in contrast to the equip-
ment needed for international rice export ‘the French were not asking
for any help’.140 The conference concluded that due to the political 
situations in Siam and Indo-China it would be unjustified even to offer
the assistance of an aerial survey.141 Meanwhile French demands for
transportation assistance increased to 12 tugs and 350 vehicles.142

Curiously Meiklereid, in a visit to Northern Indo-China, failed to
observe any of the pessimistic famine reports that the French had
issued and noted that the locals had indicated increased production of
rice, maize and potatoes.143 The Economic Intelligence Section at
SACSEA headquarters suggested that the goodwill achieved by Britain
with the French during the reoccupation should be used to secure ‘an
open door’ trade treaty with Indo-China granting Britain ‘most
favoured nation status’.144 However, the British delegate at preliminary
International Trade Organisation talks in Paris concluded that the
French ‘would not lightly abandon their “imperial preference”’.145

At the close of the April Food Conference Killearn met in Singapore
with Mountbatten, the British Colonial Governors, the Consul-General
in Saigon and a representative of the British Legation in Siam for an
informal review of foreign policy and other matters. Killearn outlined
the importance of Southeast Asia and discussed the need of ‘carrying the
Dutch, the French, and Siamese along with us … and hope of, general
collaboration with the United States’. The discussion also touched on
China and the traditional fear of the large indigenous Chinese popula-
tions in the region, who through ‘Chinese law and tradition remain
Chinese nationals’.146 Killearn invited representatives from Indo-China,
the Netherlands East Indies and Siam to a May technical conference of
nutritionists and medical personnel in Singapore.147 He lobbied also for a
greater area of Indo-China to be put under food cultivation.148 Therefore,
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the situation in May appeared to be in remission, especially as Indo-
China had tentatively offered 16,000 tons of rice for the current quarter,
of which over 5000 tons had already been promised and reserved.149 At
the April Food Conference Guillaton offered a further 50,000 tons for the
second half of 1946.150 However, any optimism that an Indo-Chinese
contribution to the regional or world food shortages would be forthcom-
ing soon evaporated. The Cabinet noted that the provisional allocation
from Indo-China for July of 10,000 tons was ‘conjectural’ and ‘that the
prospects are deteriorating’.151 It was observed that the situation was
further complicated by the French who had ‘not yet agreed to the princi-
ple of pooling rice for distribution to the territories under IEFC pro-
cedure on the grounds that their first responsibility is toward their own
territories’. Both Killearn and the US were concerned with the disparity
in rice prices that had arisen. The price from Burma was £28 per ton,
Indo-China £31 per ton and Siam £12.14 per ton, and it was feared that
Siam would stockpile rice to inflate its price closer to parity with Burma
and Indo-China.152 Killearn met informally with French Admiral
Aboyneau who agreed ‘the need of some form of mutual consolidation
and get-together’.153

The British Consul-General in Saigon was unable to confirm the
availability of the 10,000 tons of rice already promised by the
French.154 The French withdrew their representatives from the July
liaison officers meeting, Meiklereid felt that this was because they were
unhappy over the allocation figures and did not want to have to
commit themselves at the meeting.155 To assist with rice exports from
Indo-China five tugs were transferred from New Delhi.156 Due to the
uncertainty of Indo-Chinese supplies Killearn advised the Foreign
Office that Indo-China could not be considered as part of the Southeast
Asia pool for ‘pro-rata entitlement’.157 Killearn consulted the Australian
Representative in Singapore, Massey, who approved the idea for a
regional international committee at Singapore to discuss mutual prob-
lems.158 However, D’Argenlieu prevented any further French presence
at liaison meetings, insisting that no instructions had been issued from
Paris.159 Whilst Killearn sought permission from London to arrange
exports directly from Indo-China to Hong Kong and other Southeast
Asia areas without referring such negotiations to London or
Washington under existing food control procedures, British officials
continued to meet with French officials to discuss other issues such as
the export of coal from Indo-China.160

The situation continued to deteriorate. In August, Malaya rice stocks
were exhausted. Reports from Indo-China indicated that the French
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were prepared to export 65,000 tons instead of the 20,000 tons already
planned under the IEFC, but with no firm promise for the fourth
quarter the rice situation continued to be perilous.161 The death of the
Siamese King in July and the Good Offices Committee Netherlands
East Indies decision not to export from Java occurred at the same time
as the French attitude began to harden and ‘their apparent ignorance
or disagreement with the machinery of the International Emergency
Food Council resulted in drying up of rice from French Indo-China’.
Hong Kong had been without rice for two weeks and Ceylon was
without flour.162 In a renewed effort to exact co-ordination Killearn
contacted D’Argenlieu, and the High Commissioner agreed to send
Clarac and Guillaton to the monthly Food Liaison Officers Conference
at Singapore. In conversation with Clarac, Killearn expressed a desire to
expand economic collaboration from food to include nutrition and
public health, and he encouraged ‘regional collaboration and consulta-
tion’.163 D’Argenlieu referred the proposal to Paris.164 Killearn believed
that the concept of regional collaboration went further than food and
other humanitarian issues. He hoped to attract eventually Siam, Indo-
China and the Netherlands East Indies ‘into collaboration with Britain
in defence matters’.165 Killearn desired that Clarac and Guillaton would
prove more amiable than previous French officials, whom he described
as ‘stubborn’.166 Nevertheless, he maintained doubts about the quality
of the French officials. In September Killearn was disappointed with
the arrival of Dimitrescu from French Indo-China to further discuss
rice issues: ‘he seemed an unimpressive petty official with little author-
ity in him’.167

Despite the supply problems and the contradictory grand gestures of
large scale rice exports, Indo-China only managed to export 5000 tons
to India in September.168 Michael Wright, from Killearn’s staff, visited
Saigon, and the French asked for the return of frozen Indo-Chinese 
war credits in Malaya and Hong Kong, 2000 tons of bunker coal and
1200 tons of flour. In return D’Argenlieu promised to supply 8000 tons
of rice. Wright pressed D’Argenlieu over the grave rice situation in
Southeast Asia: ‘I told him shortage had now reached a point where
labour troubles and civil unrest were in the offing at the very moment
when political problems were so delicate themselves’. D’Argenlieu
offered to talk such matters over with his economic experts and then
have further discussions. He noted ‘the impact of the famine on the
political situation’ and concluded that ‘communism was after all the
greatest danger and failure to improve material conditions would play
straight into the hands of the communists’.169 At the same time British
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fears of Chinese subversion were expedited by the influx of Chinese
immigrants, containing some communist party members, into Laos 
en route to Malaya and Siam.170

Indo-China remained unable to supply the 10,000 tons of rice
planned for October, and already the third quarter exports looked
doubtful apart from the initial quantity being loaded for release.171

A general strike in Burma heightened Southeast Asia rice supply and
famine fears for Killearn in Singapore.172 The subsequent supply of
11,000 tons of rice from Indo-China to Malaya in October was there-
fore regarded as something of a windfall.173 In an attempt to aid further
shipments of rice a sub-committee of the Food Liaison Conference 
was set up in Colombo with all the nations represented.174 D’Argenlieu
praised the ‘continued comprehensive collaboration with British
authorities in India, Hong Kong and Singapore with particular
reference to Lord Killearn on the international regional plane’.175

Meiklereid dined with D’Argenlieu in November in Phnom Penh.
D’Argenlieu expressed interest in how Britain was coping with similar
problems in Burma and Malaya. He pressed for co-operation against
the common enemy, communism. Meiklereid replied that Britain was
alive to the threat and that both Killearn and Wright had already
emphasised the advantages of co-operation to D’Argenlieu, in working
and planning on a regional level as circumstances permitted.176 

Despite their unproductive track record the French proposed to
export 200,000 tons of rice from Indo-China, of which 100,000 tons
would be available in January or February 1947.177 But again the
French promises proved hollow, as the political situation in Indo-
China continued to hamper the export of rice. In January 1947
Meiklereid reported that the situation in Cochinchina had deteriorated
further, as an attempt by the Vietnamese to surround Saigon had led to
a decline in food supplies.178 Bevin advised Attlee of the political situa-
tion in Burma, Indo-China and Siam from where it was hoped to
produce three quarters of the total world supplies of rice during the
first half of 1947.179 The economic outlook for Indo-China remained
dire. The retail price of rice had doubled over the course of 1946 and
trebled between February 1946 and February 1948.180 Prices in Phnom
Penh increased by 58% in 1947 but receded marginally at the begin-
ning of 1948.181 Rubber production in 1947 reached 38,000 tons – 60%
of the 1938 total; coal mined was 250,000 tons – 11% of the 1938
total; and cement produced was 40,000 tons – 15% of the 1938 total.
Therefore, the balance of trade deficit increased from 154 million
Piastres for January–June 1947 to 350 million Piastres for
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July–December and 434 million Piastres for January–June 1948. Indo-
China imported 39,000 tons of goods at 214 million Piastres from
January to June 1948. The pre-war average was 40,000 tons but exports
from Indo-China were only 44,000 tons, compared with a pre-war
average of 322,000 tons. The main imports were from France 50%, 
US 20%, and China 20%; the main exports were to France 30%, the
French Union 17% and importantly, for Britain, Hong Kong and
Singapore 11% each.182

The French thought that they had done their best to provide food
for Southeast Asia; now they decided that the situation in French
colonies on the West African coast was more desperate.183 Moffat
visited Killearn in Singapore and agreed about the need to construct
‘some sort of regional arrangement in Southeast Asia’.184 In the first
seven weeks of 1947 Hong Kong received only 7700 tons instead of the
planned 21,000 tons and prices increased rapidly. It continued to be a
poor year for rice exports from Indo-China and the total exported
tonnage decreased by 54,983 tons from 1946.185 Meiklereid reported
that an aerial survey of the two provinces returned to Indo-China from
Siam indicated a dearth of rice acreage sown. It was predicted that
‘normal’ levels of production could not be attained before 1951.186 This
must have been a grave disappointment for Killearn who nevertheless
continued to try to work with and aid Indo-China. The French Consul-
General in Singapore, Guibant, proposed that Killearn approach Indo-
China to assist with the problem of coal shortages.187 Between 23 April
and 8 May, Haywood of Killearn’s staff travelled to Indo-China to
discuss coal policy with Guillaton.188 However, as with the issue of rice,
the question of coal proved complicated due to a coke shortage in
Indo-China. Killearn again demonstrated his patience and generosity
by making emergency arrangements for the export of 75 tons of coke
from ‘very limited Singapore stocks’, and 100 tons from Calcutta to
‘prevent a complete stoppage of industry in French Indo-China’. Yet
when the Malaya smelting industry was faced with a severe shortage of
anthracite, due to the failure of Indo-China to export any supplies,
Malaya was forced to source stock from the US.189 

The Indian Council for World Affairs organised an inter-Asian rela-
tions conference for the last week in March and first week of April to
discuss national freedom movements and post-colonial develop-
ment.190 Dr H.V. Evatt, Australian Minister for External Affairs, had
already pressed for ‘a sort of Southeast Asia Commission’.191 Wright
proposed to Dening to expand Anglo-French collaboration on tech-
nical issues, social welfare, food, exchange of experts, items of com-
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mon interest and relations between Indo-China and Malaya. But
Wright cautioned that it was important not to give the ‘impression of a
policy of “Southeast Asia for Europeans”. So long as there is no agree-
ment between the French and the Asiatics in Indo-China we must put
each foot down warily’.192 In the meantime Killearn forewarned that
the communist nature of the DRVN leaders was of concern to British
territories and that Britain should avoid being seen as supporting a
French imperial policy ‘which we ourselves have renounced else-
where’.193 Dening was not forthcoming with a reply. He was cautious
of the proposal due to the nervousness of British territories regarding
actions which could be viewed by nationalists as politically significant.
He therefore suggested that co-operation should remain at the current
level unless the French were able to achieve a political settlement. As
the French previously had approached Britain on this issue Dening
advised: ‘I think we must aim at maintaining the cordiality with-
out committing ourselves to anything specific’.194 The Foreign Office
pressed the Colonial Office for all the British colonial territories 
in Southeast Asia to harmonise their policies towards their various
Chinese communities.195 Killearn was left to reflect upon his relation-
ship with the French, ‘there is something very attractive about nice
French people. When they are bad they are horrid, but when they are
really nice they are superlatively so, and so intelligent’.196

Military aid

A proportion of the equipment that was used by the French in Indo-
China had been supplied by Britain, thus the resupply of this equip-
ment and other military issues in Indo-China continued to concern
the British. The Interservice Mission attached to the British Consulate
had been temporarily responsible for various transfer duties when
Indo-China had left SEAC, and Britain had intended to maintain a
staging post in Saigon for use on the main air traffic routes to Hong
Kong and Japan.197 It was intended to replace the Interservice
Mission by a small interservice body attached to the Consul-General’s
staff.198 In the meantime, a number of Indian transportation units
remained in Saigon to assist the French with dock operations and
maintenance. These units were withdrawn during April 1946, and 
in May it was agreed that the Interservice Mission would be scaled
down with the removal of RAF staff and the disbanding of the air
section, although a RAF staging post remained at Saigon, operated by
330 RAF personnel.199
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During June Britain supplied two hospital ships to evacuate French
women and children from Saigon; in July the French requested more
hospital evacuation ships from Britain. Lt.-Commander Williams noted
that in the two ships already supplied, the percentage of actual sick
had been very low and that there were only five stretcher cases in
total.200 Killearn advised D’Argenlieu that Britain was unable to supply
further ships and suggested that he should approach the US.201 Mean-
while, Dr Thinh of the Cochinchina Government asked Meiklereid 
if Britain could assist in the supply of 500 rifles for each of the repub-
lic’s 20 provinces as the French were experiencing supply problems.
Meiklereid dodged the issue by referring Thinh to D’Argenlieu, via
whom the request would have to come.202

As French military operations in Indo-China progressed, France
became increasingly concerned about resupply issues. The French had
purchased aircraft from the RAF but were worried about the transfer of
US lend-lease materials such as the propellers on the purchased air-
craft.203 The British Ambassador in Washington, Lord Inverchapel,
raised the matter with the State Department. The US explained that it
would oppose the transfer of lend-lease material to Indo-China but not
the sale of war material to the French Government in Paris. Inver-
chapel advised that the French should forget the lend-lease issue and
that the aircraft should be transferred.204 In January 1947 the Governor
of Burma, Sir Hubert Rance, expressed concern at potential political
repercussions of the transit of French aircraft there en route to Indo-
China.205 The British Air Ministry, anxious to be accorded an agree-
ment to over-fly French territories to reinforce Hong Kong from
Singapore, urged Air Headquarters Burma to ensure a speedy transit of
French aircraft.206 The governments of Burma and India took a similar
position, allowing five military aircraft each way per month.207

In the meantime, the French asked the British headquarters of its
Southeast Asian Land Force in Singapore for large supplies of weapons
and ammunition. Killearn warned that if Britain supplied Indo-China
from Singapore some of the supplies would have to be sourced from
India. In order to avoid political repercussions he requested that sup-
plies be provided from Europe rather than Singapore and cautioned that
‘compliance by me with this request might well land us in extremely
deep waters’.208 In Paris the British Ambassador, Cooper, understood
Killearn’s predicament but stressed the risks attached to the French not
being able to restore control in Indo-China as soon as possible.209 Later
Cooper briefed the Foreign Office that the French were becoming
increasingly sensitive to suggestions in Burma of the raising of national-
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ist volunteers to help fight the French in Indo-China and of a dock
strike in Singapore against the loading of supplies for Indo-China.210

Suspicion had already led the French Government to complain to the
British Embassy in Paris of British and US arms being smuggled to the
Vietminh in commercial ships flying Panamanian and British flags.211

The British investigated these charges but no conclusive evidence of
these shipments could be produced, although limited arms smuggling
was occurring between Siam and Cambodia.212 A paper prepared by
Dening on Southeast Asia warned that British co-operation with Indo-
China depended on the French resolution of the conflict: ‘We must not
appear to be ganging up with Western powers against Eastern peoples
striving for independence’. Instead, the paper advised that co-operation
was to be encouraged between ‘independent or soon to be independent
Eastern peoples and Western powers who by their past experience are
best able to give them help’.213 Bevin met with Dening, Wright, Pierson
Dixon (Bevin’s Principal Private Secretary) and Sir Orme Sargent
(Permanent Under-Secretary Foreign Office) to discuss Southeast Asia.
Bevin agreed that an approach should be made to the US to request
their attendance at Defence Committee meetings in Singapore.214

Bevin briefed the Cabinet about Killearn’s concerns regarding the
supply of munitions to Indo-China from Singapore. It was feared that
if this was not agreed, this refusal along with other requests that pre-
viously had been denied might push France towards the Soviets. The
Ministry of Defence strongly supported the need to restore the French
in Indo-China. But Attlee opposed the munitions shipments from
Singapore and the meeting concluded with an agreement that Britain
would supply only munitions from Britain to metropolitan France and
that the French would be responsible for their distribution.215 Bevin
was asked in the House of Commons what British arms, equip-
ment and aeroplanes had been supplied to Indo-China in the past 
six months. Bevin replied that during the last war Britain had aided the
armed forces of its allies with military equipment including the French
forces in metropolitan France. He concluded that ‘when British forces
in French Indo-China were replaced by French forces, a certain amount
of war material was handed over to them in order to complete their
equipment’.216 The next day the French also asked Britain to supply
aviation and motor spirit to Indo-China. Britain had already agreed to
supply 4000 tons of aviation and 28,000 tons of motor spirit between
January and April 1947. The French were asking for the same rate of
delivery from May to December. The Foreign Office considered this
new request against Attlee’s munitions ruling. Gordon Whitteridge felt
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that ‘we would rather not have been asked this question’ but argued
that ‘fuel like food and water, should be available in the normal way of
commerce to all nations with whom we have normal friendly rela-
tions’. In avoiding a moral dilemma he concluded that ‘its eventual use
is of no concern to the supplier’.217

A month later the Reuters news agency reported from Paris that, over
the last 16 months, Britain had supplied £17,500,000 of military equip-
ment direct to Indo-China to aid the French against the Vietminh. The
report stated that a new Franco-British agreement worth £1,726,000
had been made to equip an airborne division and ‘contract purchase’
92 warships. Thompson, in Bangkok, concluded that this was French
propaganda designed to give the appearance that Britain was support-
ing the French against the Vietminh in Indo-China. He warned that
‘this will do us great harm’.218 However, a certain element of the report
was true as on 22 March the French Assembly approved military credits
to purchase from Britain the equipment for one airborne division in
Indo-China.219 The question of British military aid to the French in
Indo-China was raised again in the House of Commons. Due to the
Cabinet’s conclusion on 19 February, McNeil replied that ‘No aid
specifically designed for Indo-China has been given to the French
armed forces’.220 The French intended the equipment for Indo-China
but Britain was supplying France not Indo-China; the eventual use was
being ignored.

In July the JPS outlined proposals for the terms of reference of the
new BDCC Far East, under MacDonald. This revitalised the British
Defence Committee Southeast Asia to include enhanced terms of refer-
ence similar to the Commanders-in-Chief Committee Far East, and
both China and Indo-China were included within its remit.221 Mean-
while in May, the India Office wrote to the War Office worried about
the sale of surplus military lorries and tractors to Indo-China. They
were alarmed about the possibility of a reaction from the Indian popu-
lation which could provoke dock strikes.222 The Foreign Office was 
livid at not being consulted on the problem by the India Office and
informed both government departments that they should suspend any
further action until the Foreign Office had consulted Paris and formu-
lated a view.223 Upon considering the situation, the Foreign Office
evaded responsibility for the supply issues and the potential crisis.
Allen instructed the French Ambassador in London that, unless they
could arrange the appropriate transfer directly with the Government of
India and provide the shipping needed for transportation, no tractors
or lorries could be sent to Indo-China.224 The Foreign Office also noted
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that, in contrast to the investigations in January and February when
limited arms smuggling had continued between Siam and Cambodia,
large-scale smuggling was now occurring between China and Saigon.
US arms that had been supplied to the Chinese Nationalist Army were
being bought by Chinese merchants and being smuggled into Saigon
through Hong Kong. The arms were loaded onto legal cargo vessels in
Hong Kong and transferred onto Vietnamese junks outside Indo-
Chinese territorial waters.225 In September the DRVN began to pur-
chase arms from the Chinese communists.226

The rebranding of British policy

Indo-China had been removed from SEAC in March 1946, but British
policy remained concerned with the developing situation there.
Strategically, politically and economically Indo-China was important
to Britain. The Franco-DRVN dispute could directly threaten British ter-
ritories and affect Britain’s position in the region during a period of a
‘controlled’ re-definition of Britain’s post-war responsibilities. The
Labour Government’s appointment of Killearn demonstrated the
degree of co-ordination envisaged in Southeast Asia. Parallel to
Britain’s regional responsibilities Killearn would direct specific British
Indo-Chinese policy regarding the Cambodian-Siamese border dispute,
rice supply, relief and aspects of regional collaboration. Similarly both
Britain and the US maintained close co-ordination regarding their
Indo-Chinese policies in response to both the local and growing macro
nature of the conflict. Both were directly concerned with the growth of
Asian nationalism and communism, although the US appeared more
zealous than Britain in its suspicion of Ho’s communist ideology.

Despite the often intransigent French, Killearn succeeded in aligning
British concern for Indo-China alongside Britain’s regional respon-
sibilities. In December 1947, however, the British presence in Indo-
China was reduced. Air Vice Marshal Whitworth-Jones visited Saigon
11–13 December prior to the dissolution of the RAF staging post at
Saigon.227 This was symbolic of a change in British policy in Southeast
Asia. Britain had been bankrupt since the end of the Second World
War and was now restrained by the growing dollar gap with the US. To
control expenditure, a meeting of the Treasury in April 1947 had pro-
posed to merge the offices and functions of the Special Commissioner
and Governor-General in Singapore. The merger date was set for 
2nd March 1948 when Killearn’s initial term of office finished; Mac-
Donald would assume Killearn’s regional duties. Bevin had agreed to
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the proposal.228 In the meantime Killearn’s staff and operations were to
be scaled down.229 Attlee agreed with the merging of the positions and
Bevin wrote to Killearn explaining the need for the changes.230 Killearn
was devastated and upset at the amalgamation of the offices.231 It left
British policy to be co-ordinated by the newly entitled Commissioner-
General MacDonald. The subtle rebranding of British co-ordination in
Southeast Asia moved Indo-China from Killearn, a senior Foreign
Office official, to MacDonald, a Labour politician. MacDonald would
now have to co-ordinate British Indo-Chinese policy regarding the
recognition of Bao Dai, the continuing rice supply shortages and the
growing spectre of Chinese communism.
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4
The Winds of Change, 
May 1948–January 1950

The new post of Commissioner-General took effect in March 1948.
However, MacDonald did not begin to enact British policy until May
when he returned from his holiday in Canada. There was thus no
formal handover or briefing by Killearn, who had retired to Britain. In
London, Foreign Office officials were ‘seriously concerned’ about Indo-
China and asked Dening to discuss the matter with MacDonald, who
would be passing through, ‘particularly as the French are obviously
losing grip and we see no real prospects of a settlement’.1

MacDonald inherited many of the macro Southeast Asian and micro
Indo-Chinese problems that had occupied Killearn. MacDonald was
preoccupied with the political status of Ho, the recognition of Bao Dai,
support for the French, the growth of Soviet and Chinese communist
influence, and the indigenous Chinese populations. Similarly, he was
concerned with rice supply and export to alleviate world food short-
ages, the need to raise living standards as a weapon to fight commu-
nism, Southeast Asia as a market for manufactured goods, the growth
of regional co-operation, and the possibility of aid. The parallel ques-
tions of the communist threat to Southeast Asia and Indo-China, and
the recognition of Bao Dai were to dominate this period. MacDonald
was to operate, however, in a different political climate to Killearn.
Killearn had enjoyed a degree of autonomy in managing his brief but
MacDonald experienced greater interest and direction from Attlee,
Bevin and others. This translated into an unclear and ill-defined Indo-
China policy where the preferences of a ‘wait and see’ strategy and
consultations with the US prevailed.

Anglo-US relations remained the pivot of British foreign policy, i.e.
Marshall Aid and the creation of NATO. France was interwoven into
this relationship both economically and militarily, as an ally of both

101



Britain and the US against the communist threat in Western Europe.
France would use the possibility of a French withdrawal from Indo-
China to convince the US that ‘a non-communist Indo-China was vital
to Western – and specifically American – interests’ of drawing a line to
contain communism in Southeast Asia.2 However, Britain had to wait
for the US to develop a clearly defined policy for Southeast Asia.3

Historically, Britain had appreciated flexible alliances and was suspi-
cious of the single-focused French Indo-Chinese policy.4 It needed to
appease and maintain the Commonwealth to strengthen Britain as a
third great power alongside the US and Russia.5 The Indian dimension
therefore developed as an important aspect in British foreign policy
considerations especially regarding its neutrality in Indo-Chinese
affairs.6 Attlee feared that any approach to the Indian Prime Minister,
Nehru, about Indo-China would result in charges of a colonial conspir-
acy; Bevin was concerned that, because of Pan-Asian nationalism,
Nehru might decide to support Ho.7

MacDonald’s return to Singapore coincided with an escalation in
international tension. In June the Malaya Emergency began with anti-
British violence building up towards an armed struggle. In the Philip-
pines Taruc declared himself a communist and resumed the struggle
against the government. In Europe the Berlin blockade commenced
and Yugoslavia defected from the Soviet camp.8 Tito’s defection
brought further debate to the Franco-DRVN conflict. Could Ho be a
non-aligned communist similar to Tito or something more useful 
to the West? ‘The question to be asked, however, is whether America
might have found in Ho not merely a second Tito but a new species 
of political animal; one who could transmute Marxism into true
Internationalism. We shall never know. The chance was lost’.9

Indo-China

Following the identification of Bao Dai as an indigenous nationalist
alternative to Ho, the French continued to pursue an uncoordinated
and non-transparent policy towards Indo-China, in particular to the
growing crisis in Vietnam. In Saigon Gibbs noted that ‘there is no hope
of peace in Indo-China unless the Vietminh are appeased’. Mackworth
Young at the Foreign Office was, however, critical of such an assess-
ment, ‘Don’t we know what the appeasement of communists means’?10

Harvey, now British Ambassador to France, informed the Foreign Office
that the French would be holding a meeting in Along Bay to ratify
Vietnamese independence within the French Union. Before this
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meeting a new Provisional Government was established under the 
presidency of General Xuan. The implications of such a treaty seemed
unclear as negotiations were ongoing and the problem of Cochinchina’s
independent status remained. Harvey concluded that ‘what is not at 
all clear is the extent to which this commits the French Govern-
ment to the principle of the unity of the three Kys [Tonkin, Annam,
Cochinchina]’.11 Bao Dai indicated that he was unwilling to return to
power at this juncture. Gibbs believed that the Provisional Government
would ‘be short lived’ and that the ‘prospects of a satisfactory settle-
ment are still remote’.12 On the other hand Ho was clear in his course of
action, ‘Our independence is like gold and precious stones shut up in a
safe. To get them out we must find the key. We have found the key to
our independence. And it is to strike hard at the enemy’.13

On 5 June Bollaert, Bao Dai and General Xuan met in Along Bay and
a protocol between the French and the new Provisional Government
was signed. In this France recognised the independence of Vietnam,
and Vietnam agreed to be a member of the French Union as an
Associated State; but actual independence was limited, and negotia-
tions on cultural, diplomatic, financial, economic and military issues
continued.14 Gibbs noted that the new government was received with
‘indifference’ and doubted whether it ‘will carry enough prestige to
win over nationalist elements from the Vietminh’.15 In Hanoi Trevor-
Wilson continued to maintain contact with the DRVN on humanitar-
ian issues.16 The DRVN was weary of the French resurrection of Bao Dai
and the challenge that this represented. Two former members of the
Imperial Cabinet who were now ministers in the DRVN Government
publicly denounced the authority and independence of Bao Dai, ‘if you
are fully informed of existing conditions in Vietnam, you will refuse to
be a victim of the Machiavellian schemes of the French and you will
make no action without prior agreement with President Ho Chi Minh’.
The DRVN sought to legitimise its international standing with a visit to
India by the Deputy Prime Minister. This included talks with Nehru,
the President of the National Assembly, the Vice-Premier and the
Secretary General of the Indian Socialist Party.17

In late July the US issued a policy statement which described contin-
ued US impotence in Indo-China.18 The situation in Paris reflected
poorly for Indo-China. Bollaert pressed the government to debate the
Bao Dai solution and the Along Bay Accords, the French Socialist Party
were calling for negotiations to be reopened with Ho, and the Army
was becoming dissatisfied.19 At the Foreign Office Mackworth Young
noted that one French Government had just fallen over the issue of
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military credits and Indo-China was one of the largest items in the mil-
itary budget: ‘if the new government is forced to curtail military expen-
diture, the outlook will be even gloomier’.20 J.O. Lloyd briefed Bevin
that ‘we cannot justly interfere in Indo-China, but we should do
nothing to impede the French from reaching a settlement, whether by
political or military means’.21

During the summer the British Military Liaison Officer in Saigon
toured Cambodia and reported on the military situation in Indo-
China. He observed that the Vietminh had linked up with Cambodian
nationalist rebels, the Khmer Issarak, thereby broadening the conflict.
He concluded that the Provisional Government’s chances of success
were slim due to the French delay in ratifying the June protocol and
noted that as the Provisional Government had no offices or money it
appeared to be merely the government of Southern Vietnam rather
than the whole of the country. In the meantime, both General Xuan
and Bao Dai were sentenced to death for treason by the Vietminh and
Bollaert threatened to resign unless the Along Bay Agreement was
ratified by the French Government.22 The French Prime Minister
accepted the principles of the 7 December 1947 and 5 June 1948 agree-
ments and stressed that the mission of France and its constitution was
‘leading the peoples of whom she has charge to the liberty of self-
government and of democratically administering their own affairs’.23

The Chamber of Deputies, however, voted for a postponement of the
full debate. The ambiguity that this caused made it unclear whether
Bollaert would continue when his mandate expired in September.24

The French Government pressed Bollaert to persuade the Vietnamese
that the Chamber had voted in their favour but to be ratified there
needed to be an elected government in Vietnam. A counter argument
emerged in Paris that the unity of the Kys could not take place until
the French Assembly had considered the issue. The British Embassy
noted that the situation had stalled in the legal interpretations of the
French Constitution.25

Bollaert departed from Indo-China and was replaced as High
Commissioner by Leon Pignon. France’s Indo-China policy appeared
in danger of disintegration and the situation on the ground remained 
perilous. In September the anti-French, anti-Sihanouk and pro-
independence Cambodian National Assembly was dissolved.26 In Viet-
nam Bao Dai’s personal secretary announced that Bao Dai would soon
return to power and include the majority of the DRVN, excluding 
the communists, in a new government.27 The British Foreign Office
regarded this new farce as the ‘height of wishful thinking’.28 The
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Minister of Information in the Provisional Government proposed
going to Paris to establish an official Vietnamese information service.
Gibbs observed that the Minister of Information held the personal ear
of Bao Dai but was critical of Xuan for being too pro-French.29 Viet-
namese nationalist unity under Bao Dai appeared weak and on the
verge of division. Gibbs noted the fruitlessness of the French situation:
‘the conjuror has waved his wand, but he has not even produced a
rabbit’.30 From the British Embassy in Paris Ashley Clarke informed
Dening that, due to Indo-China creating ‘fierce controversies’ in the
National Assembly, many in the French Government felt inclined ‘to
let things slide’.31

A State Department policy statement rejected either a reconquest or
withdrawal. The US was in an ‘essentially passive position of accepting
a French policy with which it could not agree’.32 On 12 November
Graves, in Washington, was asked by Reed, now Chief of the Southeast
Asia Section of the State Department, if there was some way of gal-
vanising the French into action to protect the country against the
potential communist menace.33 As the prospect of a communist victory
in China intensified, Harvey conveyed to the British Government the
French fear of having a communist territory bordering Indo-China,
‘they feel that this would mean a very powerful accession of strength
to the Vietminh; so much so that it might be impossible to negotiate
with Bao Dai’.34 The US Consul-General in Saigon relayed to the British
Consul, Donald Hopson, that the US Embassy in Paris had obtained a
report of a French plan to evacuate Tonkin and Northern Annam to
concentrate on Cambodia, Cochinchina, and Southern Annam.
Hopson reflected that this measure could only be activated when the
Chinese communists reached the Indo-Chinese frontier.35

On 6 December Clarke wrote to Dening that the French Cabinet was
reluctant to give further concessions to Bao Dai.36 In the US, Reed
confided to Graves that he feared Pignon would resign ‘after some
months of frustration’.37 Gibbs noted that the political situation in
Vietnam had been complicated even further by the emergence of a
new clandestine political organisation established to unify the various
nationalist groups. Apparently the new organisation was supported 
by the Catholic Youth Parties in Hanoi and Saigon and was in con-
tact with the nationalist politician Ngo Dinh Diem.38 It involved 
also the Dai Viet, Dong Minh Hoi, Vietnam Quoc Dan Dong, the
Socialists, and possibly, according to Gibbs, General Xuan and Bao Dai.
The organisation was strongly nationalist, anti-French and anti-
communist.39
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Dening was dispatched to Paris at the invitation of the French
Government to discuss Eastern questions but, as the Cabinet Far
Eastern Committee noted, he would not be able to participate fully
until the British Government had decided its whole policy.40 Bevin
agreed that Dening’s approach should be not to ‘press’ the French nor
to exasperate them but to ‘convince’ them of the need to clear up the
situation in Indo-China before the Chinese communists reached the
Indo-Chinese borders.41 Upon his return Dening recorded that:

The impression obtained … during his visit was that the French
officials principally concerned, and the Minister for Overseas
Territories, are impressed with the need to find an urgent solution
to their problem in Indo-China. Their chief difficulty lies in the
stresses of internal politics in France, which make it very difficult for
them to adopt bold and comprehensive measures.42

Considering the sensitivity of the French to colonial problems Bevin
concluded to Attlee that ‘It is satisfactory that the French should have
welcomed these discussions, and it is to be hoped that continuing con-
sultation may ensue which should encourage them to settle their
affairs in Indo-China’.43 In the meantime, the internal French political
situation remained weak. The JIC considered the implications on
French colonial policy of a change of government in Paris. It con-
cluded that a third force government would not change the current
policy or framework, a de Gaulle-led government would increase mil-
itary effort to impose a settlement and a communist government
would hand Indo-China over to Ho.44

Following a number of internal government scandals a Cambodian
government of national unity was formed.45 Bao Dai, in France,
appeared as unwilling as the French to conclude a settlement for
Vietnam. It seemed that ‘enjoying the flesh pots of Paris and Cannes
he was in no hurry to return to a more precarious and less comfort-
able existence in the Far East’. In frustration Bevin noted that France
‘deserve[d] to lose the show’.46 On 11 January 1949 the Foreign Office
briefed Bevin that Britain could not give France the impression of
support in Indo-China but it had no solution to offer. Bevin held
talks with the French Foreign Minister, Robert Schuman, about the
apparent stalemate in Indo-China and the need to find or form a
credible indigenous government.47 Schuman summarised the prob-
lem that France was facing: ‘There was no great question of principle
in dispute. The problem was to find leaders to carry out policies on
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the basis of agreed ideas, which he thought the French and British
shared in common’.48 Was Schuman now unsure of the Provisional
Government and the Bao Dai solution? At the same time guerrilla
activity in Cambodia increased. On 12 January the Sa Ang district
headquarters in Kandal was attacked.49 Coset Floret, now the Minister
for Overseas France, accepted that the Along Bay Agreement was
coming into force. In conversations with Clarke, Baeyens of the
French Foreign Office confirmed that agreement had been reached
with Bao Dai on many of the major issues; but the status of
Cochinchina continued to remain a major obstacle to a settlement.50

In the State Department Southeast Asia Division, Charlton Ogburn
concluded that ‘we are heading into a very bad mess in the policy we
are now following toward Indo-China’.51

During February, as the political and military deadlock in Vietnam
continued, in Cambodia a government report indicated the growth of
rebel numbers and activity.52 It was estimated that 50,000–60,000
troops had been killed or wounded in Indo-China. If North African
and colonial troops were included then the total would need to be
doubled.53 At the Foreign Office Mackworth Young pessimistically
noted ‘there are speculations in the French press that Ho Chi Minh has
signed a secret agreement with Mao Tse-Tung’. Robert Scott concurred
– ‘The omens are not good’ – and even Dening admitted to being ‘a
little worried about the delays in the negotiations over French Indo-
China’. He predicted that ‘if the French do not hurry up they may find
that the communist successes in China will strengthen the hands of
Ho Chi Minh and make it more difficult than ever to reach a settle-
ment’. At the same time Britain received intelligence that the Chinese
communists were organising activities in Indo-China.54 On 15 February
the new US Secretary of State, Acheson, stated that it was a race against
time to prepare the Vietnamese for self-government.55 Ten days later
he concluded that support for Bao Dai depended on vital concessions
by France for its success.56

By March negotiations between Bao Dai and the French Govern-
ment were completed and he agreed to return to Vietnam. It was
hoped that the agreement would be submitted for ratification to the
French Assembly on 11 March. The Foreign Office observed that
France finally appeared to be making ‘the best of a bad job’. It 
welcomed the French action but cautioned that ‘it does not in 
itself mean that a positive step forward has yet been made, as its
action will certainly have to await constitutional action … by the
French Assembly’. This would have to include a vote for a change in

The Winds of Change, May 1948–January 1950 107



the status of Cochinchina.57 On 8 March the Elysee Agreement was
signed, but the delays had not aided France or Bao Dai’s position.58

The Foreign Office noted that ‘French intransigence has gone a long
way to alienating Annamite public opinion’.59 The Assembly voted to
rejoin Cochinchina to Vietnam with the electoral consent of the
Cochinchinese but did not ratify the 8 March Agreement.60 Gibbs
wrote to Bevin concerning the local reaction to the agreement be-
tween President Vincent Auriol and Bao Dai, ‘Everyone is agreed that
this is France’s last card, but many suspect that she is only playing it
in the hope of getting American aid, and she has had it up her sleeve
for so long that when it appears on the table it is likely to be rather
limp’.61 Dening concurred, ‘depressing but probably correct’.62 During
a visit to Singapore, Pignon highlighted France’s attitude towards 
Bao Dai as being supportive, ‘not to control him but to make things
easy for him’.63 A paper by Reed reported that US diplomats believed
that France was losing.64 Press reports indicated that Chinese forces
had crossed into Tonkin.65 Baeyens confirmed to Clarke that about
18,000 Chinese irregulars were operating in Northern Tonkin under
the command of Chinese communist General Chu Kia Pi.66

The US Consul in Hanoi confirmed to the State Department on 
2 April that the Vietminh were co-operating with the Chinese commu-
nist army.67 Gibbs reported to the Foreign Office a week later that the
French were now pressing for diplomatic recognition of Bao Dai. Lloyd
advised ‘we must certainly wait a while and see how Bao Dai develops
before considering the question of recognition. It would be futile if we
were to recognise him prematurely and he should turn out to be a flop
(as many people expect he will be)’.68 Gibbs was advised of this policy
and instructed to sound out the opinion of his US opposite in Saigon; at
the same time the Foreign Office would consult the State Department.69

Meanwhile Gibbs assessed the situation in the rest of Indo-China. In
Cambodia, he believed that Sihanouk was looking towards achieving
the same sort of political arrangement that Vietnam was negotiating
with France. However, the position was complicated by the presence of
a large Vietnamese population of over 400,000 in Cambodia. Gibbs
noted that historically Cambodia had feared domination by both
Thailand and Vietnam. He believed that the Cambodians had forgotten
their need for French protection. He considered that the Cambodians
were ‘ambitious and indolent; more evolved than the Laotians, they
lack their sense of reality and are a classic example of people who are
trying to run before they can walk’. Gibbs noted that Khmer Issarak
rebels continued to operate in Siem Reap and Battambang, they were in
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liaison with the Vietminh in Bangkok whilst the Vietminh operated
independently along the Mekong amongst the Annamite population.
Similarly the Laotians feared Thai and Vietnamese domination and in
return for French protection appeared loyal to France.70 On 30 April 
the League for the National Salvation of the Vietnamese Residents in
Cambodia statutes proposed a Vietnamese-Khmer alliance against 
the French.71

In May Pignon visited MacDonald in Singapore. MacDonald con-
cluded that ‘good progress’ was being made that would be ‘crowned
with success’.72 MacDonald hoped that the recent agreement between
the French and Bao Dai would ‘help to restore the influence of liberal
and constitutional Indo-Chinese leaders’.73 By contrast the Foreign
Office said that ‘prospects don’t look too bright’.74 On 17 May Dening
observed uneasily: ‘I don’t think the French Government as a whole
show much concern, but M. Baudet told me the other day he was very
worried’.75 On the same day Reed informed Butterworth that ‘the
chances of saving Indo-China were slim’. The State Department Wes-
tern European and Southeast Asian offices agreed that ‘the US should
not put itself in a forward position in the Indo-China problem’ as there
was nothing that could be done to alter the prospects.76 US experts pre-
dicted that there was little chance of French concessions or that Bao
Dai would appeal to the nationalists.77 Ideological differences between
the Europeanists and Asianists at the State Department continued to
dog a cohesive Indo-China policy.78 Both Bao Dai and General Xuan
attempted to broaden their nationalist appeal by indicating that if Ho
could demonstrate that he was a true nationalist, he need not be
excluded from a new government. Hopson regarded such overtures as
examples of ‘the permanent state of bewilderment in which politics are
carried on in this country’ but against the international development
of Titoism the Foreign Office asked its consulate in Saigon to reassess
the extent of communist control on the Vietminh.79 

Bao Dai proposed that his first diplomatic mission would be to send
representatives to the Vatican, hoping that this would rally the Cath-
olic minority to his side in Vietnam.80 The State Department decided
that now was the time to develop a common approach to Indo-China
with other interested governments, particularly Britain, India and the
Philippines.81 Acheson reiterated to the US Consul in Hanoi the com-
munist purposes of Ho and his men.82 Acheson believed that the ‘ques-
tion whether Ho as much nationalist as Commie is irrelevant. All
Stalinists in colonial areas are nationalists’.83 Hopson cautioned against
hasty recognition by Britain and the US of Bao Dai as this could result
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in Bao Dai being seen as a ‘Western puppet’.84 The Foreign Office
regarded the argument that Britain should wait for the Southeast 
Asian nations to recognise Bao Dai was strong but questioned if any
would really do so. Hopson was advised that ratification of the Auriol
Agreement and publication of its terms was necessary before according
recognition.85

By June the French National Assembly had rejoined Cochinchina
with the rest of Vietnam. In the US a paper by Ogburn dismissed bring-
ing Ho into the Bao Dai Government. It discussed the possibility of a
communist Indo-China causing a chain reaction in the rest of the sub-
continent. The US had dismissed the idea of Ho as an Asian Tito and
instead appeared more willing to pamper the French. The State
Department wrote to the Paris Embassy stressing that insufficient con-
cessions had been made to attract nationalists away from Ho. The
embassy and Acheson agreed that such pressure being placed upon
France was harsh rather than encouraging.86 A French cabinet minister
informed the US Military Attaché in Paris that the battle in Indo-China
was essentially against international communism rather than national-
ism and that the US and France should draw a line north of the Sino-
Indo-Chinese border to halt its advance.87 The US urged Britain to
advise the French Government to speed up the transfer of power to
Bao Dai.88 Similarly the US considered it important to issue a statement
in support of the Elysee Agreement. This was edited and approved by
the French.89 Britain did not propose to make any similar statement,
preferring to wait and see whether Bao Dai succeeded in forming a
stable government.90 However, in response to press enquiries Britain
‘expressed agreement [with] State Department views’ and Prince 
Buu Loc issued a statement on behalf of Bao Dai thanking the 
British Government for its declaration of ‘good wishes’.91 The State
Department approached the Foreign Office about canvassing Southeast
Asian nations in support of Bao Dai. The US Minister in London 
agreed with the Foreign Office the need to keep Anglo-US policy 
‘in step’ regarding the recognition of Bao Dai.92 Although Nehru dis-
agreed with the US statement he decided not to criticise the US
stance.93 Nehru regarded Ho as a ‘nationalist communist’ rather than 
a ‘Kremlin communist’ and therefore found it difficult to support 
Bao Dai.94 The Thai Government had been impatient to receive a
Vietnamese diplomatic representative, perhaps due to the imminent
communist victory in China. However, it now appeared reluc-
tant because it regarded Bao Dai’s chances of maintaining power as
diminishing.95 Likewise the Philippines expressed a willingness to
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extend recognition but only when the Vietnamese Government had
established control.96 

The French requested information from Britain about the adminis-
tration of the Dominions which could be used in discussions with Bao
Dai. Britain obliged but the Foreign Office pessimistically reflected that
the Bao Dai regime was built upon the support of ‘French bayonets’.
Comparing Bao Dai to ‘Canute’ it summarised the situation as ‘bleak’
with the French offering insufficient military or political aid.97 In
contrast a speech by MacDonald stressed that, although division and
weakness had been caused by disagreements between the French 
and Vietnamese nationalists, he considered this had now changed and
praised Bao Dai for ‘endeavouring to show his countrymen that a
better destiny than communist enslavement awaits them’.98 Mean-
while, on 19 July a Franco-Laotian Convention established Laos as an
Associated State within the French Union.99

The French experienced some success in September with the split of
the Khmer Issarak in Cambodia when large numbers surrendered.100

The Foreign Office considered it impossible to offer economic or mil-
itary support until Bao Dai’s success was assured. It regarded it impor-
tant not to give the US firm proposals until the Commonwealth had
been consulted.101 On 6 September the French Ambassador in London,
Massigli, wrote to Attlee and requested that the Bao Dai-Auriol
Agreement be presented to King George VI who expressed his personal
hopes for success to President Auriol.102 A week later in Washington,
Bevin met Acheson at the State Department’s request for discussions
on Indo-China prior to the Tripartite Economic Conference between
Acheson, Bevin and Schuman. Dening briefed Bevin that ‘our legal
advisers tell us that we cannot recognize de jure until the plan envis-
aged in the 8 March Agreement is carried out and completed’.103 Bevin
told Acheson that he felt that it was important to raise the Indo-China
matter with Schuman and that the ‘French Government must decide
whether they were going to ratify the agreement with Viet Nam’. It was
agreed that this ‘was an essential condition to recognition’ and that it
was ‘unreasonable’ of the French to ask Britain or the US for recogni-
tion of Bao Dai ‘before they themselves had really committed them-
selves’.104 At the tripartite meetings France declared that it was fighting
for all the democratic powers and needed help.105 At the meeting on 
17 September Schuman asked Britain and the US to use ‘their influence
to secure recognition of Viet Nam by Asiatic powers’. He agreed that
recognition could not happen until France had ratified the 8 March
Agreement but expected that this would happen before the end of the
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year. Nevertheless Bevin believed that Britain would have to remain
cautious and that more could be done only upon ratification. Acheson
pressed for France to strengthen Bao Dai by transferring Indo-Chinese
affairs from the Overseas Ministry to the French Foreign Office and
begin ‘increasing the extent of his [Bao Dai’s] representation abroad’.106

The Foreign Office, confused as to the direction of French policy on
Indo-China, presented the French, through Lord Hood at the British
Embassy in Paris, with a list of questions for clarification. Scott wrote
to Hood ‘What in fact do the French want us to do? … We are frankly
very puzzled about the constitutional, legal and diplomatic niceties of
the whole affair’.107

During October the situation in Indo-China continued to deterio-
rate. Vietminh influence and operations continued to extend into
Cambodia and Laos. In Cambodia 3000 Vietminh troops occupied
Kampot and Kompong Speu.108 When interviewed by the Thai press Ho
responded to accusations of him being a communist with close con-
tacts to Mao and the Kremlin as ‘French imperialist propaganda’.109 On
19 October the CIA advised Truman that the French were at a stale-
mate in Indo-China. The CIA considered that the possible loss of Indo-
China in two years time might be a ‘critical breach’ in the containment
of communism.110

The French partly replied to the British Foreign Office list of ques-
tions for clarification, raising further legal debate in the Foreign Office
concerning recognition.111 The French ‘begged us [the British] not to
be too legalistic in the matter of recognition’.112 Attlee pessimistically
wrote to Bevin ‘I rate the chances of French rule and influence in Indo-
China very low. I think that France has missed the bus’. Attlee agreed
with Bevin’s direction of Britain’s Indo-Chinese policy.113 Dening
curtly observed: ‘Whatever the reason for them, there have been vacil-
lations and delays in French policy towards Indo-China ever since the
last war: what the situation now calls for is boldness and consistency,
of neither of which … is there much evidence’.114 On 27 October the
Lao Issara Government, in exile in Bangkok, dissolved itself.115 The
leader, Souphanouvong, went to the Vietminh where under its guid-
ance the Lao Issara continued as the basis for Pathet Lao.116 Bao Dai
requested diplomatic recognition from King George VI. The Foreign
Office informed Washington that no reply could be issued until
Vietnam was recognised and the French Government ratified the 
8 March Agreement.117 Bao Dai also approached Southeast Asian
nations for recognition including Australia, Ceylon and Thailand.
Thailand decided to wait and see what the US approach to recognition
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would be. Britain advised the Commonwealth High Commissioners
that they should stress to Commonwealth Governments ‘our sym-
pathy with Bao Dai and our hope that they will give as cordial a reply
as possible to approaches made to them on Bao Dai’s behalf. Obviously
we cannot suggest to them that they should grant formal recogni-
tion to Vietnam as an independent sovereign state when we are not
prepared to grant such recognition ourselves’.118

Between 2–4 November, MacDonald assembled a conference of
regional British officials at Bukit Serene. The conference recommended
that Bao Dai be accorded de facto recognition after the transfer of
power to him by the French. It was felt that de jure recognition could
only be given upon French ratification of the Auriol Agreement.119 In
contrast the conference agreed with the British Ambassador to China
and the Governor of Hong Kong that China should be granted de jure
recognition as soon as possible.120 The delegates believed that the US,
Commonwealth and Asian Governments should apply a similar policy
regarding Vietnam and that Britain should encourage further conces-
sions to Bao Dai.121 Likewise they stressed ‘the necessity of discussing
our attitude with Pandit Nehru … and securing at least his “neutral-
ity”’ concerning the recognition of Bao Dai.122 Attlee appeared sur-
prised by the existence of the conference, asking ‘what is the Bukit
Serene Conference’?123 Bevin explained that ‘“Bukit Serene” is [sic]
the name of Mr MacDonald’s house. This was the name given to the

conference of His Majesty’s Representatives in the Far East’.124 Was 
this a genuine oversight or did Attlee fear the robust intention of
MacDonald’s policy in Singapore? Two weeks later Attlee eventually
conveyed his appreciation of the success of the conference to the
Colonial Secretary Arthur Creech Jones.125

The Franco-Cambodian Treaty was signed on 8 November establish-
ing Cambodia as an Associated State within the French Union.126 Le
Roy of the French Embassy in London called on Scott: ‘he hoped that
too much emphasis would not be placed by foreign governments on
the question of ratifying the President Auriol-Bao Dai Agreement of
1949. The French Government were [sic] anxious to avoid a debate in
Parliament on this subject as it might endanger their position’. He
pressed that ratification was not essential as the agreement was in
reality already in operation and suggested that the British should 
raise the rank of their consul-general in Saigon to that of minister.127

At a meeting of the Western powers Foreign Ministers in Paris, 
9–10 November, Schuman confided to Bevin that the French position
regarding China was difficult due to the situation in Indo-China. They

The Winds of Change, May 1948–January 1950 113



agreed that this would have to be discussed with Acheson.128 The next
day Schuman asked Bevin and Acheson whether it was possible not 
to ‘recognise Bao Dai at this stage’ but to ‘inform Bao Dai that our
Governments approved of him and French policy towards him’ as ‘an
expression of goodwill’? Acheson told Schuman that the US wanted to
be as helpful as possible but that previously it had been agreed that it
was necessary for Bao Dai to obtain Asian support to avoid the implica-
tion of his government being a Western puppet. Acheson considered
that the US was sympathetic to proposals put forward by France, but 
in the meantime France must sort out its constitutional position.
Similarly Bevin too felt that the immediate issue was the French failure
to ratify the Auriol Agreement. He pressed for France to transfer admin-
istration of Indo-China from the French Colonial Office to the French
Foreign Office. Bevin ‘undertook to consider the matter further’ and 
do whatever was possible to help Schuman although he was not
optimistic about Bao Dai’s chances of success.129

Following Bukit Serene, MacDonald visited Indo-China from 
10–22 November, where symbolically he had meetings not just with
the French but also with Bao Dai, with whom he was ‘impressed’, and
Sihanouk. MacDonald handed Bao Dai a goodwill message from
Bevin.130 This was to be an encouragement without committing Britain
to recognition: ‘The Secretary of State has instructed me to express to
Your Majesty his personal good wishes and his hope that you will
succeed in the establishment of a stable, representative government
which will bring peace to your country and restore its prosperity’.131

Bao Dai placed greater importance for his government on support and
diplomatic recognition from Britain and the US than from India or
other Asian nations.132 Likewise, Sihanouk hoped for British and 
US recognition of Cambodia now a new treaty had been signed 
with France.133 MacDonald assessed that the Bao Dai regime had a 50%
chance of success and urged Pignon that the transfer of powers to 
Bao Dai ‘should include every possible item of administrative and
diplomatic power which could be handed over at this time’.134 Mac-
Donald added that the handover of power was essential before the end
of the year but noted that although Bao Dai trusted Pignon the Viet-
namese remained doubtful about the faith of the politicians in Paris.135

Pignon cautioned MacDonald that officials in Paris feared the transfer
of powers to Bao Dai ‘lest Moroccan and Algerian politicians should
demand for their colonies any and all the concessions made to Indo-
China’. Pignon and Roger Du Gardier favoured granting Vietnam the
same powers as a British Dominion, but Pignon had met with opposi-
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tion to his views when in Paris and his future was uncertain.136

MacDonald proposed that a personal note to Massigli was needed in
support of the Bao Dai solution, Pignon’s role and the early implemen-
tation of the 8 March Agreement.137 MacDonald recommended to the
British Government that if Britain recognised China before Bao Dai
then Bao Dai should be kept informed of British intentions. Bevin
agreed with MacDonald’s recommendation and noted that any recog-
nition of Bao Dai would have to be de facto. MacDonald concluded that
Britain would need to persuade the US, India and other Asian nations
to do likewise.138

During December Vietnam continued to be plagued by insurgency.
Strikes by the Vietnamese brought about chaos in Saigon.139 Mac-
Donald considered that the struggle between Bao Dai and Ho was ‘an
evenly balanced affair, with victory still within the grasp of either of
them’.140 He wrote to Dening that ‘a lot depends on the sincerity and
zeal of the French Government in Paris supporting Pignon’s liberal
policy. I greatly hope that we can influence them to do the right
thing’.141 The British Acting Consul-General in Saigon believed that if
Bao Dai was not attracting significant nationalist support by mid 1950
then the French could withdraw, and paradoxically the BDCC believed
that even if Bao Dai was successful then high casualty numbers could
force a French withdrawal. Therefore the BDCC suggested it was neces-
sary to ascertain French intentions in the event of the failure of 
Bao Dai despite both JIC London and JIC Far East advice that any 
withdrawal was unlikely in the near future.142

Britain had been forced into not taking ‘any unilateral action in
recognising Bao Dai before the Ceylon [Colombo] Conference’ as the
matter had been placed on the agenda by Pakistan. It appeared that
Britain would be unable to afford recognition until after 9 January
1950 but it was hard for Britain to finalise a policy as ‘the position in
Indo-China was still somewhat uncertain’ and Bao Dai had added to
this by suddenly deciding to go to Paris on 20 December.143 Bao Dai
later decided to postpone this untimely visit.144 On 14 December Bevin
circulated a memorandum to the Cabinet containing the brief for the
United Kingdom delegation to the Colombo Conference. This stated
that ‘the solution to the Indo-China problem is essentially political.
Our objective should be to do all we can to inspire confidence in Bao
Dai among the Commonwealth and foreign countries in the area and
in Indo-China itself; and to encourage the real transfer of power to
him’.145 Acheson had ‘already stated at the tripartite meetings in Paris
that the United States Government were anxious to help Bao Dai’ and
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the British Government hoped that the US would be prepared to
follow a similar line to themselves. Britain had decided against the idea
of an Asian Tito. Ho could not be a ‘democratic nationalist compar-
able … to Dr Hatta’ (the Vice-President and Prime Minister of Indo-
nesia) and Britain was satisfied that Ho was a communist and was ‘not
the right man to back’. Following the Colombo Conference the Foreign
Office hoped to raise the status of the Consul-General at Saigon to
minister and establish a legation only after de jure recognition.146 A
brief for the Commonwealth meeting on foreign affairs concluded that
there was no risk of British troops being drawn into Vietnam if trouble
erupted between the Vietminh and Bao Dai.147 Anxious about the
French reaction to the British recognition of China before Bao Dai,
Bevin wrote to Schuman to justify the British policy, ‘we cannot go 
on indefinitely ignoring the effective government of a territory like
China’. Bevin highlighted that he understood if France was not as
content as Britain to accord recognition towards China. He empathised
that he shared the French anxiety over Indo-China and hoped that
Britain would be able to recognise Vietnam in the near future but 
that this depended upon a transfer of power by the French.148

Sir Oliver Franks, the new British Ambassador in Washington, dined
with Acheson who announced US aid of $75 million for Indonesia,
Indo-China and possibly Siam. Franks reported that:

Acheson interpolated a paean of praise about French achievements
in Indo-China. They had done far more than they had ever let on.
Bao Dai had a good chance and the thing to do was to press early
recognition on the French. The American Government in dis-
tinction from its earlier views would be ready to recognise and 
help Indo-China as soon as the French had acted.149 

MacDonald pressed the Foreign Office that ‘the maximum degree of
recognition which is technically possible’ should be accorded to 
Bao Dai by Britain and the US upon the transfer of power and before
British recognition of the PRC. In the meantime, he believed that mil-
itary aid should be offered by Britain to the French.150 On 22 December
Schuman replied to Bevin that in the light of Mao’s visit to Moscow
could Britain now recognise Bao Dai before China? He hoped that the
transfer of power would take place before the end of December.151

Bevin met with Massigli and ‘cross examined’ him about developments
in France and Indo-China. He pointed out that Britain had withheld
recognising China for as long as possible, while Massigli urged British
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recognition of Bao Dai. Dening reiterated Britain’s commitment to
recognition after the Colombo Conference. Bevin concluded by stating
that he would carefully review the British position and come to some
conclusions on the following day.152 The next day the British Embassy
in Paris reported that ratification was only being delayed by the French
parliamentary timetable and their budget debate.153 Bevin informed
Attlee that he intended to accord de jure recognition to China on 
6 January 1950.154 Massigli informed Sir William Strang, the Permanent
Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office, that 30 December had been set
to transfer powers from the France to Vietnam and that therefore
France hoped for the British recognition of Bao Dai.155 McNeil replied
that Britain was to postpone the recognition of China until 6 January
1950 and that Britain would accord de facto recognition for Vietnam
but that this would not be announced until after the Colombo Con-
ference at which there would be an appeal to Commonwealth Foreign
Ministers to follow suit.156 MacDonald cautioned the government that
it was too premature to accord de jure recognition at this stage.157

McNeil informed Attlee about the deliberations concerning the recog-
nition of Bao Dai and the PRC, and their relative chances of success.158

Attlee agreed with the line being taken.159

Rice, relief, regionalism and military aid

Tension on the world stage escalated and British regionalism in
Southeast Asia became interwoven with relief and military assistance.
Rice remained an important British policy facet both regionally and
towards Indo-China but was increasingly overshadowed.

In April 1948 the British War Office had not yet determined a line in
the Far East beyond which it was necessary to stop Russian advances;
however, it considered either plans or action without the US point-
less.160 Bevin instructed P.F. Grey to warn British representatives in
Southeast Asia that a new tactic was being employed by the com-
munists in the region ‘of doing everything possible to undermine 
and hamper the reconstruction and economic development of the
whole area’.161 A Foreign Office paper prepared for Bevin to take to the
Hague concluded that: ‘There is no direct evidence of co-ordination by
Russia of communist activities throughout Southeast Asia, though it is
strongly suspected’.162 In Singapore MacDonald was concerned about
‘the status of Chinese in British Southeast Asia’ and proposed the need
to hold a conference on the ‘Chinese question in the near future’.163

In the meantime US Foreign Services Officers held a conference in
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Bangkok in June to discuss communism in Southeast Asia.164 This
conference determined that ‘The intention of the Soviet Mission in
Bangkok is to pick up the threads of communist movements and to
wind them onto the Soviet reel’. It was felt that ‘Moscow appears to be
nervous that, under Chinese direction, the doctrines may become het-
erodox’.165 The conference discussed the possibility of establishing an
‘anti-communist intelligence web’ in Bangkok in opposition to the
Soviet Legation.166 It concluded that ‘Anglo-American co-operation in
the area is the only safeguard against serious political and economic
deterioration’.167 During talks at the State Department Dening noted
with irony that the US ‘who at one time seemed to think every nation-
alist must be good, now seemed to see a communist behind every
nationalist bush’. The US appeared to be ‘toying’ with some kind 
of intervention in Indo-China but Dening advised that there was 
little that could be done for the moment especially due to the ‘hyper-
sensitive’ attitude of the French.168 An Australian goodwill mission 
to Southeast Asia was ‘disgruntled’ at the ‘scant courtesy’ that was
accorded to their visit to Saigon by the French; perhaps the offer of
education facilities by one dominion to another potential dominion
was for the moment too embarrassing for the French.169 Macmahon
Ball of the mission believed that ‘the French were afraid he was trying
to pick up first-hand information about French Indo-China before
bringing the situation to the attention of the [UN] Security Council, as
the Australians had done in Indonesia’. The Australians did not
confirm to the Foreign Office whether such fears were justified.170 In
Bangkok the mission had been approached by the Vietminh but 
had been ‘scrupulously careful’ to have nothing to do with them.171

Dening, who had been in Canberra and who had had talks with 
Macmahon Ball shortly before the mission left, noted that the Aus-
tralians had neglected to inform him of the mission and therefore
doubted whether they had even approached the French Minister in
Canberra. He concluded: ‘I do not think we should say anything to the
French’.172

On 26 July Lloyd briefed Bevin that if French Indo-China fell then
this would have grave implications for regional security.173 He advised
that the US was ‘fully alive’ to such dangers and was similarly ‘con-
vinced that it would be disastrous if the French were to quit Indo-
China’. Lloyd recommended that, although Britain could not interfere,
it should do nothing to prevent a French political or military settle-
ment and ‘that we should not encourage any move to bring the matter
up in the Security Council or in the General Assembly of the United
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Nations’.174 Mackworth Young noted that ‘Indian opinion considers
General Xuan a puppet of the French’. Sir Girja Bajpai, the Indian
Foreign Secretary, threatened to deny French aircraft the right to 
fly over Indian territory.175 On 13 August Reed cautioned the State
Department that Moscow was turning more and more attention to 
the Far East.176

Similarly in May, the US decided to end the purge of war-related con-
cerns. A report urged a programme for Japan’s economic stability,
including a revival of trade with the rest of Asia. Tonkin coal, Malaya
tin and rubber, Indonesian oil and Burmese and Siamese rice were
important components within this economic regionalism.177 In Indo-
China economic stability remained precarious. A reconstruction budget
of 846 million Piastres had been apportioned for 1948, 80% paid for by
France and 20% from Indo-China. As the crisis in Vietnam continued,
rice mills were targeted and burnt in Cholon. The cost of living for
both European and the indigenous population continued to rise during
1948.178 Gibbs regarded this as part of a strategy of economic warfare
that included the destruction of dykes for rice irrigation, the terrorisa-
tion of labour, the sinking of junks and the burning of shipyards.179

The French requested British assistance in the supply of ammunition to
their troops in Indo-China but the War Office declined. The Foreign
Office urged the War Office to reconsider its position, ‘in view of the
present situation in Indo-China, anything that can be done to assist
the French forces is of value’ as a Vietminh success would threaten
Britain’s strategic position in Southeast Asia.180 Again the War Office
refused, considering its own stocks were below minimum require-
ments.181 However, the Foreign Office appeared split over military sup-
plies to the French. In July 1947 Britain had loaned an aircraft carrier
to the French navy. This was now en route to Saigon with French air-
craft supplies for Indo-China. A Foreign Office telegram to Saigon
insisted that the chances of the ship being involved in fighting were
remote but Mackworth Young believed the image of Anglo-French soli-
darity could prove embarrassing to the British in other parts of
Southeast Asia.182 The US had declined to allow the direct export of
arms and ammunition to Indo-China but permitted ‘the free export of
arms to France … for reshipment to Indo-China or for releasing stocks
from reserves to be forwarded to Indo-China’.183

During the autumn, tension on the world stage escalated further. In
Indonesia, communists at Madiun attempted to stage a revolution
within a revolution whilst in China continued communist successes
indicated the likelihood of an eventual collapse of the nationalist
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government. On 13 October the US warned its diplomatic missions in
Asia that Moscow was turning more attention to the Far East.184 The
British and French exchanged information on communist leaders who
had been expelled from Indo-China and could cause further agitation
in the region.185 The Chinese communist Liu Shao Chi announced that
the solution to the colonial problem was to establish anti-imperialist
collaboration with nationalist movements.186 On 12 November Graves,
in Washington, was asked by the US if there was some way of galvanis-
ing the French into action to protect the country against the potential
communist menace.187 Sargent, at the Foreign Office, increased Mac-
Donald’s remit to include Foreign Office defence matters (MacDonald
already dealt with Colonial Office defence issues).188 The Foreign Office
then asked MacDonald to review the US query regarding galvanising
the French during his forthcoming conference.189 On 19 November the
US issued NSC 20/4. This concluded that ‘Soviet domination of the
potential power of Eurasia … would be strategically and politically
unacceptable to the US’.190 Three days later the DRVN applied to join
the UN.191 The Foreign Office proposed to evade the issue because the
Security Council had not taken any action and the British delegation
had not requested any instructions.192

By December the US appeared to be preparing for greater global
intervention with the formation of the Foreign Assistance Correlation
Committee.193 The British Embassy in Paris believed that the US was
‘not prepared to accept any responsibility for Southeast Asia’. It held
that as it was for the regional powers to counter the ‘communist
menace’ it was essential to resolve the situation in Malaya and sound
out Anglo-French suggestions for future co-operation and to combat
clandestine arms traffic.194 In Britain there was no perception of an
imminent crisis and no need for preparation, planning and infrastruc-
ture for a possible intervention. A Commanders-in-Chief Far East
paper saw no threat of military invasion of Southeast Asia but stressed
the psychological need of a will to resist communism in Hong
Kong.195 The Cabinet Far Eastern Committee considered that it could
do nothing ‘to combat the advance of communism in China’. It rec-
ommended that ‘our main line of action must be therefore directed
towards building up resistance in surrounding countries … to resolve
political disputes … to improve the economic position’ and to achieve
co-operation of interested powers.196 Indo-China was regarded as a
‘poor buffer’ to a communist China and it was predicted that eco-
nomic disturbances especially centred on rice production would result
from the success of a communist controlled China. This would lead to
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a decrease in regional rice consumption and ‘provide fertile ground
for communist agitation’, which could disrupt other commodities
such as rubber, tin and oils that ‘are of such importance to world eco-
nomic recovery’.197 The CIA cautioned that the current situation in
Asia was favourable to the Soviets and that the US was caught in the
middle between Asian nationalists and the European states.198 Dening
considered that it was regionally important to convince France of the
need to resolve Indo-China before the Chinese communists reached
its borders.199 Likewise, MacDonald was eager to seek diplomatic
action ‘to strengthen co-operation between friendly governments
against the communist menace in Southeast Asia’.200 In a meeting
with the French Government in Paris, Dening volunteered that ‘in
future there should be frequent consultation on Far Eastern problems,
not only by local authorities on the spot but also between the United
Kingdom and French Foreign Offices’.201 Meanwhile the total adverse
visible balance of trade in Indo-China reached 1186 million Piastres,
due to the high level of imports.202 Considering potential food exports
from Indo-China the British Procurement Office concluded that ‘con-
tinual inflation has made cost of living abnormally high but official
salaries have not risen in proportion with the result that corruption
has closed in’.203

Bevin met Schuman in London on 13 and 14 January 1949 for a
series of talks. The two discussed various means for the exchange of
information between Britain and France through the Commissioner-
General’s office in Singapore.204 Schuman also hoped that settlement of
the Indonesian crisis would aid the situation in Indo-China.205 He was
quick to state that ‘the French Union was quite different from the
British conception of the Commonwealth. The latter was much wider
in scope, with greater autonomy for its component parts’.206 On 
20 January Truman announced during his inaugural second term address
that ‘Point Four’ assistance, US technical aid for under-developed coun-
tries, was a vital weapon against communism which grows ‘on tissues
made gangrenous by disease, poverty and exploitation’.207 The COS
considered that the strategic implication of the situation in China
necessitated prompt settlement of the crises in Indo-China and
Indonesia ‘so that the solidarity and military strength of the Common-
wealth and Western European countries is not impaired’. It concluded
that for Indo-China and Indonesia the ‘policy of withholding military
aid must continue until the political situation changes’.208

Rice supply remained an issue in Southeast Asia. India had already
found French rice prices too high and suggested that they together

The Winds of Change, May 1948–January 1950 121



with Malaya should attempt to purchase Indo-Chinese rice as a bulk
purchase to achieve a cheaper price based on economies of scale.209

Meanwhile, the progress of communist forces in China continued
despite Stalin’s scepticism. Mao’s revolutionary strategy was vindicated
following the People’s Liberation Army crossing of the Yangzi in the
spring of 1949 and the rapid conquest of the Southern provinces. The
French suspected that Chinese communities in Southeast Asia could 
be used as a vehicle for subversive activities and welcomed an
exchange of information with Britain on communist leaders, arms
smuggling, communications and airfields. They also supported joint
economic development and technical aid through the office of the
Commissioner-General and the UN Economic Commission for the 
Far East. France urged Anglo-French-US co-operation in Southeast Asia
to combat regional communism and the threat from communist
China.210 MacDonald complained to Killearn about the urgency of the
situation ‘in the face of the threat from China … I am afraid that we
are building with diplomacy rather than with military and economic
resources’. He expressed a ‘good deal of faith in the new Secretary of
State, Dean Acheson’ to change the momentum.211

During March a paper prepared for Bevin by Dening indicated 
that without help Southeast Asia would fall victim to a communist
advance.212 On 9 March a Foreign Office assessment of Indo-China
noted that although the US was worried about the situation in
Southeast Asia it did not believe that it had any responsibility for coun-
teracting communist influence in the region. Anglo-French understand-
ing was needed and ‘British and French military commanders have
already met and arranged for exchange of military and security intelli-
gence’.213 Attlee established a ministerial committee under himself
comprising the Chancellor, the Lord President, the Minister of Defence
and Secretaries of State for the Colonies, Commonwealth Relations and
Foreign Affairs to consider the problems of China and Southeast Asia.214

Continuing the spirit of co-operation begun by Killearn, MacDonald
welcomed delegates including Indo-China to the Indo-Pacific Fisheries
Council in Singapore on 24 March 1949.215 Meanwhile, talks were
orchestrated in London between Baeyens and Dening which ‘were
designed to convey to the French a sense of urgency in Far Eastern
Affairs in view of the situation in China and the advance of com-
munism in Asia’. The Foreign Office held that neither India nor
Australia would recognise the Auriol Agreement as real indepen-
dence.216 Likewise MacDonald held private talks with Pignon, who
seemed to understand the ‘importance of the time factor’. He regarded
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that the French and Bao Dai needed between six months and a year
‘before the Chinese communists become too powerful along the
border’.217 

On 29 March the US paper PPS51 concluded that Southeast Asia had
become the target of an offensive by the Kremlin.218 Meanwhile, about
18,000 irregular Chinese troops had begun operating in Northern
Tonkin, and the British Foreign Office doubted whether France would
be able to successfully reinforce troop numbers in Indo-China.219 From
September 1945 to December 1948 14,158 French troops had been
killed in Indo-China not including North Africans or those seriously
wounded.220 Bevin travelled to Washington to sign the North Atlantic
Treaty. Two days prior to the signing ceremony he wrote to Acheson
that in ‘parallel with our efforts in Europe and the Middle East’ we
should ‘encourage a spirit of co-operation and self-reliance in South-
east Asia with the view to the creation of a common front against
Russian expansion in that area’. He went on to urge Acheson that such
containment could ‘influence the situation in China and make it pos-
sible to redress the position there’ but that the Asian Governments
would also have to be included, and technical advice, assistance,
capital goods and arms would need to be provided.221 Graves sensed US
wariness to the proposal: ‘they have burnt their fingers so badly in
China that they are at present in a very cautious mood’.222 Ironically at
the same time, in Singapore, MacDonald protested to Strang about the
Foreign Office’s attempts to postpone a Commonwealth Governments’
conference until the autumn or the following year with the warning
that both Burma and Indo-China could be further in communist hands
if the situation was ignored.223 On 4 April the North Atlantic Treaty
was signed creating a regional defence organisation for Europe; Bevin,
however, did not regard this as a precedent for other regional defence
alliances. Three weeks later he stressed to Attlee that there were too
many internal conflicts for a Southeast Asian NATO.224

Britain remained eager to ascertain the direction of US policy in the
region and in May a working party was set up to study the Far East 
in the context of the January 1949 Truman address.225 US policy
appeared to be moving towards advocating the attainment of regional
agreement with other attracted powers. On 20 May the State Depart-
ment suggested that the US should try and ‘meet common attitude with
other interested governments, particularly UK, India and Philippines’.226

MacDonald hoped that the US would ‘tackle the problem of Southeast
Asia with the same constructive energy as they have put into the
problem of Western Europe and the North Atlantic’. He felt that ‘we can
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hold a line against communism which keeps all the Southeast Asian
countries on our side’ but warned that ‘time is running short’.227

In Indo-China, France placed a blockade on rice production in
Cochinchina in order to deny the Vietminh the revenue they were 
collecting from the internal movement of rice. This led to further
regional problems with the cessation of rice exports from Saigon.228

Between June and August Britain was becoming increasingly con-
cerned about the ‘dollar gap’ and the falling income from dollar
exports by the sterling area nations. Britain was still bankrupt follow-
ing the Second World War. It possessed an insulated imperial economy
which allowed ‘British Sterling debts to be discounted by imports and
it secured markets and supplies for Britain which might otherwise 
have been lost’.229 In Southeast Asia Malaya was strategically and eco-
nomically important to Britain as the largest net earner of dollars of
the British colonies, in 1948 $172 million.230 Bevin believed that if 
the dollar and sterling areas achieved the right co-operation then it
would be possible to use Truman’s ‘Point Four’ assistance to raise living
standards.231 The dollar crisis resulted in talks with the US for the
devaluation of sterling in September.232

At this time Russia increased pressure on the Far East with an
Orientalist Conference in Moscow. Pravda published on 7–9 June the
Chinese communist solution of the colonial question announced by
Liu Shao Chi in November 1948.233 In the US an Ogburn paper dis-
cussed the possibility of a communist controlled Indo-China causing a
chain reaction in rest of the sub-continent.234 The French pressed the
US to draw a line to stop communism north of the Sino-Indo-Chinese
border.235 On 5 July the Philippines and nationalist China called for a
regional anti-communist alliance. Six days later Acheson decided to
send PPS51 to Europe and Asia as a source of information.236 Reed
remarked that for US policy ‘the restoration of political stability was
the prime necessity’ in Burma, Indo-China and Indonesia.237 A Foreign
Office paper concluded that Russia was an expansionist power working
towards domination in Europe and ‘challenging British strategic and
economic position [in] the Middle East and the Far East’.238

During August Russia exploded its first atomic bomb and the US
White Paper foresaw an eventual Sino-Soviet Alliance.239 The COS was
warned by the BDCC that a French withdrawal from Indo-China would
have ‘extremely serious effects’ on ‘British interests in Southeast
Asia’.240 Similarly, the Colonial Office feared that a French withdrawal
from Northern Indo-China would facilitate communist supplies into
Burma and Thailand, and withdrawal from Cambodia and Cochin-
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china would result in ‘a direct strategic threat to Malaya’.241 In
September Truman publicly acknowledged that Russia had exploded an
atomic bomb.242 The Commanders-in-Chief Far East considered that
Britain should support the French in Tonkin to enable a friendly gov-
ernment to be established which would ultimately enable French
forces to be re-deployed for the defence of Europe.243 The US remained
anxious about the heightened communist activity in Southeast Asia.
On 8 September US Vice-Admiral Badger warned that if the Chinese
communists were not stopped in Southern China then Indo-China,
Burma and Malaya would fall.244 The next day during talks at the State
Department Dening revealed that in a Vietnamese radio broadcast Ho
had thanked Stalin for the supply of arms against the French.245

At a meeting between Bevin and Acheson prior to tripartite 
meetings with France in Washington Bevin raised the situations in
Malaya and Indo-China. Acheson acknowledged ‘that the situation in
Malaya was quite different from that prevailing in Indo-China since
the Malays looked to the British for protection against the Chinese
and were not at the present seeking a further degree of inde-
pendence’.246 In London a COS committee report by the JPS con-
sidered views from the JPS, the JIC and the BDCC on the further
implications of a French withdrawal from Indo-China on British
interests in Southeast Asia and other theatres. It concluded that ‘A
partial French withdrawal from French Indo-China would adversely
affect British interests in Far East and Southeast Asia. A complete
withdrawal would have the most serious implications for which the
release of several French divisions for service elsewhere would be an
inadequate compensation’.247

On 1 October the PRC was formally inaugurated in Beijing. British
plans for the aerial photography of Indo-China were halted by the
Foreign Office as such an operation could be interpreted by the
communists ‘as a prelude to active intervention’, especially when
considered against an active programme of visits to Indo-China by
Britain which included two frigates and the CIGS in October, the
Commissioner-General and the Commander-in-Chief of Far East 
Land Forces in November and Admiral Madden in December.248 On 
18 October, due to the lack of reliance on Indo-Chinese rice sup-
plies, neither France nor Indo-China was included in a regional co-
ordinating body at the Singapore Rice Conference.249 On the same day
British long-term policy ‘to contain Soviet Russia and Communist
China’ and prevent ‘the spread of communism in South and Southeast
Asia’ was set out in Cabinet Paper CP(49)207. This was ‘the creation of
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some form of regional association between all the Governments in the
area for political, economic and (if necessary) defence co-operation,
this association working in partnership with the association of the
North Atlantic Powers on the one hand and with Australia and New
Zealand on the other’.250 Bevin briefed Attlee that communist success
in China had resulted in the Chinese communities of Southeast Asia
favouring a Chinese communist government. He felt that there 
would now be ‘greatly increased pressure from the communists in all
the territories of Southeast Asia’.251 Attlee ‘agree[d] with the analysis’ of
CP(49)207.252 Bevin warned the Cabinet that ‘communist influence has
recently been extended over a large part of China. There is a grave risk
of its further extension into Southeast Asia’.253 The Cabinet endorsed
the policy of working towards regional, political and if necessary mil-
itary co-operation through economic co-ordination, eight days later.254

MacDonald believed that the Indian attitude towards Indo-China was
improving and he urged close liaison with France about Indo-China
and PRC aggression.255 On 28 October the Mutual Defence Assistance
Act Section 303 was passed in the US. Truman could now send any
non-combatant military advisers to any nations or agencies.256

Considering MacDonald’s optimism towards the Indian approach to
Indo-China November did not begin well. During a visit to the US,
Nehru did not demonstrate confidence in the Bao Dai solution and
declared to Acheson that ‘in his opinion Bao Dai was certain to fail’.257

From the 2–4 November the Bukit Serene Conference of British regional
representatives endorsed the recognition of the PRC, the long-term
British policy objective of regional organisation through economic 
co-operation and the recognition of the Bao Dai regime.258 The confer-
ence concluded that Southeast Asia was in a state of emergency where
action against communism ‘cannot be deferred until the policy of 
economic co-operation bears fruit’. It considered that it was ‘unlikely
that the Chinese communists will attempt military aggression against
China’s neighbours for some time to come’.259 It was felt that the PRC
would sponsor guerrilla operations in Southeast Asia and that Indo-
China was currently the weakest part of the region. It was feared that if
the communists could dominate the rice areas of Indo-China, Siam and
Burma then this would strangle the region.260 The conference agreed
that the exchange of military intelligence with the French was limited
due to current restrictions, and recommended that this problem be 
considered by the COS or the BDCC.261 At the fifth session of the
Economic Commission for Asia and the Far East in Singapore (a regional
commission for the UN), Bao Dai’s application for membership as an
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associate member was passed by eight votes to one (Russia).262 A similar
DRVN application was defeated with only India and Russia supporting
the application, India had also voted in favour of Bao Dai.263 Britain
considered that no economic or social development assistance could be
accorded to Indo-China ‘until the fighting stops’. It regarded Indo-
China’s immediate problems as military and political rather than eco-
nomic although it would take the necessary steps ‘when the fighting
stops, to restore Indo-China’s rice exports’ which would help to restore
the region’s food supply.264

Bevin asked Attlee to discuss the communist threat to Indo-China
with Nehru during his current London visit, but Attlee was too busy
and asked Bevin to broach this with Nehru.265 The French regarded
Indian Foreign Office policy with hostility, ‘a feeling of solidarity
against the white[s]’.266 During a visit to Indo-China MacDonald held
talks with the Indian Consul-General who predicted that ‘the Bao Dai
experiment would fail, and that the Vietminh would remain the
most powerful representatives of nationalist feeling in Indo-China’.
However, the Indian Consul-General felt that ‘if the French prove 
as good as their word and begin to transfer substantial power to 
Bao Dai in the way suggested … the Vietminh will lose a great deal of
support’.267 MacDonald urged Pignon to have talks with the Indian
Consul-General ‘to remove his deep suspicion of the French authori-
ties’ and result ‘in wiser advice to his government in New Delhi’.268

MacDonald desired the British and US Governments to issue a 
declaration similar to Acheson’s concerning Hong Kong, that if the
Tonkin border were attacked then the crisis would be referred to the
UN Security Council and acted upon.269 Dening and Strang were
against this idea and therefore did not pursue it further.270 Following
a visit to Indo-China General Revers, Commander-in-Chief of the
French Army, informed the British Military Attaché in Paris that it
was essential for Britain and France to develop a united policy
towards the communist threat and proposed a regional conference in
Singapore.271 Politically, the COS considered that British policy in the
region had been placed in an awkward situation. If Britain failed to
recognise the PRC then this could cause the Chinese population in
Malaya and Singapore to regard Britain as anti-Chinese but recog-
nition could be disastrous for Bao Dai and thereby lead to a French
withdrawal from Indo-China which could threaten Singapore and
Malaya.272

Late in 1949 the Chinese Peoples Liberation Army reached the Indo-
Chinese border. Vietminh radio relayed Ho and Mao’s exchanges of
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good wishes on the formation of the PRC.273 The British Foreign Office
was delighted with this evidence linking Mao and Ho as ‘ideological
brothers’.274 In December the US paper NSC 48/1, ‘The Position of the
US with respect to Asia’, concluded that there was a need to counter
the Chinese threat to Asia but did not specifically mention the crisis in
Indo-China.275 Similarly NSC 58/2 concluded that it was important to
use Titoism to roll back Soviet influence in the world.276 Strangely the
DRVN could not be applied to the Titoist model.

On 1 December the British Cabinet endorsed a policy of ‘promoting
regional co-operation in Southeast Asia, and improving economic and
social conditions in the area with the aim of checking communism
and Russian expansion’. It identified India as the critical area for US
financial assistance due to its ‘size, population, low standards of living
and strategic position’. Because of the financial pressure caused by the
problems with sterling balances Britain could not provide any invest-
ment or maintain current assistance in dependent territories. The
International Bank, the Export-Import Bank, public loans floated
abroad, private assets and the use of assets already held were identified
as possible sources of funding, although it would still ‘be desirable to
induce the US to recognise the need for provision of additional
finance’. US technical assistance was available under Truman’s ‘point 4’
but this ‘would only be fully effective if it is accompanied by the neces-
sary finance’. The policy stated that assistance would have to be
assessed upon the lines of vulnerability to communism, economic
merit, regional and international benefits and how far a nation could
apply self help. Indo-China, Indonesia and Burma were identified as
countries ‘where when conditions return to normal, rehabilitation
must precede new development’ as this ‘could yield a higher return’
and build up ‘political resistance to communism’.277 It reiterated
Britain’s stance that upon cessation of violence it was important to
restore Indo-China’s rice exports.278 The next day the Foreign Office
decided to withdraw its objections to the British aerial survey of Indo-
China.279 On 9 December the US decided upon a Military Aid
Programme Bill of $75 million for Southeast Asia thereby giving
finance to Truman’s Point Four.280

The French Commander-in-Chief in Indo-China, General Carpentier,
indicated that during a forthcoming visit to Paris, to review Indo-
China, he would call on the British Military Attaché, probably to
discuss the possible exchange of secret military information with
Britain, joint Anglo-French staff talks in the Far East and British supply
of military equipment to Indo-China. In discussion the COS were in
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favour of achieving an Anglo-French-US policy towards Indo-China
and believed that the Foreign Office should ‘approach the State
Department’. The COS supported the idea of Anglo-French talks pro-
vided that the boundaries ‘were agreed in London beforehand’.281 At a
second meeting, three days later, the COS decided that any submission
by the French for the supply of equipment ‘should be given sympa-
thetic consideration’ and also instructed the JPS and JIC to consider
how to execute Anglo-French staff talks ‘with authorities in French
Indo-China’. Likewise, it supported the idea that an aerial survey of
Indo-China should be conducted as soon as possible.282 The French
asked the BDCC whether Britain would support France if Indo-China
was attacked by the PRC and if Britain was not committed else-
where.283 On 16 December ministers on the China and Southeast Asia
Committee chaired by Attlee ruled that Britain was not to become
militarily involved in Indo-China. A week later the Foreign Office
instructed the COS not to undertake staff talks or any talks that
implied military action by Britain. The Foreign Office agreed that Indo-
China was vital in the battle against communism but stressed that the
Foreign Office was giving political support for the development of
Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam. It welcomed the idea of talks with
France on Southeast Asian defence but insisted that Britain would also
need to inform the US and said that Britain would not become militar-
ily involved in Indo-China even if the Chinese communists invaded
Vietnam.284 Meanwhile on 17 December the US JCS divided the
Military Aid Programme budget between French Indo-China, Burma
and Thailand.285 Acheson informed Franks that he believed in ‘a geo-
political division of responsibilities. The Americans would look after
Indonesia, Philippines, and Indo-China with a little to spare for Siam.
The Commonwealth would see to the help of the countries in the
Indian Ocean. He had in mind especially Burma: then there was our
own position in Malaya and our interest overlapping theirs in Siam’.
Franks concluded that ‘Acheson clearly was hoping that in some way
India and the United Kingdom would be able to tidy up the mess in
Burma so as to prevent the Chinese appearing over the hump’.286

Whilst a bankrupt Britain waited on the outcome of the Colombo
Conference, the US appeared galvanised into beginning a policy of
assistance towards Southeast Asia. The US dispatched the Ambassador-
at-Large Philip Jessup on a fact-finding mission to the Far East on 
15 December for three months. On 6 January 1950 Britain recognised
the PRC. The US did not.287 The Ministry of Supply contacted the
Colonial Office and indicated that ‘if the scale of the attack is increased
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by the occupation by the enemy of bases in Burma, Siam or Indo-
China the defences [in Singapore] should be increased’.288

The escalation of a crisis

On 30 December France transferred administrative powers for Vietnam
to the Bao Dai Government, although the Auriol Agreement still had
not been ratified. The French delay had strengthened Ho, who had
aligned with Stalin and Mao. Although diplomats had debated 
Ho’s nationalist, communist and even Titoist credentials they had
discounted that he could be both a nationalist and a communist. 
‘For him, nationalism and communism, the ends and the means, com-
plement[ed] one another; or rather they merge[d] inextricably’.289

Likewise, the creation of the PRC had symbolically linked Vietnam to
the socialist bloc.290 A DRVN military delegation had been dispatched
to Peking to negotiate with the Chinese as the DRVN approached the
second stage of Maoist insurgency warfare, ‘equilibrium’.291

Britain had emerged from its wait-and-see strategy and consultations
with its US ally with a clearer perspective of US policy. The US was
committed to the containment of communism. France was a vital com-
ponent of this containment in Europe as a member of NATO. The
failure of US policy in supporting the nationalists in China made Indo-
China a vital bulwark in US strategy and necessitated US aid.292 The 
US belief in a monolithic world communist menace orchestrated by
Moscow left no room for Indo-Chinese nationalism to be developed
according to Titoism.293 The US expected Britain and the Common-
wealth to assist in Southeast Asia but here British policy remained
unclear. The US interpreted this as a British attempt to disassociate
itself from French policy in Indo-China.294

In contrast to the US and France, Britain had chosen to recognise the
PRC but had delayed doing so in an attempt to allow France time to
transfer power to Bao Dai. However the French were unable to take
advantage of the British delay and for Britain to delay PRC recognition
a second time would have been an unnerving experience as Britain
sought not just to exploit any possible rifts between Moscow and
Peking but also to protect its regional strategic and economic interests
in Hong Kong, Malaya and the rest of Southeast Asia.295 To balance the
recognition of the PRC Britain had agreed to the de facto recognition of
Bao Dai following the Colombo Conference but, conscious of the need
for Bao Dai not to appear a Western puppet, Britain would need to
appeal to the Commonwealth Foreign Ministers – especially India,
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Ceylon, Burma and Pakistan – to do likewise. Britain and the US had
hoped to persuade Nehru that Ho was a communist rather than a
nationalist but Nehru’s Pan-Asian sympathy for Ho as a nationalist
communist rather than a Kremlin communist appealed to him more
than France’s nationalist masquerades with Bao Dai.296 Unfortunately,
Britain failed to get Commonwealth nations to recognise the Bao Dai
regime at the Commonwealth Conference in Colombo.297
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5
Consequences, January–June 1950

The French transfer of administrative powers to the Bao Dai Government
on 30 December 1949 did little to reduce the growing international
concern or the internal crisis in Indo-China. French failure to ratify the 
8 March Agreement made the transfer of administrative powers an empty
gesture. It provided Ho with the opportunity to counter ratification and
any subsequent international recognition. Continued DRVN control of
large areas of Vietnam justified Nehru’s assertion that in reality there were
‘two governments in Indo-China’.1 On 18 January the DRVN was for-
mally recognised by the PRC.2 As French complacency continued, so did
Ho’s diplomatic offensive. In late January he held further talks with the
PRC before proceeding to Moscow for negotiations with Stalin who
rejected DRVN requests for direct Soviet aid, regarding this as the PRC’s
task. Russia formally recognised the DRVN on 30 January.3 Ho appeared
to have achieved if not a diplomatic advantage over the French and 
Bao Dai then at least equilibrium. The Indo-Chinese Communist Party
declared Indo-China one battlefield and the Vietminh were prepared to
provide leadership for the Cambodian and Laotian revolutionary move-
ments.4 Cambodia was an important source of finance for the Vietminh,
through the control and taxation of fishing, pepper and rice production.5

Coincidentally, Jessup, the US Ambassador at large, visited Hanoi and
Saigon at the end of January as part of his tour to assess the growing crisis
in the Far East.6 Following the fall of the Chinese Nationalist Government
the US needed to revise its Far Eastern policy and address its own internal
criticism that ‘it has had no consistent plan of action that could be
described as a long-term policy.’7 The US had long abandoned the princi-
ple of neutrality, if it had ever existed, in Indo-China. The precedent for
US assistance in Southeast Asia was established on 9 January when five
million dollars was granted to newly independent Indonesia to establish a
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police force.8 Three days later the validity of the challenge was projected
by Acheson during his ‘Crisis in Asia’ speech to the National Press Club.
Acheson stated that the ‘Real interest of American people was in main-
tenance of national independence of other peoples and it was because
communism was hostile to that interest that America opposed it. To say
merely that United States interest was to stop the spread of communism
was putting the cart before the horse’.9 The internal Indo-Chinese crisis
had indeed escalated and exploded upon the world stage, creating two
camps locked over Indo-China.

In Vietnam the political situation remained weak and perilously
unstable. Bao Dai relinquished his position as Prime Minister and 
dissolved the government so that he could assume his duties as Head of
State.10 The Cao Dai group in the government immediately withdrew
their support for the new Prime Minister, Nguyen Pham Long, although
they maintained their personal support of Bao Dai.11 Although a new
government was established the British Foreign Office appeared to agree
with Gibb’s prediction of ‘serious danger if the present “state of flux” in
Indo-China is allowed to persist’.12 Likewise, British recognition of the
PRC had not helped the confidence or the stability of the Vietnamese
government and ‘was not well received’.13

For Britain the same priorities remained: recognition of Bao Dai only
upon ratification of the 8 March Agreement; the question of military
supplies to the French; the regional need to contain communism 
to protect British interests in Malaya and Hong Kong; and the need to
ensure the supply of rice within Southeast Asia. Bevin was committed 
to meeting the escalating crisis in Indo-China and Southeast Asia; the
Labour Government, however, also had to contest a spring general elec-
tion. Nevertheless, these other Cabinet preoccupations did not prove
decisive, as Britain had to await French ratification and a diplomatic US
lead. Britain’s financial difficulties and own commitments in the region
meant that any long-term burden adopted through recognition could
only be borne by the US. Therefore Britain’s ability to commit military
assistance to Indo-China was to prove limited at this stage and it had to
accept second place. However, Britain’s position in the region was still
reinforced by Commonwealth support although, in order to maintain
its position, this was subject to the whims of its regional partners.

The blend of Britain’s Indo-Chinese and regional policies

Bevin kept the US informed of proceedings at the January Colombo
Conference through the US Ambassador to Ceylon, to whom he
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expressed frustration with the French inability to ratify their agreement
with Bao Dai. MacDonald had presented the conference with an
encouraging internal synopsis of the situation in Indo-China and
Bevin believed that ‘if the French had ratified, all the government rep-
resentatives here, with the exception of India, would have come down
in favour of de facto recognition’. Instead there was ‘a good deal of mis-
trust of French intentions’. Bevin feared that British recognition before
French ratification would ‘upset some of the hesitant members of 
the Commonwealth’. He was eager to support Bao Dai, and French
ratification would demonstrate their ‘good faith’ in which, with the
exception of India, the Commonwealth Governments would follow a
British lead and accord recognition. Despite his non-committal assess-
ment of India’s reaction to recognition following ratification, Bevin did
not think that Nehru would pose any further problems but considered
it important for Britain to ‘carry the Asian members of the
Commonwealth with us’ who ‘were hesitant as a result of French pro-
crastination in the past’.14

Bevin’s conclusions were relayed to Schuman.15 In London, Baudet
met with Dening to discuss the conclusions of the Colombo Confer-
ence. Dening only offered a ‘general outline’ in which he relayed
Nehru’s solution that ‘Bao Dai should come to terms with Ho Chi
Minh’. Baudet also enquired about the outcome of talks between Field
Marshal Slim, General Sir John Harding and General Carpentier ‘about
the supply of arms and military equipment for the French in Indo-
China’. As Dening was unaware of the current situation, and the
French were eager to pursue the enquiry, Baudet suggested that the
Military Attaché at the French Embassy should contact the British
Ministry of Defence.16

From Washington, Franks ironically observed that the US people
were convinced ‘that the supreme danger confronting their civilisation
is not old fashioned colonialism but modern communism’. Therefore
the colonial powers were regarded as ‘natural and indispensable allies’
although there was an inherent failure ‘to recognise that anything
which weakens the colonial powers also weakens the United States’.17

Senator Joseph McCarthy began a campaign a month later to have the
State Department purged of communist employees. Meanwhile, the
State Department held that in order to attain maximum assistance for
Bao Dai ‘some Asiatic countries should precede the United States in
according recognition or at least at the same time’. Therefore the US
hoped to persuade the Philippines, Thailand and Indonesia, and
trusted Britain to do the same with India and Burma.18 However, when



asked about the Commonwealth discussions on Bao Dai, Nehru replied
‘We are generally opposed to any foreign armies functioning in 
Asia. That is a general proposition, our policy in Indo-China is to
watch events and not to make any commitments’.19 Similarly, the US
wanted France to issue a statement of ‘“liberal intentions” and a
specific plan for the further evolution of Viet Nam’, as well as remov-
ing Indo-China from the responsibility of the Ministry of Overseas
Territories.20 Jessup in Vietnam concluded his visit with a message of
goodwill from the US and a personal message of success from Acheson
to Bao Dai.21

Having returned to Singapore, MacDonald advocated according the
de facto recognition even if the French parliamentary timetable
delayed ratification further. He believed that early British action was
required: British recognition of the PRC had prejudiced Bao Dai; the
Vietminh and the PRC were increasing their action and propaganda
against Bao Dai; Bao Dai and the French in Saigon could easily be 
discouraged; and other Commonwealth Governments would follow a
British lead. However, if Britain chose to await ratification he would
support the government in putting ‘every pressure on the French to
ratify’.22 Du Gardier visited MacDonald and relayed the news of a
further gradual improvement in the situation in Indo-China.
MacDonald briefed him as to the conclusions on the question of
recognition arrived at by the Colombo Conference, i.e.: the 8 March
Agreement should be ratified; Indo-China transferred from the
Ministry of Overseas Territories to the French Foreign Office or a
French Commonwealth Relations Office; Bao Dai should be allowed
to appoint diplomats overseas wherever he wanted; and France
should declare this the start of a process towards full sovereign state
status. Du Gardier agreed with these proposals and indicated that
Pignon also advocated similar policies. Du Gardier informed
MacDonald that the French intended to extend recognition beyond
the 8 March Agreement. An inter-state conference planned for the
third week in February between Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam would
be followed by further power transfers to the three Indo-Chinese gov-
ernments. Similarly, 80% of the powers reserved by the French were
limited to the current crisis and would be removed upon its conclu-
sion. The other 20% would expire when the Vietnamese state
‘expands its trained personnel in various fields, for example the judi-
ciary’.23 Pignon’s position remained vulnerable. MacDonald consid-
ered that any attempt by the French to replace Pignon with a military
High Commissioner at this juncture ‘would be an act of titanic folly’
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which would damage Commonwealth opinion and Bao Dai’s
prospects.24

The French were both surprised and out-manoeuvred by the PRC
recognition of the DRVN whilst Acheson expressed surprise at Russian
recognition.25 The British Ambassador in Moscow observed that ‘the
Soviet and Chinese leaders have decided that French-Indo-China is the
weakest link in the chain of Western defence in Southeast Asia, and
that the maximum pressure should be exerted there’. Russia’s recog-
nition of Indonesia appeared to amplify this position.26 The French
protested to the Russian Ambassador in Paris concerning recognition of
the DRVN.27 On 1 February a State Department working party con-
cluded that already the US was bound together with France in Indo-
China. A failure to support Bao Dai would result in a communist
Indo-China which would contribute to the defeat of US objectives in
Europe.28 MacDonald summarised his feelings about communist recog-
nition to the Foreign Office ‘in these last two weeks we have lost the
diplomatic initiative in Indo-China which has passed to the commu-
nist powers. In my view, unless we seize it again quickly and firmly,
irreparable harm may be done’. MacDonald again pressed for an imme-
diate de facto recognition based on the 30 December 1949 transfer of
power to Bao Dai with a de jure recognition to follow ratification.29

Considering the British troubles with communism in Malaya, Mac-
Donald viewed this as the ‘extension of the communist movement in
China’.30 After a delay by the French Government, on the 27 January
the COS ordered the aerial survey of Indo-China to commence.31 Three
British officers were attached to French units in Indo-China as part of a
local exchange scheme between British and French Officers in Indo-
China and Malaya.32 Reflecting the turmoil in Vietnam, the political
situation in Cambodia was destabilised by the murder of Ieu Keos,
President of the National Assembly, whilst visiting Laos, and there was
‘considerable Vietminh infiltration into the Sam Neua area’ of
Northern Laos.33 In the British Foreign Office it was cynically suggested
that ‘a “facade of democracy” is about the most that can be expected 
in a country such as Viet Nam even under more peaceful conditions. 
A similar facade in Indonesia is serving quite a useful purpose’.34

The Colombo Conference supported a plan by Percy Spender,
Australian Minister for External Affairs, for the economic and technical
development of South and Southeast Asia; this was to be co-ordinated
by a Consultative Committee of Commonwealth countries.35 The
Australian Government agreed to host the first meeting of the Con-
sultative Committee.36 The Colombo Conference demonstrated that
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Australia and New Zealand agreed with Britain over Indo-Chinese
recognition, with Nehru in opposition. Therefore Attlee agreed to press
France to ratify and transfer power by the end of January. Britain
would only accord de facto recognition upon ratification.37 Two days
later the Foreign Office advised Attlee that British recognition ‘should
be neither de facto nor de jure but “in accordance with the terms of the
agreement made between Bao Dai and President Auriol”’.38 Attlee
agreed.39 Britain would recognise the Associated States in accordance
with the 8 March 1949 Auriol-Bao Dai Agreement, the 19 July 1949
Franco-Laotian Treaty and the 8 November 1949 Franco-Cambodian
Treaty. The Commonwealth Governments were informed and King
George VI approval sought to upgrade the Consul-General in Saigon to
the rank of a minister accredited to Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam.40

MacDonald pessimistically noted ‘my hunch is that we are in for an
extremely tense year’. He was unsure if Indo-China, Siam and Burma
could be held against communism and if not feared that Malaya would
be threatened by the loss of its Southeast Asian food supply. He con-
cluded ironically, ‘it will at least be exciting’.41

Bevin returned to London from Colombo via Paris, where he held
talks with the Acting French Foreign Minister Schneiter. Bevin
expressed his continued disappointment at the French failure to ratify
the 8 March Agreement. This had prevented the Commonwealth Gov-
ernments making a definitive decision concerning recognition.42 Bevin
was in favour of Anglo-French co-operation, believing that ‘Indo-China
was a key point in the communist expansion programme’. Schneiter
held that without ‘moral and possibly armed support’ France would
possibly have to evacuate Indo-China.43 Bevin explained that it was 
the intention of the British Government to place the recognition of
Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam before the Cabinet on 7 February and
hopefully accord recognition later that day. Schneiter was anxious
about the deepening international crisis; already Russia and Czecho-
slovakia had recognised the DRVN. Further recognition by other com-
munist bloc nations would follow. Schneiter considered that immediate
recognition was needed by Britain and the US to slow the escalating
crisis. Bevin was unmoved by Schneiter’s plea, preferring to wait for a
Cabinet decision, especially as he now favoured de jure recognition
which needed further consultation. He also wanted to consult the
Commonwealth Governments to ascertain which would support recog-
nition. Bevin believed that Russia was aware of British intentions, but
Britain would not be rushed into making any decision. He agreed 
to discuss the issue urgently with Attlee and inform the French

Consequences, January–June 1950 137



Government if ‘an immediate decision could be taken’.44 In Russia,
Zhukov writing in Pravda denounced ‘the criminal designs of the
Franco-American imperialists in Indo-China, which are directed to the
establishment of bases for aggression against [the] People’s Democratic
China and to preparing a new war’. Zhukov blamed the current crisis
in Vietnam on French and US banks and ‘American monopolies, which
are interested in seizing the tin, zinc, coal and other natural riches 
of Vietnam, and by the American General Staff who are desirous of
having strategic bases at the approaches to the Chinese People’s
Republic’.45

On 7 February the British Cabinet met to discuss the recognition of
Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam. Bevin remained unconvinced of French
sincerity to liquidate the vestments of the colonial regime and transfer
real power to the Associated States. He emphasised to his Cabinet col-
leagues that it had been essential for British recognition to await
French ratification in case the French Socialist Party vetoed the propos-
als which would have thereby caused British diplomatic embarrass-
ment. Now that ratification had been enacted and US recognition
accorded, Bevin recommended that Britain and the US should encour-
age France to stand against communism in Indo-China. The Cabinet
agreed to British recognition of Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam.46 The
Commonwealth Governments were informed of Britain’s decision and
of the promotion of the Consul-General in Saigon to the rank of minis-
ter.47 The Secretary of State for Commonwealth Affairs expected
Australia, Canada and New Zealand to accord recognition; India would
not, Pakistan remained undecided and it was hoped that Ceylon would
follow the British lead. It was proposed that if Egypt or Persia ‘could be
persuaded’ to recognise Bao Dai then Pakistan might do likewise.48 The
Foreign Office advised the British Embassy in Washington that ‘our
recognition is not qualified by the words “de facto”’. Britain had recog-
nised the Associated States ‘under French constitutional law’ and did
not regard them as ‘independent sovereign states’ or ‘as eligible for
membership of the UN’. Additionally, due to communist bloc recogni-
tion of the DRVN, Britain was against de facto recognition as ‘this
might have been interpreted by them as a snub’.49 By contrast the US
had accorded unqualified recognition and raised the rank of its repre-
sentative in Saigon to a minister in charge of a legation.50 The Foreign
Office was not pleased with US accusations that its actions were ‘skit-
tish and timorous’.51 Britain received also a request from the DRVN
inviting the ‘establishment of diplomatic relations’; however, the gov-
ernment decided not to respond to the request.52 On 8 February
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Massigli conveyed France’s thanks for recognition to Bevin and requested
Britain to contemplate further steps such as the appointment of a
military representative or mission to Indo-China. Bevin declined: ‘our
hands were already full with the problems of Malaya and Hong Kong,
and there might, I added [sic] be intensification at the present time of
the Malaya question in particular’.53

The French Consul-General in Singapore, Guibant, wrote to Mac-
Donald thanking him for his efforts in securing the recognition of
Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam by Britain. He stated that this was 
‘I venture to hope the beginning of an active policy by the democratic
nations, against opponents who until now have been able to take the
initiative with impunity’. Guibant believed that Asiatic support would
be forthcoming ‘if we demonstrate a common and really firm willing-
ness to defend them against a menace which they are too tempted to
consider unavoidable’.54 MacDonald replied that he was ‘impressed by
Bao Dai’s steadiness and ability’ and the ‘firmness and the wisdom of
Monsieur Pignon’. He considered that Pignon’s success during the last
year was the highlight in Southeast Asian politics since the Second
World War.55 However, although MacDonald supported British recog-
nition of Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam, he regretted that Gibbs would
only acquire the personal rank of a minister. MacDonald believed that
Britain should follow the US example and establish a full legation in
Saigon and that Britain’s limited recognition had been diminished
further ‘by the full de jure recognition given by Russia and her satellites
to Ho Chi Minh’.56 MacDonald continued to press the Foreign Office
for the raising of the status of the British Consulate in Saigon to a
legation.57

On 10 February, following the established Indonesian precedent,
the US controlled Export-Import Bank, predecessor to the Inter-
national Bank, granted Indonesia a hundred million dollar loan, and
Jessup attended the Bangkok Conference which had been arranged to
discuss communism in the Far East and US aid to Southeast Asia.58 US
willingness to supply large quantities of financial assistance was not
overlooked by the French. Six days later the French Ambassador in
Washington called on Acheson and proposed a joint Franco-British-US
statement ‘to ensure the inviolability of the Indo-China frontier’, plus
setting up talks between the US and France on economic and military
aid.59 Already both the State Department and the French Embassy in
Washington had informally questioned the British Embassy ‘about
military supplies for the French in Indo-China’. The State Department
had indicated that the US was close to making a decision to contribute
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military or financial aid and were eager for Britain to supply light
bombers. The British Embassy noted the US trap that ‘the State Dep-
artment would like to avoid too close association with items whose
provenance would be so patent’. The embassy replied that it could not
deal with such a request and, implying the need to refer the issue to
London, it warned that Britain was already stretched with ‘responsibil-
ities in Malaya and Hong Kong’.60 MacDonald supported economic
aid to Indo-China and had suggested a joint British, US and Com-
monwealth survey party to assess the situation.61 Similarly a report by
the Organisation for European Economic Co-operation concluded that
a European recovery would be enhanced if the US gave assistance to
developing nations.62 However, US officials were concerned at the
amount of assistance that France had requested and were startled by
the French claim that ‘unless this aid could be furnished the French
Government might be compelled to evacuate Indo-China’. The US
Ambassador in Paris interpreted the requests as requiring from the US
‘nothing less than 100% participation, including troops’.63 Two days
later Schuman clarified the claim, ‘there was no question of a volun-
tary French withdrawal from Indo-China’.64 In contrast, the French
remained distressed at the perceived ‘inconsistency’ of US policy on
colonial issues and Bao Dai, which they believed ‘weaken and embar-
rass France’.65 Acheson continued to be fearful of congressional ‘criti-
cism of French “colonialism” in Indo-China’.66 On 21 February
Massigli delivered to Strang a list of the ‘immediate’ military require-
ments needed by the French in Indo-China from the British. He indi-
cated that France was hoping for US aid in equipping local
Indo-Chinese forces on a long-term basis.67 However, British assis-
tance could only be limited. The British Embassy in Washington was
instructed to discuss short term economic aid with the US on an 
‘ad hoc basis in order not to prejudice discussions with the Common-
wealth on the Colombo resolution and aid to Southeast Asia as a
whole’.68 US army planners concluded that once the US had recog-
nised Bao Dai it was imperative to prevent him failing.69 The US had
lost its leverage on France and its commitment to containment gave
the French increased influence over the US.70

The procurement of rice for British territories remained an impor-
tant aspect of British Southeast Asian policy. The Sino-Soviet agree-
ments, the PRC and Russian recognition of the DRVN, and the
French appeals to Britain and the US suggested an escalating crisis.
MacDonald feared that the Sino-Soviet Pact threatened Southeast
Asia as it would ‘increase respect for Chinese Government among
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overseas Chinese communities’ and encourage other governments 
to believe that they could ‘compromise with Soviet Russia or Com-
munist China without sacrificing their independence’.71 This could
effect severely rice exports from Burma and Siam. Therefore, in
Southeast Asia, it was essential that deficit territories achieved ‘self-
sufficiency’, stockpiles were established and a ‘comprehensive study
of alternative or new sources’ was undertaken.72 Paradoxically, US
rice growers considered prices too uneconomical to increase produc-
tion.73 The British Cabinet therefore decided to establish a working
party to monitor the rice situation in Southeast Asia. The deficit for
the current rice year was estimated by MacDonald’s staff at over
800,000 tons. However, as reconstruction in Japan continued so its
demand for rice increased. It had been estimated that Japan would
only be allocated 200,000 tons of Southeast Asian rice but already 
it had contracted 330,000 tons from Siam and 170,000 tons from
Burma, and reports indicated that it was willing to purchase a further
1,000,000 tons from Burma and Siam. Indo-China was estimated to
have a 200,000 ton rice surplus, which had not been accounted for at
the December allocation meeting; this would probably be absorbed
by France and its territories.74

Meanwhile, a British Army team successfully visited the International
Horse Show in Phnom Penh. MacDonald believed that this would help
to improve British prestige in Indo-China.75 MacDonald and the JIC 
Far East held that the PRC had enhanced its troop numbers on 
the Tonkin frontier to increase pressure there but that further troop
movements were preparations for an invasion of Tibet.76 The JIC, in
London, concluded in its regional assessment that the PRC posed 
no threat to Formosa, Hong Kong or Indo-China. Instead Tibet was
regarded as a distinct possibility for PRC aggression and, worryingly 
for Britain, the Malaya situation continued to deteriorate.77 On 
22 February the Canadian Secretary of State for External Affairs, 
L.B. Pearson, addressed the Canadian House of Commons. He iden-
tified Southeast Asia and the Middle East as targets for com-
munist expansion due to recent decolonisation and the growth 
of nationalism. Concerning Southeast Asia he persisted with the
common theme that there needed to be a rise in living standards by
self-help and mutual aid to fight communism. Despite the continued
violence in Vietnam, he praised the French for their efforts already
taken in Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam which ‘will provide a means 
by which the national aspirations of the people of Indo-China will 
be met’.78
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From February to April the Vietminh conducted Operation Le Hong
Phong 1, a limited offensive operation in Northwestern Tonkin. On 
14 February the Sino-Soviet Friendship Treaty was signed between Russia
and the PRC.79 Five days later Ho called for a total mobilisation against
the French colonialists and their US allies.80 Dening met with Baudet
and pressed him that the French Government had not yet given any
reaction to the PRC, Russian and associated satellite states’ recognition
of the DRVN. The Foreign Office held that ‘there was a danger that
world opinion would come to regard Bao Dai and Ho Chi Minh as two
rivals in a civil war with virtually equal status’ and questioned the
French response if the PRC or Russia sent diplomatic representatives 
to Ho. Baudet believed that such officials held no diplomatic status 
and would therefore be arrested.81 However, French procrastination 
on Indo-China continued. Bevin instructed Harvey, the British Am-
bassador in Paris, to lobby the French about ‘taking steps to try to
dispel the suspicions of the Pakistanis and others about French
intentions in Indo-China’, although India still ‘had no intention of
recognising either side in Indo-China’.82

In addition to discussions with the US and Commonwealth Govern-
ments, Britain had lobbied Belgium, Burma, Denmark, Egypt, Greece,
Indonesia, Italy, Norway, Persia, the Philippines, Portugal, Siam,
Sweden, and Switzerland, to recognise Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam.
Although it was impossible to assess the depth of British influence
upon the decision-making process of these governments, Australia,
Belgium, Brazil, Greece, Italy, New Zealand, and Siam had all accorded
recognition by 2 March. Siamese recognition was symbolically impor-
tant ‘as being the first instance of a small independent Asiatic power
taking the plunge’.83 The Cambodian Government, perhaps due to 
the logic of Cambodian-Siamese historical rivalry, asked Siam not to 
grant it recognition.84 The Pakistan Government and others, how-
ever, remained reluctant to accord recognition ‘owing to doubts 
about the real nature of Indo-Chinese independence’ that still per-
sisted.85 Lord Hood at the British Embassy in Paris met with Baeyens
who maintained that the main difficulties facing France were the
removal of Ho and ‘finding competent Vietnamese to staff the admin-
istration’. He revealed that the US was no longer pressing for a general
declaration of French policy on Indo-China but ‘for a timetable for 
the transfer of powers to Bao Dai’.86 However, whereas the US had 
been prepared to press the Philippines into recognition of the Asso-
ciated States and hoped that Britain would be prepared to do likewise
with Ceylon, the British Government maintained a firm line that ‘no
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(repeat no) pressure should be brought to bear on Ceylon in this
matter’.87

Bevin met Massigli on 2 March. Massigli advised Bevin that the
French Government had asked the US for material assistance in Indo-
China, Siam had recognised the Bao Dai regime and that the Chinese
communists were aiding Ho. Massigli wanted to produce a ‘common
approach’ to the crisis with Britain and the US but cautioned Bevin
that the US was wary of further nations recognising the PRC. Bevin
retorted that British recognition of the PRC had strengthened Mao
against Stalin.88 At this juncture Bevin regarded any Anglo-French staff
talks on external defence in the Far East as premature.89 In parallel the
COS assessed that Britain could spare no Army or RAF forces to send 
to Indo-China; there were possibly limited Royal Naval resources avail-
able for off-shore patrolling only.90 Nonetheless the JIC continued to
prepare intelligence on the military situation in Indo-China whilst the
JPS examined the issue of Anglo-French staff talks. Five days later Bevin
met Schuman for talks during President Auriol’s visit to Britain. Bevin
was eager for the French to strengthen Bao Dai’s position as this would
encourage the Commonwealth nations to support France’s Indo-China
policy. He felt that the handover of the palace at Saigon would symbol-
ically strengthen Bao Dai’s position and encourage recognition.
Schuman stated that it was France’s desire to increase Bao Dai’s powers
and that his representatives were being appointed to London and
Washington. Although he acknowledged that Cambodia, Laos and
Vietnam could no longer remain under the jurisdiction of the Ministry
of Overseas Territories they were still administered by this ministry as
no decision had yet been taken regarding their future. It could be that
a new ministry would be created based upon the British Common-
wealth Relations Office. Likewise, as the Ministry for Overseas Terri-
tories still administered Vietnam, Schuman indicated that he would
pass on the question of the palace to his ministerial colleague, giving
the recommendation his support. Bevin was encouraged and Schuman
used the opportunity to press Bevin on the issue of British aid to Indo-
China, stating, ‘France was now the principal obstacle for communism
in the Far East … and the commitments in Indo-China prevented the
re-organisation of the French Army in Europe. It was not only a ques-
tion of defending French interests in Indo-China; the matter had to be
looked at as a wider problem’. Bevin acknowledged that Massigli had
already delivered ‘a list of military requirements’ which was being
studied. However, due to Britain’s ‘many commitments’ Bevin was ‘not
sure how much we would be able to do’.91 Schuman attempted to snare
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Bevin into an aid commitment by referring ‘to the sum of $75 million
which the United States had at their disposal’. He elaborated that
although the French did not know what percentage of this they would
be allocated, ‘any military aid which the United Kingdom and the
United States might furnish for Indo-China would have a good psycho-
logical effect on French troops’. Bevin avoided the snare. He agreed
that ‘France was a good candidate for United States aid in Indo-China’
and failed to mention any British aid commitment.92 Following on
from Bevin’s meeting with Massigli on 2 March, Schuman stated that if
the PRC had not recognised the DRVN then France as well as Britain
would have recognised the PRC.93

A week later Jessup held encouraging discussions with Schuman in
Paris. Agreement was reached on the transfer of US arms within Vietnam
and Jessup pressed the French about the status of the palace at Saigon.94

Truman had already approved the allocation ‘“in principle”’ of fifteen
million dollars for military aid to Indo-China.95 However, the US did not
approve of the proposal to transfer Indo-Chinese affairs from the French
Ministry of Overseas Territories to a new ministry. Instead the State
Department wanted the transfer to be to the French Foreign Office and
lobbied Britain for a joint Anglo-US approach to the French on this issue.
Bevin held that Britain had pressed France far enough on the transfer of
Indo-Chinese affairs to an appropriate ministry and that the issue should
‘be allowed to rest’ as further pressure ‘could be interpreted by the
French as undue interference in their internal affairs’ and ‘might also
make M. Schuman’s position more difficult’.96 The State Department had
ascertained that Nehru was considering calling a conference to discuss
the Indo-China crisis. The US regarded this as unhelpful and asked if
Britain was prepared to ‘“throw grit into the machinery”’.97 However,
because of India’s stated policy of non-interference, Bevin was sceptical
about the likelihood of a proposed conference and advised ‘I should be
inclined to let the idea die a natural death’.98 Meanwhile the French
Government suggested to Vietnam that it would be appropriate to send
diplomatic missions to both London and Washington.99

The COS decided to consider international developments against a
possible wartime strategy.100 The Commanders-in-Chief Far East and
MacDonald believed that the transfer of French powers to Bao Dai had
slowly increased his nationalist credentials but that the British recogni-
tion of the PRC had resulted in a negative effect on Bao Dai’s support.
They recommended the development of a ‘regional security plan
including friendly Asian countries’ and, because of the increased likeli-
hood of a communist Indo-China, Burma and Siam, a ‘reassessment of
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the military defences of Malaya in relation to the common frontier
with communism’.101 Malaya remained an important contributor of
dollars to the British economy in the continuing world dollar shortage
and a significant exporter of supplies to Western Europe.102 MacDonald
wrote to Jessup to encourage further US support for Indo-China and
Southeast Asian nations against the threat of communism.103 On the
17 March the parameters for the Anglo-French information talks
between the Commanders-in-Chief Far East and the French authorities
were finalised by the JPS. The talks were to fortify French morale, assess
military needs, comprehend French plans and exchange information
on internal communist threats.104 A JPS paper considering a strategy
for a major war in 1957 pessimistically warned ‘Indo-China will have a
communist government in control of most of the country’.105 At a COS
meeting on 24 March Dening held that Schuman was attempting to
blackmail Britain into aiding the French in Indo-China with the threat
that no assistance would result in a French withdrawal. Lt.-General
Brown-John considered that it was impossible now to separate the
internal and external threats to Indo-China. Dening explained that the
Foreign Office believed it credible to discuss the internal Indo-Chinese
situation in any Anglo-French information talks but that Britain could
not be drawn into assisting France internally in Indo-China. He added
that Bevin had expressed to Schuman that it was unwise for Britain,
the US and France to be appearing to resolve the situation without
consulting the Asian powers, especially India. The French press had
already exaggerated the significance of the Bevin-Schuman negotia-
tions. The Foreign Office was prepared as a last resort to inform Russia
that any activity in Southeast Asia was not acceptable to Britain. The
COS agreed to begin Anglo-French informal information talks about
French Indo-China.106

In the meantime MacDonald met with R. Allen Griffin who had been
dispatched by the US on a fact-finding mission to Southeast Asia. The
Griffin mission was ‘to make urgent recommendations on the kind and
the extent of American assistance which would be most immediately
effective in the campaign against communism’. Although the parame-
ters for this were ‘immediate needs in the economic field’, Griffin was
‘to interpret “economic” aid in a wide sense to include police and
quasi-military assistance’. Griffin informed MacDonald that only the
Presidential fund of $75,000,000 was currently available for Southeast
Asia and ‘much of this was intended for direct military aid but use for
semi-military and political purposes was not excluded’. However, a
further $100,000,000 from the remnant of the China aid programme
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could be available, if agreed by Congress, before this returned to US
Treasury funds on 30 June 1950. Likewise, funds could also be available
under the Point Four programme but the appropriate legislation was
still being considered. MacDonald reported to the Foreign Office
‘Viewing the area as a whole, Mr Griffin said that he gave first priority
to Indo-China’.107 Griffin confirmed the importance of Indo-China
during a press conference as ‘one of the most important places in the
world and one where American aid could help mutually’. He predicted
that economic aid such as medical supplies would be distributed
within 90 days but warned that ‘American aid would not duplicate any
aid to Asian countries that might be given under any plan agreed to by
the Commonwealth. The US were [sic] very interested in the Canberra
meeting and would undoubtedly have observers there’.108 Despite
Griffin’s intention of sending immediate aid to Indo-China ‘he was
exercised about the problem of giving help to Bao Dai without involv-
ing the French loss of prestige. There were difficulties both as regards
offering American technical assistance and … about the distribution of
aid’. Griffin observed ‘the French in Indo-China were very jealous of
the treaty of rights which gave them priority (and in their interpreta-
tion, an almost exclusive right) in furnishing advice and expert assis-
tance in any schemes of public character’. Therefore, despite the
perilous situation, the local French denied the need for technical 
assistance.109 The French feared ‘American economic domination 
and bad moral effect on the expeditionary force’; paradoxically the
Vietnamese also feared technical aid as this could lead to the ‘con-
tinued control of Western powers through economic necessity’.110

By contrast, Pignon was concerned with France’s excessive military
expenditure in Indo-China. In 1949 military expenditure in Indo-
China had cost France 160,000 million francs. Pignon held that in the
struggle against communism both in Indo-China and Southeast Asia
‘France had already made heavy sacrifices. It was time to state frankly
that her ability to continue to bear such responsibility depended 
on degree of understanding accorded to her’.111 Likewise concern-
ing the distribution of aid, the Governments of Cambodia, Laos 
and Vietnam favoured bi-lateral agreements with the US as the
machinery of distribution, whereas the French ‘favoured an organisa-
tion which had the United States on one hand and France, Vietnam,
Cambodia and Laos on the other’. MacDonald and Griffin agreed 
that due to the unhelpful attitude of the local French in Indo-China 
it appeared necessary ‘to take parallel action in Paris’ to clarify the
situation.112
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The situation in Vietnam remained chaotic and unstable. A visit by
the US Navy, 16–20 March, was greeted by Vietnamese student demon-
strations against the US naval presence. On 25 March the Vietnamese
Government was plunged into further turmoil with the resignation of
three leading ministers. A political stalemate ensued until 28 April
when Bao Dai was forced to dissolve the Nguyen Pham Long Gov-
ernment and invite Tran Van Huu to form a new administration.113

The French approached MacDonald’s office to request details of the
security agreement between Malaya and Siam concerning police fron-
tier co-operation in order to replicate such an agreement between
Cambodia, Laos and Siam.114 Similarly a request was made to the
British High Commissioner in New Delhi for information concerning
British relations with the Maldives Islands. A copy of the 1948 agree-
ment with the Sultan of the Maldives Islands was given to the French.
It was believed that France was considering a similar arrangement 
with the Indo-Chinese islands, especially Poulo Condore.115 Despite
the political crisis and security problems rice production increased in
Southern Vietnam during the rice year 1949–50. Prices in the south
were in decline but in the north prices were increasing due to the
added misfortune of a drought.116

On 29 March the Ministry of Defence requested that Attlee consider
the military implications of the deterioration in Vietnam. It had
already assessed that as the French were heavily stretched a decisive
victory was unlikely but that a PRC offensive was also unlikely in the
near future. It feared that if the French received no assistance then a
withdrawal was possible, and a subsequent Vietminh victory could
threaten the Malaya anti-bandit campaign. It estimated that the
Vietminh had 188 battalions of 86,000 regular and 90,000 irregular
forces by comparison to France’s 135,800 regulars, Vietnam’s 50,000
regulars, Cambodia and Laos’s 6000 regulars and 41,000 Indo-Chinese
irregular forces. France was suffering heavy casualties but could not
inflict a severe defeat on the Vietminh due to the Vietminh tactic of
conducting a war of attrition. Time was on the Vietminh’s side.117 The
COS concluded that ‘everything possible, therefore, should be done to
support the French in Indo-China’ but acknowledged that Britain
would be unable to contribute any forces and could only offer military
discussions. These would be on an informal basis and were supported
by Bevin.118 Attlee agreed and the Commanders-in-Chief Far East were
instructed ‘to proceed as soon as possible’.119 The Secretary of State 
for the Commonwealth Relations Office thought it important to
inform the Commonwealth Governments. Australia was likely to be 
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in favour of, but India against, such talks.120 Nehru was opposed to any
direct foreign intervention in Indo-China and regarded France as
administering ‘oppressive imperialism which ought to be got rid of’.121

The Secretary of State for Commonwealth Relations feared that there
was an implicit danger in engaging in talks to boost French morale if
Britain could not actually offer any assistance. The Vice-COS agreed.
Dening held that if the Commonwealth Governments were informed
of the talks in advance then this could encourage deeper suspicion,
especially from India. He favoured releasing a statement after the 
talks, that British officers had been to Saigon in order to study the
developing situation.122

By 3 April the Associated States had been recognised by Australia,
Belgium, Bolivia, Brazil, Britain, Costa Rica, Cuba, Greece, Hon-
duras, Italy, Jordan, Luxembourg, New Zealand, South Africa, South
Korea, Spain, Thailand, the US and the Vatican, whilst the DRVN had
been recognised by North Korea, the PRC, Russia, the Soviet European
satellites and Yugoslavia.123 The Heads of State of Cambodia, Laos and
Vietnam were supported by the extended visit during April of Kenneth
Landon, Head of the State Department Southeast Asia Bureau. He pre-
sented them with personal messages of goodwill from Truman.124

Acheson warned Schuman that the US was opposed to the French
negotiating with Vietnamese communists or recognising the PRC.125

US NSC 68 endorsed the strategic concept of the defence of a perimeter
to contain communism and thought that any military threat could be
interpreted as psychological as well as physical.126 This paper empha-
sised the need to increase the military strength of the Western
European nations, but France was restricted by its commitment in
Indo-China.127 Likewise, NSC 64 committed the US to prevent commu-
nist expansion in Southeast Asia. It included what would later be called
the Domino Principle that if Indo-China fell to communism then
Thailand and Burma would also fall.128 Ho visited Peking for talks with
the PRC leadership.129

The COS began planning for the evacuation of British subjects in the
event of a war in the Far East; a Cabinet Defence Committee Sub-
Committee already had approved of such an evacuation.130 On 19 April
the COS decided that the US should be informed of the Anglo-French
information talks before they commenced.131 In the meantime, by 
6 April the JPS had assessed and prepared a brief on British strategy and
defence policy in Southeast Asia and the Far East. This was brought
before the COS on 2 May. It stated that, although the defence of Indo-
China in a major war would have to depend on its internal security
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forces, Indo-China was strategically important. A Vietminh victory
could act as a potential catalyst and stepping stone for communism to
spread into the rest of Southeast Asia. This would threaten Malaya and
the South China Sea. There was also an economic threat due to the
potential loss of Indo-Chinese rice exports. The Bao Dai regime was
assessed as the only hope for Indo-China but the French needed to
restore law and order. The strategic key to Vietnam was the control of
the rice-producing regions and the destruction of DRVN factories
within these areas, thereby depriving the DRVN of resources. Likewise,
the French would need to acquire aid from the US. In conclusion the
JPS considered it important for Britain to encourage France to complete
the transfer of power to Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam. India’s reaction
needed to be monitored. Britain would also have to aid France with
intelligence information, arms and equipment, and other forms of
material assistance.132

Meanwhile MacDonald liaised with British representatives in South-
east Asia to organise an informal conference in Singapore, after the
proposed Sydney Commonwealth Conference, between the heads of
British diplomatic missions in the region ‘to review policy in the area
in the light of developments since [the] Bukit Serene Conference last
autumn’.133 However the Foreign Office, to MacDonald’s ‘disappoint-
ment’ and perhaps in relation to Attlee’s reaction to the Bukit Serene
Conference in November 1949, was to veto his plans.134

The French were irritated with the US attitude towards the Indo-
Chinese crisis. During April a mission to Indo-China of Korean busi-
nessmen accompanied by a member of the US mission to Korea had
explored the possibility in obtaining raw materials in exchange for
manufactured goods.135 Du Gardier informed MacDonald that al-
though US interest in Indo-China was welcome and the French appre-
ciated US ‘readiness to give practical help’, the ‘Americans were now
overdoing things in some directions’. The Vietnamese had become dis-
illusioned by empty US promises of aid. The local French were irritated
with the US arrogance at being the only nation able to assist, and the
promise of US technicians and investors ‘sounded dangerously like
American “imperialism”’. The French military questioned whether they
‘were fighting to make Indo-China safe for the Americans’. Du Gardier
proposed that a consignment of British aid would moderate any DRVN
negative publicity against US aid. He reported that, although the mil-
itary situation had improved, the political situation remained delicate
and Bao Dai’s situation weak. Pignon remained optimistic of Bao Dai’s
chances of success, but this was no longer believed by Du Gardier.
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However, Pignon was convinced that, due to the attitude of the US, the
nervousness of the local French and pro-Bao Dai Vietnamese, and the
hardened attitude of Paris towards policies that could have repercus-
sions in North Africa, it was no longer possible to issue a statement of
evolution towards full sovereign state status although he still sup-
ported an evolutionary policy. Du Gardier and Pignon believed that
the forthcoming Foreign Ministers Conference should issue a ‘declara-
tion of policy regarding Southeast Asia’. Du Gardier envisioned that
this would be a regional statement rather than specific to Indo-China.
He hoped that Britain, France and the US would declare a resolution
‘to do everything possible to assist the peoples of Southeast Asia in
attainment of their democratic aims, and that they would do every-
thing possible to prevent communism from gaining control of any
Southeast Asian country, either by aggression from without or by sub-
versive activities from within’.136 MacDonald was in favour of the state-
ment despite the difficulties of the current Indo-Chinese situation. He
feared that if Indo-China fell to communism then the rest of Southeast
Asia would rapidly do likewise.137 Du Gardier had also revealed to
MacDonald in confidence his own and Pignon’s frustrations with the
direction of Indo-Chinese policy from Paris. The single ‘greatest stum-
bling block to progress’ appeared to be the French President, who
‘seemed to be averse to any more liberal policy towards Indo-China’.138

By 2 May the PRC had occupied Hainan. MacDonald lobbied the
Foreign Office concerning the conference. He advocated supporting
the French declaration and supported the need for a discussion about
material aid. MacDonald held that this needed to be supplied to both
the French and Indo-Chinese but that even if this was agreed immedi-
ately it could take nearly six months to deliver due to current stock
levels, logistics and finance. MacDonald, the British Consul-General’s
staff and the French High Commissioner’s staff were all united and
supported the need for a token shipment of British equipment. Mac-
Donald proposed that a consignment of wirelesses could be shipped
from British Far Eastern Land Forces in Singapore to Indo-China.
MacDonald reiterated and contrasted the PRC’s commitment to the
DRVN with continued reports of arms being delivered across the
Tonkin border. The French feared that the PRC victory against the
Chinese nationalist forces on the island of Hainan would release extra
PRC regular troops to pressurise the PRC-Tonkin frontier and allow for
the release of 50,000 irregulars to infiltrate Vietnam. Similarly, junks
would be able to smuggle arms from Hainan to the Red River delta.
MacDonald considered that recent Vietminh operations in Cochin-
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china had been intended to cause as much chaos and destruction as
possible before any US aid arrived; although these operations had
failed, any delay in assistance to the French and the Indo-Chinese
would enable the Vietminh to reinforce and attempt a second offen-
sive. He concluded ‘it seems to me emphatically a case where “he gives
twice who gives swiftly”’.139

In Paris Pignon dined at the British Embassy, where he admitted that
politically ‘Indo-China had suffered from the intervention of French
internal politics, which had delayed constitutional development until
the concessions made were too late to have their full effect’. Regarding
Bao Dai, he believed that ‘the Emperor had lost his prestige … owing to
his temporizing policy. His Majesty though very intelligent, was
lazy’.140 However, France still had not transferred the Associated States
from the Ministry of Overseas Territories. Despite the establishment of
US and Italian Legations in Saigon, Britain remained cautious not to
change the status of the consulate or its terms of recognition too
rapidly. The Foreign Office held ‘The basic difficulty is the difference
between the French and British theories about colonies. Whilst we
regard it as a matter of course that colonies should be guided towards
independence the French policy is to integrate and centralise, so that
the overseas territories and France form a unit and colonials share in
governing the whole’. The Foreign Office believed that France wished
to use the forthcoming Foreign Ministers Conference to compel Britain
and the US ‘to underwrite the French position’ without having to make
any political concessions or grant independence.141 Schuman had
already expressed to the international press his incredulity that the US
kept on discussing the future of Vietnamese independence when what
was at risk was Vietnamese independence from communism.142 Britain
appeared to approach the conference from a position of strength. Until
the Commonwealth Conference in Sydney there was little the Foreign
Office required of the US. France was negotiating from a position of
weakness.143 The Indian Ambassador-designate to China observed
‘Britain realises that the way of peace, greatness and effective authority
in the world for her lies in a compromise with New Asia’.144 An 
Indo-Chinese delegation in Paris requested information from Britain
on how the Commonwealth operated and the role and status of 
the Commissioner-General in Southeast Asia.145 Britain agreed to the
request, including information on the ‘machinery for the exchange 
of information and consultation on foreign affairs between the 
United Kingdom and Commonwealth Governments’.146 Meanwhile 
in Cambodia the first National Congress of the Khmer Resistance 
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(communist) was held in the Southwest, and a governmental minister-
ial crisis erupted in Phnom Penh due to friction in Siem Reap between
the Cambodian army and former elements of the Khmer Issarak rebel
movement. Ministers were alleged to have supported the rebels to the
detriment of the army, and therefore the army was threatening a coup
d’état. This resulted in the dismissal of the government by Sihanouk.147

On 8 May the US announced that it was prepared to donate military
equipment, as well as diplomatic and possibly economic aid to Indo-
China.148 Meanwhile Britain prepared to host the London Conference of
bipartite and tripartite meetings between the representatives of Britain,
France and the US. Against the escalating threat from Russia in Europe,
the Cabinet held that it was important to build up the military strength
of France for the defence of Western Europe.149 On 13 May Schuman
reviewed the current situation in Indo-China and insisted ‘that France
was serving the interests of the common cause and that the French
Government needed urgently extensive military help’. The Ministers
agreed that although the general security of Southeast Asia was strate-
gically important to the US, both Britain and France held ‘direct respons-
ibilities in the area which make its security of even greater concern to
them’. The Ministers linked the conflicts in Indo-China and Malaya with
the conviction that in either area ‘forcible expulsion … would be a mil-
itary and political disaster’. Britain reaffirmed its commitment to its inter-
ests in the region and France declared likewise, ‘within the framework of
close and active co-operation with the United Kingdom and United
States Governments’. Bevin stressed that local British representatives in
Southeast Asia had discouraged either individual or joint declarations by
the British, French or US Governments regarding Southeast Asia due to
the possible hostile attitude of Ceylon, India and Pakistan. He preferred
therefore not to make a conference declaration. Schuman recognised
Bevin’s difficulties with the Commonwealth nations but considered that
‘a joint declaration should be made’. It was agreed that this suggestion
should be returned to by Britain, France and the US after the forthcom-
ing Commonwealth Conference when it might be implemented more
successfully.150 To Foreign Office alarm the Vietnamese Government
announced through the international press the appointment of Tran
Van Don as Ambassador to Britain as well as representatives to Cam-
bodia, Laos, the US and the Vatican. The Foreign Office replied that
Britain was ‘not yet ready to receive an Ambassador’ and asked for a
formal request to be made through normal diplomatic channels.151 In
the meantime the State Department established the Interdepartmental
Southeast Asia Aid Committee.152

152 Britain and the Origins of the Vietnam War



Bevin communicated the results of the London Conference to the
Commonwealth Prime Ministers. Nehru replied that India had ‘never
questioned the necessity of military and other necessary action in
Malaya … to maintain law and order’ but that in Indo-China ‘military or
economic efforts will not by themselves solve what is pre-eminently a
political problem, viz., satisfaction of nationalist aspirations’. Nehru
believed that non-communist nationalist groups in Indo-China were dis-
satisfied with the French because ‘real independence’ had not been
granted. He stressed that Indo-China, rather than the individual coun-
tries of Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam, needed an elected assembly com-
prising all parties including the Vietminh. This assembly would not only
determine ‘the form of the Government of Indo-China but its relations
with the French Union’. As the French Minister for Overseas Territories
had already declared that ‘independence for such territories must be
founded within the French Union’, the Indian Government predicted
that in Indo-China there would be a ‘prolonged but unpredictable 
deterioration of the present troubles’.153 Bevin met the Indian High
Commissioner in London and proposed that a close study would be
made of Nehru’s proposals. He also indicated that Britain had been
trying to secure PRC admission to the UN but that this had been stalled
by the Russians ‘walking out of the Security Council and trying to dictate
to the rest of us’.154 Meanwhile General Carpentier informed Britain that
the French Government had not yet given permission for Anglo-French
information talks on Indo-China to commence. The COS requested that
the Foreign Office pursue the matter with the French Government.155

However, four British officers had already embarked on a two week
attachment to French units in Indo-China as part of the local exchange
programme.156 Likewise Admiral Sir Patrick Brind, Commander-in-Chief
Far East Station, had been in Indo-China for talks with ‘the leading naval
and military authorities’ and Brigadier-General Marsden, Head of Medical
Services Far East Land Force, visited Saigon as a guest of the French
Medical Inspector-General.157 The French believed that Brind had offered
British naval assistance to patrol the Indo-Chinese coast to prevent
contraband reaching the Vietminh.158

The Commonwealth Consultative Committee agreed at the Sydney
Conference in May to form a Commonwealth Technical Assistance
Scheme based in Colombo.159 Kenneth Younger, Foreign Office Min-
ister of State, informed Massigli of the results of the Sydney Conference
and indicated that Britain wanted Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam to 
be invited to partake in a plan of economic co-operation.160 Mac-
Donald had predicted that the ‘most important result of the Sydney
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deliberations would be an effective start of work on proper long-term
development programmes for Southeast Asia’.161 The issue of rice
supply in Southeast Asia still prevailed as ‘only a third of pre-war
exports were available’.162 At the beginning of June Australia envisaged
that an approach should be made to the Associated States through the
British Minister in Saigon and not through the French Government.
However, India and Pakistan did not want to be associated with this
proposal and Canada and New Zealand offered no response.163 The
British Cabinet agreed that the non-Commonwealth countries of
Burma, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Siam, and Vietnam should submit
development plans so that economic development in South and
Southeast Asia would cover the whole region. It also decided to offer
two British officials to assist in developing such a plan if required.164

Meanwhile US General MacArthur, Commander Occupational Forces
Japan, was convinced of the need for urgent military supplies to both
the French and the Vietnamese.165 MacDonald stressed to the BDCC
that ‘the security of Indo-China was the key to the whole situation. If
Indo-China was lost to communism then Siam and Burma would
undoubtedly follow and the communists would be on the borders of
India and Malaya and dominate the rice bowl’. General Harding
assessed that the French urgently needed further military equipment in
Indo-China.166 MacDonald recommended that Bao Dai should imme-
diately receive British or US aid.167 Britain had already offered to sell
military equipment to the French but this had not been accepted as
the French were waiting ‘to see what they are likely to get free from the
US’.168 Australia, Canada, New Zealand and South Africa had been
informed of Britain’s intention to sell equipment to the French and to
exchange Far Eastern information with them in informal talks in
Saigon and Singapore. The first of these talks was to take place in July
in Singapore.169 Due to the sterling crisis Britain could not afford 
to donate military equipment to the French. But because of security
concerns for Malaya, it was suggested, during a BDCC meeting in
Singapore, that Britain should ‘adopt a policy of making a free gift to
the French of such British equipment as is essential to the successful
conduct of their campaign’. Government policy had been constructed
around the fear that if financially an exception was made with the
supply of free arms to the French then this would cause a watershed of
free arms requests from Burma and Siam. However, following Admiral
Brind’s tour of Indo-China, the BDCC disagreed as they thought it
better to offer a little aid immediately rather than in six months.170 The
French were likewise hampered by their own economic needs, espe-
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cially the drain of Indo-China on French resources. France also lacked
sterling reserves to purchase British equipment.171 The COS reached an
agreement that further consideration should be given to donating, or
selling at a reduced rate, equipment to the French.172 The French
already had been informed what requests for military equipment
Britain could meet. The COS noted that the lack of a reply indicated
that the French were still waiting to see what the US would supply.173

The Defence Committee of the Cabinet, chaired by Attlee, continued
to advocate charging the French for surplus British equipment but
doubted whether sufficient reserves would be found to meet French
demands.174 As the French were not forthcoming with any further
specific requests the COS recommended that the British Minister of
Defence should contact his opposite number in Paris to ascertain
French needs.175

At the beginning of June a US economic mission was established in
Saigon under Robert Blum. In order to facilitate an economic aid pro-
gramme immediately, members of the mission liaised with the govern-
ments of the three Associated States. Indo-China had already been
allocated ‘a credit of twenty-three million United States dollars’ of
which ‘six million will be earmarked for medical and pharmaceutical
supplies, drugs and hospital equipment’.176 In the US the Act for
International Development, technical aid, was created.177 The Indo-
Chinese states remained perilously weak. US army intelligence pre-
dicted that within a year the Vietminh would be so sufficiently
strengthened by PRC aid that the French might have to withdraw from
Northern Indo-China.178 In Cambodia the governmental crisis was
ended by the formation of a new government under Prince Monipong;
but in Vietnam the Bao Dai regime was further undermined by
‘rumours’ in Saigon that ‘prominent Vietnamese politicians backed by
General Xuan’ intended to form ‘a compromise solution involving a
“third force” government to replace Bao Dai and to include Vietminh
nationalists’.179 The French hoped for further political development in
Indo-China through an inter-state conference arranged to take place at
Pau on 29 June. Prior to this ‘preliminary meetings of the various dele-
gations were held in Saigon’.180 This had been delayed from May due
to the previous crisis in the Vietnamese government.181 The
Cambodians, Laotians and Vietnamese all regarded the Pau Conference
as a significant event in their political evolution and the three res-
pective Prime Ministers attended the opening session. The High
Commissioner and his officials were also present having first attended
a meeting in Paris about ‘the creation of the Haute Conseil of the
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French Union’. Unfortunately the downfall of the French Government
combined with the news of the crisis in Korea ‘caused uneasiness’
amongst the French and Vietnamese which was countered by only ‘the
firm attitude adopted by the United States Government’.182 The US
Senate had already passed the Economic Co-operation Authorisation
for 1951, which permitted the $100 million dollar China aid fund to
be distributed in the ‘“general area of China”’ (Southeast Asia) and
Truman proposed that a further $75 million fund be allocated for mil-
itary assistance.183 On 29 June ‘eight C.47 (Dakota) transport planes
arrived at Saigon … as the first consignment under the military aid pro-
gramme’ and a US company arranged for the import of 170 British
Land Rover vehicles.184

Meanwhile on 21 June, despite France having not moved the admin-
istration of Indo-Chinese affairs from the Ministry of Overseas
Territories to a new ministry, Britain informed France of its intention
to raise the office of its Consulate-General in Saigon to a legation. This
was intended to demonstrate British confidence in French policy, and
Cambodian, Laotian and Vietnamese chances of successfully establish-
ing prosperous democracies within the French Union.185 However, the
rapid fall of a second French Government resulted in the move to a
legation being suspended.186 French parliamentary politics reflected the
instability within Vietnam. The French Socialist Party continued to
cause problems in Paris, demanding that the government should raise
the Indo-Chinese crisis at the UN, give real independence to Vietnam
within the French Union and withdraw French troops if the Viet-
namese Government required once peace had been established.187

Following a Vietnamese request, Britain was able to supply the French
and the Vietnamese with information concerning the Malaya Emer-
gency Legislation, and support Cambodian, Laotian and Vietnamese
full membership of the World Health Organisation.188 Vietnam was
also admitted to the International Labour Organisation in Geneva but
the Associated States were unlikely to apply for membership of the UN
due to the Russian veto.189

Both Russia and the PRC had observers operating with the Vietminh.190

The Russians were adept with the implicit threat of their UN veto. Just
as for Britain, France and the US, Southeast Asian diplomatic recogni-
tion was important for the DRVN and its allies, Russia and the PRC. In
comparison with US pressure upon the Philippines, Russia pressed
Indonesia to recognise the DRVN in return for a Russian diplomatic
mission and Russian support for Indonesian membership of the UN.
The implied threat of the Russian veto in the UN for non-compliance
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was evident in the demands. This prompted debate in the Indonesian
Parliament on the recognition of the DRVN but, despite both Russian
incentives and threats, a government resolution was narrowly passed
postponing DRVN recognition until more information was known
about the Vietminh.191

British policy denouement

On 25 June Kim Ilsung ordered his forces to cross the 38th parallel into
South Korea commencing the Korean War. Two days later Truman,
against the disintegration of containment policy, announced the US
intention not only to support the Korean Government against commu-
nism but to strengthen Formosa and the Philippines and ‘acceleration
in the furnishing of military assistance to the forces of France and the
Associated States in Indo-China and the dispatch of a military
mission’.192 A day later the PRC Foreign Minister, Chou En Lai, con-
demned Truman’s statement and expressed ‘sympathy’ with ‘the
people of Korea, Vietnam, the Philippines and Japan’ who were victims
of ‘American imperialism’ and ‘aggression’. The challenge was set: ‘The
Chinese people firmly believe that all the oppressed nations and
peoples of the East are undoubtedly capable of burying the vicious and
hated American imperialist war-makers’.193 The Indo-Chinese conflict
had escalated for the US from a French colonial crisis to a vital battle-
ground in the containment of communism which had to be defended.
However, ‘America’s initial commitment to Indo-China in 1950 estab-
lished the pattern for its future involvement: large enough to get
America entangled, not significant to prove decisive’.194

Britain did not have the stamina or the resources to compete with
the US in meeting the crisis in Indo-China or the new global challenge
to containment policy. Following the outbreak of the Korean War the
Cabinet approved of US actions in Indo-China and the Philippines.195

The COS had held that British foreign policy should achieve ‘a unity 
of policy between the British Commonwealth, the United States and
France’ that would enable the reduction in British and French resources
in Indo-China and Malaya to allow for the defence of Western Europe.
This would have to involve the expansion of local security forces.196

Despite the escalated crisis in the Far East the COS was primarily con-
cerned with the defence of Western Europe. With the arming of the
East German Police for what Bevin believed could be possible use in 
a civil war, he predicted ‘how troublesome it could be if there were a
big civil war in Indo-China and one in Europe at the same time’.197
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MacDonald visited Indo-China in late June and early July for a holiday
and discussions with the French and the Vietnamese. Dr Benham, his
economic and financial adviser, accompanied him on this trip.198

MacDonald returned from Indo-China encouraged that the situation in
Indo-China was ‘still improving, both militarily and politically’ and
that ‘Ho Chi Minh’s stock has sunk quite a lot’.199 However, despite
MacDonald’s optimism for Bao Dai and the Associated States, British
action in Indo-China, whether diplomatic, military, economic or polit-
ical, was severely limited. The symbolism of Britain’s decline inter-
nationally, regionally in South and Southeast Asia and locally in
Indo-China in contrast to the US, Russia, the PRC and even the
Commonwealth was ironically illustrated by MacDonald’s departure
from the twelfth century temple of Angkor Wat in Cambodia.

I kissed some of the Asparas ‘Goodbye’ on the top terrace of Angkor
Wat at noon. It had been a hot morning, and their smiling lips were
warm, sunny, shapely and stony. They seemed both pleased and
indifferent, as if both gratified at feeling mortal man’s lips on their
mouths again, and yet sad that the kisses of the Twentieth Century
lacked something of the fervour of the Thirteenth.200
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Conclusion

British foreign policy towards Vietnam 1943–50 is an important case
study illustrating the decline of the Western European imperial powers
and the dynamics of the emerging new world order – US Western hege-
mony, Cold War bi-polarity and the rise of Asian nationalism. It
involved not only British bi-lateral relationships with France and the
US but also the regional relationships with Australia, Burma, Canada,
Ceylon, China, the Dutch East Indies, India, New Zealand, Pakistan,
the Philippines, Siam (later Thailand) and others. Often these relation-
ships were complex, and Britain’s policy towards Vietnam had to take
into account these complexities as prerequisites to any attempt to
establish a consistent policy. It would be a mistake to consider that
such policy was purely political in nature: the policy towards Vietnam
was both political and economic; it reflected Vietnam’s vital strategic
position within Southeast Asia and Britain’s post-war world position.
Finally the policy was not just limited to Vietnam; many of the same
policy concerns and aspirations involved to a lesser extent Cambodia
and on occasion consideration was given too to Laos.

Britain

British policy towards Vietnam was conceived and subsequently
evolved in response to Roosevelt’s World War Two concept of trustee-
ship for French Indo-China. Britain feared that any change in the post-
war sovereignty of Indo-China would act as a dangerous precedent
which could threaten its own colonial territories, especially Hong Kong
and India, and establish a method for European imperial decolonisa-
tion. Similarly, Britain was concerned with the aspirations of the US
sponsored Chinese nationalist government whose apparent imperialist
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desires to annex Southeast Asia, with its large indigenous Chinese popu-
lations, were to remain an active feature of British Southeast Asian
policy. Elements in the Foreign Office, motivated by such fears and tra-
ditionally sympathetic to France, suspected a wider hidden US eco-
nomic agenda rather than just a tradition of anti-imperialism. The logic
of recent European history dictated that the Francophile Foreign Office
believed that a strong France was needed to protect British security in
Europe and potentially to reinforce Britain in the hierarchy of any new
post-war global geopolitics. However, as the Foreign Office attempted to
formulate a coherent response towards Roosevelt’s plans for Indo-China
it was restricted repeatedly by Churchill who regarded the intimacy of
his special relationship with Roosevelt as paramount to Britain’s war
effort and the maintenance of its global status. Churchill and Roosevelt
both understood some of the domestic complexities and limitations
that affected their respective positions, a degree of subtlety and appreci-
ation that was lost at times by others on both sides of the Atlantic.
Churchill’s frequent silences, stalling techniques and sporadic ram-
blings on the Indo-Chinese issue, which were independent from and at
times in direct opposition to both the Foreign Office and the War
Cabinet, revealed just how isolated within the British Government his
position was on this issue. If Churchill had been forced to clarify
Britain’s Indo-Chinese policy earlier then the political drift that ensued
would have been avoided, but at what cost? Ironically, the relationship
that Churchill had sought to preserve had changed fundamentally by
1944 to one of British dependence on the US; a point not lost on
Roosevelt. Churchill was not aided in his Indo-Chinese conspiracy to
preserve his Anglo-US relationship by the SACSEA Mountbatten, whose
manipulation of Roosevelt, Churchill and the CIGS Brooke concerning
the Gentleman’s Agreement with Chiang Kai-Shek further complicated
the Indo-Chinese debate, and threatened Anglo-US relations within the
SEAC and China theatres. Eventually, changing external factors such as
the decline in the nature of the Anglo-US relationship, the ascendancy
of de Gaulle, the rehabilitation of France, the Japanese coup in Indo-
China and the death of Roosevelt eroded Churchill’s non-committal
position and unified British policy in support of a French return to
Indo-China.

Nevertheless, Britain did not unilaterally restore Indo-China to
France, neither did Britain crush the aspirations of emergent Indo-
Chinese nationalism, nor was Major-General Gracey the true miscreant
of Britain’s liberation duties but rather the more Machiavellian Mount-
batten. The Labour Government’s commitment to the restoration of
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France in Europe and the demobilisation of British and Common-
wealth forces compromised the resources and operations of the ALF.
Political interference prevented Mountbatten and Gracey from treating
the situation in Cambodia in a similar way to the methods used in
Burma where Britain worked alongside indigenous nationalists: by not
doing this the limited resources were stretched further. In Southern
Vietnam the ALF inherited a dangerous power vacuum with no one
political grouping in the ascendancy and with unworkable directions
from London. Britain discovered too that it now had to contend with
humanitarian relief and rehabilitation as well as the complexities of
the Cambodian-Siamese border dispute with France technically still at
war with Siam. Britain’s ALF duties were not without failings of judge-
ment or missed opportunities but the end of World War Two marked a
watershed for Britain. Britain was almost financially bankrupt and
attempting to redefine its global status. There were bigger and more
important immediate post-war priorities than Indo-China and any
coherent change in policy would have to be developed by the Foreign
Office who remained both pro-French and focused upon European
priorities.

The appointment of Killearn allowed British policy to be developed
bi-laterally towards Indo-China, in co-ordination with Britain’s other
regional commitments and in relation to British decolonisation. The
continuing Cambodian-Siamese border dispute and the importance of
Indo-Chinese rice production to alleviate regional food shortages
meant that Killearn paid close attention to the escalating Franco-DRVN
dispute. The US, France and Britain maintained correspondence con-
cerning the developing crisis; all were concerned with the growth of
Asian nationalism and communism. But the British, reflecting their
own desire to come to terms with emergent nationalism and through
raising living standards to defeat communism, were suspicious of
labelling all nationalists as communists and were prepared to maintain
a dialogue with the DRVN. However, the financial constraints that had
plagued Britain since the end of war accelerated. The growing dollar
gap restrained government expenditure and prevented Britain from
operating independently from its Commonwealth allies. Regionally
this dependence made Britain susceptible to appeasing the pan-Asian
nationalist policies of Nehru, and Britain’s other former Asian territo-
ries, in case they decided to support and thereby legitimise the struggle
of the DRVN. 

The amalgamation of the functions of the Special Commissioner 
and Governor-General reflected Britain’s continuing financial decline.
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MacDonald had to cope with many of the same Indo-Chinese problems
as Killearn – rice supply, raising living standards to combat communism,
fears concerning the growth of Chinese communism and its relation-
ship to the indigenous Southeast Asian Chinese populations – and in
addition repeated requests by the French for the recognition of Bao
Dai. MacDonald sought to maintain the same dynamic and inde-
pendent direction that had characterised Killearn’s administration, but
the growth of Cold War tensions, coupled with Britain’s financial
decline, meant that greater direction was given by London. The Labour
Government sought to balance its foreign policy with its relationships
with the Commonwealth nations and crucially, reflecting the change
in the Anglo-US relationship, waited for the US to develop its own 
policies for Southeast Asia. Britain’s decline meant that it could no
longer maintain its position in Europe, the Middle East or Southeast
Asia without external support. The Commonwealth alone was not
strong enough to arrest this and US aid was required.

In 1950 Britain emerged from its deliberations with a clearer idea of
US policy. Zealous US commitment to containment and provision for
NATO made the support of France vital to its global position against a
perceived advancing communist menace, a menace that allowed for no
compromise and therefore no opportunity for the DRVN to be accred-
ited according to the Titoist model. Britain was more circumspect of
monolithic power struggles, preferring to exploit rifts between Moscow
and Peking to protect its interests in Southeast Asia. Britain was cautious
of any attempt to establish Bao Dai without proper nationalist creden-
tials or the Asian support needed in order to avoid accusations of the
creation of a Western puppet. The French delay in ratifying the Auriol
Agreement allowed the DRVN to establish diplomatic relations with the
communist bloc and thus critically attain diplomatic legitimacy before
Bao Dai. British recognition of the PRC was not well received by the
French or the Vietnamese, but the French had failed to address British
concerns that would have enabled earlier recognition of Bao Dai. The
subsequent recognition of Bao Dai created two Vietnamese govern-
ments upon the world stage, both diplomatically recognised by nations
on opposite sides of the Cold War. As the escalation of the crisis
intensified the question of military aid to support the French and, by
default, defend Malaya and Hong Kong was raised. Britain’s financial
problems meant that aid would have to be sold to the French, some-
thing that France did not possess either the sterling or dollar reserves to
do and in any case was not needed when the possibility of French lever-
age could result in arms and technical assistance coming from the US,
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paid for by the Truman Doctrine’s Point Four assistance and the remnant
of the Chinese nationalist aid programme. Neither Britain nor the
Commonwealth had the resources to compete with the US but the
British response through the development of the Commonwealth
Technical Assistance Scheme was at least regional and not bi-lateral. The
Colombo Conference and the Commonwealth desire to work together
merged Britain’s Vietnamese and regional policies. Technical aid and
regional co-operation was an achievement that in theory allowed
Britain to operate politically independent of the US, but it was also a
denouement due to Britain’s financial decline. Poor sterling reserves and
a large dollar gap meant that economically Britain was subservient to
the US. In Europe it was strategically linked to the US through NATO,
and although in Southeast Asia US assistance would aid stability in
Malaya, paradoxically, Britain’s foreign policy towards Vietnam would
be subject to the constraints of its Commonwealth partners.

France

Indo-China was integral to both French national rebirth and prestige.
During World War Two France had been eager to secure participation in
the war in the Far East and the concept of the French Union mirrored
other European imperial powers’ commitment to post-war colonial
development. Therefore when the war was over France strove to re-
establish itself as an imperial power. However, the resignation of de
Gaulle as President plunged the metropole into a domestic political
crisis which continued until his return in 1958. The political stability
needed to rejuvenate both the metropole and imperial territories was
lacking and subservient to the interests of party politics. Despite the
failure of direction from Paris, Indo-China was returned to the French
with British and US aid. No matter how soiled by collaboration with
Germany and Japan, France, as a victorious Allied power under de
Gaulle, would have expected nothing less. Cambodia and Laos rapidly
developed under the auspices of the French Union but Vietnam
remained an anathema to the French. The separation of Cochinchina
from Tonkin and Annam with the creation of its own nationalist 
government and independent colonial status plagued efforts to create a
coherent policy. French policy was disorganised and disjointed, reacting
only to immediate crises. The roles of the High Commissioners reflected
such instability; D’Argenlieu created a private conservative fiefdom
independent from Paris, whilst Bollaert and Pignon were continuously
undermined in their search for resolution by metropolitan political
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stagnation and infighting. The only consistency attained by French
policy was its inability to come to terms with the DRVN. Whether
labelled as nationalist, communist or both, France strove to avoid com-
promise and in doing so undermined the legitimacy of its alternative,
the Bao Dai solution. Despite the inherent advantages associated with
being a returning imperial power, France’s arrogance towards the DRVN
bordered on a complete ignorance of Vietnamese affairs. The French
suffered the same tragedy as the US two decades later, ‘a cultural
vacuum … that a great deal in the political culture of the country and of
its people is not readily intelligible to the Western mind’.1

The French and the British possessed different attitudes to the dual
challenges of nationalism and communism. The alternative direction
pursued by Britain with its Commonwealth and that pursued by the
French Union highlighted fundamental differences and misunder-
standings concerning decolonisation and the challenges of the post-
war world. Any attack, political or otherwise, upon the stability of the
French Union was viewed from Paris as an attack upon the national
interest but Paris failed to clarify the boundaries between union and
metropole or to define the national interest of France or the union.
Therefore, French requests to Britain for information concerning the
administration of the Dominions, the Malay-Thai border treaty and
the Malaya Emergency Legislation were highly embarrassing as they
demonstrated that the French plans for their colonies were not as
advanced as they believed. Indeed, French failure to transfer the
administration of Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam from the Ministry of
France Overseas to the French Foreign Office or a new Dominions
Office following diplomatic recognition in 1950 revealed just how
dormant French attitudes and plans really were, a mistake that was
repeated with Algeria 1947–62. However, as the Cold War intensified
with the communist victory in China, the French were able to develop
adequate leverage upon the US to maintain their position in Indo-
China as a vital bastion against communism in the line of contain-
ment. With US aid, French political dormancy was allowed to continue
towards the tragedy of Dien Bien Phu.

The US

Roosevelt dominated US policy towards Indo-China during World War
Two. He had stated that one of his major war aims was to prevent the
return of Indo-China to France, this attitude reflected US deep-seated
anti-colonialism. France had collaborated with Germany and with
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Japan. It was the weakest of the allies and was therefore an ideal candi-
date for Roosevelt’s trusteeship experiment. However, Roosevelt was 
an adept politician who constantly revised his Indo-China policy to
suit his manipulation of wartime great power politics. As the State
Department developed its Indo-China policy in response to the need
for post-war planning Roosevelt’s zeal for trusteeship did not wane but
evolved. Roosevelt knew that the US would finish the war as the main
Allied creditor nation and that short-term wartime diplomatic courtesy
to the British, and to a lesser degree the French, could be dispensed
with at the post-war conference table and by utilisation of the UN. US
hegemony would be able to prevent a return to the pre-war imperial
status quo, US finance being the ammunition behind Roosevelt’s polit-
ical weaponry. However, Roosevelt’s death created a power vacuum in
US foreign policy at a similar time to the power vacuum and revolution
in Vietnam. Truman, a domestic politician, had to come to terms with
a US foreign policy whose only consistency was in its being exclusive
to Roosevelt himself. Thus US policy towards Indo-China stalled at a
critical moment. The US-led compromise to the inter-theatre boundary
crisis at the Potsdam Conference divided Vietnam between the Chinese
and the British ALF in order to appease its Allied wartime partners but
was devoid of any logic at either macro or micro level. The priority of
European reconstruction and world food problems made the US reliant
on Britain and France, especially as the perceived Russian threat
intensified. As the US reversed and even denied Roosevelt’s trusteeship
policy it was left susceptible to French leverage for aid to return to
Indo-China. Later, despite disengagement from the Indo-China debate,
the US continued to support France militarily even though it knew
that such supplies would be used in Indo-China.

While the State Department Far East and Southeast Asian sections
grew in response to new US global responsibilities and the onset of the
Cold War, the imminent defeat of US policy in China accelerated the
importance of Indo-China and especially Vietnam in US planning.
Strategically, Vietnam had enabled the Japanese to overrun Southeast
Asia and threaten India and South Asia during the Second World War.
The victory of the PRC repeated this threat especially with large indige-
nous Chinese communities already present in Southeast Asia and with
the Malay Emergency underway. Such fears and US commitment to
containment enabled France to encourage the development of a US
Indo-Chinese policy as a bulwark of world freedom against the com-
munist menace and with it copious amounts of US aid (even more 
so after the start of the Korean War). Unlike Britain, the US did not
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attempt to separate Vietnamese nationalists and communists. Ho could
be no Tito, something that at least Britain explored before agreeing
with France and the US. The US relationship with Vietnam was bi-
lateral and often mono-focused on containment whilst Britain’s con-
straints produced a multi-layered approach that allowed for a policy of
realism through necessity. The US decision not to recognise the PRC
and subsequent unqualified recognition of Cambodia, Laos and
Vietnam, sharply contrasted with Britain’s pragmatic recognition of
the PRC and limited recognition of the Indo-Chinese states. It demon-
strated that, although Britain required US participation in post-war
geopolitics and despite US ascendancy in the Anglo-US relationship,
the independence of British foreign policy could still be guaranteed.
This was maintained at the 1954 Geneva Conference and ultimately
prevented Britain from joining the US in the later Vietnam War.

Summary

British foreign policy towards Vietnam 1943–50 reflected the revision
and decline of Britain’s geopolitical status. During this period the
Anglo-American relationship evolved from equality to dependence.
Decolonisation altered the relationship between Britain and its
colonies and Dominions, and between Britain and the other European
imperial spheres of influence in Southeast Asia. The Commonwealth
partially preserved Britain’s global status and its ability to act indepen-
dently of the US, however, this resulted in Britain being subject to the
sentiments of its Commonwealth partners – notably India. Likewise
the restoration of a strong France was thought to be vital, by a
Francophile Foreign Office, to Britain’s post-war security in Europe;
this allowed France to place leverage upon Britain concerning Vietnam.
British foreign policy certainly did not manage to produce a unified
coherent approach towards Vietnam. Churchill and Mountbatten 
both followed their own autonomous policies detached from the War
Cabinet and the Foreign Office; whilst Killearn and MacDonald’s
regional co-ordination was more dynamic and interactive than at times
London desired. Gracey has been subjected unfairly to long-standing
criticism for his actions. But it remained French paralysis and myopia
that determined the plight and subsequent legacy of their colonial 
rule in Vietnam. This led to greater US involvement and resulted in 
30 years of conflict for the Vietnamese people.
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